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As the cover of this document suggests, we have made a lot of progress
over the course of a very challenging fiscal year—and there is a lot more
progress to be made.

In last year’s annual report, I outlined a rigorous action plan designed to
address shareholder concerns, regain the confidence of the marketplace 
and restore Bombardier to prosperity. During the past 12 months, we have
demonstrated both the capability and the resolve required to execute that plan.

In short, we have done what we said we would do—we’ve made good
on our commitments.

Let’s examine the record. Year one of the action plan entailed strength-
ening Bombardier’s balance sheet and supplementing our working capital
by means of a recapitalization program and the divestitures of the recreational
products business and certain non-core assets. The outcome? A successful
equity offering yielded total proceeds of $1.2 billion—some $400 million or
50% more than originally anticipated. Liquidity was further enhanced by
the sale of our recreational products business, which was completed in
December 2003, for a total consideration of $960 million.

Successful divestitures, along with the sale of a significant portion of
Bombardier Capital’s business aircraft portfolio, boosted total proceeds
from our recapitalization initiative to some $2.5 billion. As well, we success-
fully renewed the Company’s short-term bank facilities in North America
and in Europe, confirming that key lenders have confidence in Bombardier.

Elsewhere, we have continued with the orderly winding down of portfolios
at Bombardier Capital, which is now tightly focused on two areas: inventory
financing and the interim financing of commercial aircraft, within clearly
defined limits on both the amount of capital that can be committed and the
number of aircraft. We also delivered on our commitment to switch from
program accounting to average cost accounting in Aerospace to facilitate
enhanced investor understanding of the Company’s financials. And in keep-
ing with our move to a simpler structure, Aerospace and Transportation
have assumed the responsibilities of the former Bombardier International 
unit, which essentially had accomplished its mission of helping estab-
lish beachheads in the emerging markets of Asia, Eastern Europe and 
Latin America. 

Together, these achievements represent a tremendous start to our plan.
They gave us some breathing space from a balance sheet perspective
and—just as importantly—they have resulted in a much more focused enter-
prise. In today’s intensely competitive global marketplace, focus is everything.

The focus of today’s Bombardier is planes and trains—period. We 
now are in a position to concentrate all our efforts and resources on main-
taining and enhancing Bombardier’s leadership positions in the global
aerospace and rail transportation industries.

Significant as they are, the recapitalization and refocusing initiatives enu-
merated above were just the beginning of a rigorous, ongoing action plan
that entails several more steps and many more months of commitment and
hard work before our rebuilding task will be complete. We have already
embarked on the second year of that plan, which involves a consolidation
of manufacturing operations at Bombardier Aerospace that has already
been launched, and a comprehensive restructuring plan at Bombardier
Transportation. This will improve the competitiveness of all our operations
by focusing resolutely on performance and the bottom line.

I wish to make clear, however, that the streamlining taking place at
Aerospace and Transportation is not about cost cutting per se. Rather, 
it’s about reinforcing the competitiveness of our core businesses in the 
context of fundamental changes to the environments in which they operate.

Aerospace
In the aerospace arena, manufacturers of commercial aircraft continue to face
the fallout from September 11, 2001, which is reflected in the general fragility
of the airline industry. But as creator of the regional jet—which is leading a
turnaround in the airline industry’s fortunes—Bombardier offers a sought-
after solution to carriers’ woes. Demand for regional jets, in fact, continues
to grow and Bombardier remains the market leader in this category.
Paradoxically, however, many airlines have limited access to the financial
resources they need to acquire new equipment. Under the circumstances,
I am particularly pleased to note that Bombardier achieved an increase in
its deliveries of regional aircraft for the latest year—a feat unmatched by the
competition. Going forward, we will be working to facilitate increased avail-
ability of outside sources of financing for commercial aircraft customers, in
order to capitalize on continuing strong demand for our market-leading
Bombardier CRJ product family.

In the fall of 2003, we announced a consolidation of our business aircraft
manufacturing operations. Final line activities and interior completions for the
Bombardier Learjet and Bombardier Challenger Series business aircraft
programs are being integrated at the Wichita, Kansas and Montréal, Québec
sites, respectively. The creation of these integrated manufacturing centres
will result in annual savings, starting with the first full year of operation.

With three new corporate jets being rolled out over the course of 2004—
and having already moved to streamline production—Bombardier Aerospace
is positioned to derive maximum benefit from an anticipated upturn in the
business aircraft segment.

Moreover, we are beginning to see concrete results from the intense
focus on costs and financial discipline that has been brought to bear across
the entire Aerospace group.
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Transportation
The global transportation industry has also been undergoing fundamental
changes due to factors such as deregulation, the emergence of private-
sector players and revamped policies and practices in the lynchpin 
European Union market. However, ongoing industry consolidation—in which
Bombardier has been a major participant—has not yet been reflected in the
elimination of excess production capacity. For instance, many of our own
European plants have been operating recently at less than 50% capacity.
Decisive action was called for. Subsequent to year end, we put new lead-
ership in place at Bombardier Transportation and announced a major
reorganization of its European manufacturing network, designed to elimi-
nate overcapacity, decrease costs and increase margins. The Transportation
group will reduce its global workforce by 6,600 positions, representing
18.5% of the total, over the next two years. Seven production sites in five
European countries are slated to be closed, and an industrial site improve-
ment program designed to increase operating efficiency will be introduced
at a number of other locations. Implementation of the restructuring plan
will take place in consultation with our workplace partners and in full 
compliance with laws and regulations in the various jurisdictions.

We have also revamped the Bombardier Transportation organizational
chart to simplify lines of responsibility, reduce administrative over-
heads and—most critically—improve accountability. As well, the group 
is pursuing a procurement initiative designed to wring more value from the
supply chain.

While regrettable, the site and workforce reductions are absolutely 
necessary to balance Bombardier Transportation’s industrial footprint with
projected market demand. I am confident that the restructuring plan will
enable the group to compete more aggressively in global passenger rail
markets. In fact, I am pleased to report that, in the final months of the fiscal
year, not only were we winning a goodly percentage of contracts up for
grabs, but we also stand to make acceptable margins on the new business.
This is the result of a more rigorous bid preparation process that factors in
ample consideration for contingencies.

Bombardier Capital
Things are unfolding according to plan at Bombardier Capital, which is on
track in terms of results and the winding down of portfolios. Our emphasis
here continues to be on the profitable and professional management of
continuing business and the steady reduction of discontinued activities.

Leveraging Bombardier’s strengths
Among Bombardier’s many strengths is the fact that we have superb 
product and services portfolios in rail transportation equipment, business jets
and regional aircraft alike, as well as strong global market positions on
which to build. 

The imperative now is to leverage these portfolios by honing our execu-
tion skills and becoming better project managers. This is particularly critical
in Transportation, where every contract is essentially a one-off project.
Simply put, our aim is to produce the best products at the best prices in both
core businesses—a combination that adds up to a superior value equation.

Improving our competitiveness and enhancing our profitability will give us
the financial wherewithal required to pursue the third year of our strategy—
capitalizing on the attractive opportunities for profitable growth that we 
are confident will come our way in the future, while maximizing value for
Bombardier shareholders.

To that end, we continue striving every day to make good on our commit-
ments. At today’s Bombardier, it’s about focus. It’s about resolve. It’s about
accountability—knowing where the buck stops.

Acknowledgements
It’s also about teamwork. In that respect, I would like to take this opportu-
nity to formally acknowledge several recent newcomers to our executive
ranks, as well as individuals who have taken on added responsibilities.
Pierre Alary, formerly Vice President, Finance, for Bombardier, was named
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Moya Greene, a former sen-
ior vice president at Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce who also has
experience in the upper echelons of the Canadian federal public service,
joined Bombardier as Senior Vice President, Operational Effectiveness.
André Navarri, whose credentials include three years as president of the
Alstom Group’s transportation arm, was appointed President of Bombardier
Transportation, effective February 22, 2004. Wolfgang Toelsner, formerly
head of Bombardier Transportation’s Locomotives and Freight division, was
named Chief Operating Officer of the Transportation group. Together, they
bring a wealth of talent and experience that further enhances our team’s 
ability to get the job done.

I also wish to thank employees throughout the Company for their commit-
ment and hard work. I understand it is particularly tough for people who are
part of an organization that has enjoyed so much success in the past to
adapt to changed circumstances. However, I’m confident that the resiliency
for which our people are known—and which helped Bombardier overcome
earlier obstacles to becoming a global powerhouse—will enable us to 
successfully meet the current challenges. Your efforts are appreciated.

As well, I wish to reiterate my appreciation for the continuing support of the
majority shareholder. Our Executive Chairman of the Board, Laurent Beaudoin,
and the Bombardier family have stood squarely behind our efforts, not only
regarding the sale of the heritage recreational products asset, but in terms
of the entire action plan. Finally, it would be remiss of me not to thank the
Board of Directors for its support.

Priorities for fiscal 2005 
As fiscal year 2005 continues to unfold, we will press ahead with implemen-
tation of the restructuring and streamlining at Bombardier Transportation—
focusing on costs, productivity, improving the procurement chain and fur-
ther refining the bid process. As well, we will be looking to further increase
our share of the value-added services segment. Going forward, we also will
be working with customers, suppliers and industry partners to bring about
increased standardization in transportation solutions.

At Bombardier Aerospace, we will continue to focus on improving our
competitiveness in order to leverage our leadership positions in regional
and business aircraft. Other priorities include facilitating export financing
for commercial aircraft sales and, in the longer term, supporting the propo-
sition that Canada adopt a comprehensive new aerospace policy that would
address R&D and manufacturing as well as sales financing issues, thereby
putting Canadian players on more of a level playing field with foreign com-
petitors. We have also established a multidisciplinary task force to examine
the feasibility of developing a larger, new-generation commercial aircraft.

As I stated at the beginning of this letter, there is a lot more progress to
be made. However, I can assure you that team members are united in their
resolve to successfully implement the remaining steps of the action plan.
Together, we will continue making good on our commitments.

PAUL M. TELLIER
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Signed by
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A year ago, in my message to shareholders, I expressed confidence in our
then recently appointed President and Chief Executive Officer, Paul Tellier.
I am pleased to observe that, over the intervening months, my assess-
ment of his leadership abilities has proven to be more than justified—
as demonstrated by the successful recapitalization and restructuring of 
the organization, and the ongoing action plan to restore earnings power 
and shareholder value.

I should note as well, that my confidence in Mr. Tellier is evidently shared
by his peers, who recently selected him as Canada’s most respected CEO
for the second year running.

Bringing in new leadership was critical to getting Bombardier back on
track, but that was just the first step. Over the course of fiscal year 2004, we
have seen the successful culmination of a $2.5-billion recapitalization 
program, a refocusing of the Company’s activities around two core busi-
nesses—aerospace and transportation—and the introduction of tough new
measures designed to enhance the competitiveness of all our operations.

Governance, another top priority
We also have been busy building on Bombardier’s solid track record in the
crucial area of corporate governance. Our approach to corporate governance
has always been to ensure that the Company’s affairs are effectively man-
aged to enhance value for all shareholders. However, in the context of the
broader public debate swirling around governance issues, I committed at
the outset of the fiscal year to overseeing a major review of the structure and
responsibilities of our Board of Directors. That review resulted in a number
of initiatives designed to further strengthen Bombardier’s governance prac-
tices, while ensuring the Company’s ability to comply with sweeping changes
to reporting and regulatory requirements. 

Details of these initiatives, which took effect at the time of the annual
general meeting in June 2003, can be found in the Corporate Governance
section of this report. However, in keeping with my commitments of a 
year ago, I would like to briefly review some of the key changes that have
been enacted. 

The executive committee of the Board has been disbanded and the four
Board committees are: the Audit Committee; the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee; the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee; and the Retirement Pension Oversight Committee. All these 
committees are comprised exclusively of highly-qualified, independent 
(non-related) directors. We also have reviewed the mandate of the Board,
as well as my mandate and that of the President and CEO.

On my recommendation, the Board has appointed a Lead Director—
which further ensures that the Board is totally independent of management.
The role of Lead Director has been ably assumed by James E. Perrella,

retired chairman and CEO of the Ingersoll-Rand Company, who has been
a Bombardier director since 1999. At their discretion, either prior to or after
each regular Board meeting, independent directors meet under the chair-
manship of Mr. Perrella, who brings any questions, comments or suggestions
from the independent directors to the attention of the Executive Chairman
and/or the President and CEO. The Lead Director also chairs the pivotal
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. 

Continuous, systematic evaluation of all aspects of governance is an 
integral part of our approach. For instance, one of my primary responsi-
bilities—as stipulated in the mandate of the Executive Chairman—is to
ensure the quality and continuity of the Bombardier Board. This entails
meeting with the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee to
review the collective performance and the mandates of the Board, as well
as that of the Board committees, committee chairs and individual Board
members. Our discussions also involve potential director candidates and
nominations for Board membership.

Special committee scrutinized asset sale
The divestiture of the recreational products business provided us with an ideal
opportunity to put our approach to corporate governance into practice.

As soon as family members expressed an interest in being a party to the
group of buyers, in order to ensure the stability and continuity of the recre-
ational products business, appropriate steps were taken to make certain 
that the rights of all shareholders were fully protected through a process that
reflected the highest standards of governance. 

As a member of the family, I wish to emphasize that the entire sale process
was scrutinized by an independent committee of the Board. A former auditor
general of Canada, L. Denis Desautels, chaired the committee.

The Board received favourable fairness opinions from its own financial
advisor, UBS, and from Morgan Stanley, financial advisor to the inde-
pendent committee. As well, directors who are members of the Bombardier
family—including the undersigned—abstained from participating in 
Board meetings at which the sale was considered and did not vote on 
the transaction.

Ensuring compliance with new regulations
In recent months, Bombardier has been pressing ahead with other 
important, governance-related measures. In January 2004, for example, we
appointed a corporate Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer’s 
responsibilities include assisting the Board in ensuring full adherence 
to applicable laws and regulations, as well as strict compliance with
Bombardier’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, which was reviewed
and updated during the year.
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In addition, even more rigorous internal processes will enable the Board 
to cope with the significantly increased oversight responsibilities stem-
ming from new Canadian and U.S. regulations. The new Canadian
legislation requires the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer to sign and 
file a certification form with securities regulators for each interim and 
annual report—a process similar to that required under the U.S. Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.

Enduring values
Like good governance, innovation and entrepreneurship are Bombardier
hallmarks. That explains how Bombardier Aerospace has managed to design
and bring to market 15 new aircraft in the space of 15 years—more than 
the other two leading commercial aircraft makers combined. The fact that 
we recently delivered our 1,000th Bombardier CRJ aircraft—a feat accom-
plished by only seven other commercial airliners in the 100-year history 
of flight—further underscores our strengths in that regard. So do state-of-
the-art solutions such as the “brains on trains” technologies being 
pioneered these days at Bombardier Transportation.

I am confident that those enduring cultural values—the entrepreneurial
vision and passion for innovation that drove us to revolutionize air travel
with the Bombardier CRJ aircraft—will keep us on the leading edge of future
advances in aerospace and rail transportation. In fact, we are evaluating the
possibility of developing a new-generation commercial airliner that would take
air passenger travel to the next level. A multidisciplinary team was put
together in March 2004 to evaluate such a program and will report back
within 12 months.

While product development will continue to figure prominently in
Bombardier’s future, I should point out that innovation encompasses more
than new products—a lot more. It’s also about enhancing the quality, 
reliability and cost competitiveness of existing products to offer cus-
tomers an even more compelling value equation. It’s about developing

and disseminating best practices. It’s about finding ways to improve cus-
tomer service. It’s about working smarter—precisely the sort of ingenuity we
require to maintain our positive momentum and put Bombardier 
back on a solid footing. 

Acknowledgements 
Yet another constant at Bombardier is the quality of our people. On behalf
of the entire Board, I would like to thank employees for their loyalty and 
dedication in these very challenging times. 

I also wish to thank my fellow Board members for their hard work and valu-
able counsel during a year marked by a major transformation at Bombardier.
Special thanks are owed to André Desmarais, who is leaving the Board
after nearly 20 years of service. In fact, Mr. Desmarais has been a Bombardier
director since 1985 and has contributed much to our success over the years.
As well, I would like to take this opportunity to formally welcome two individ-
uals who joined the Board over the course of the past fiscal year, Michael
H. McCain and Federico Sada G. Mr. McCain is President and CEO of Maple
Leaf Foods Inc. and Mr. Sada G. is President and CEO of glass manufacturer
Vitro, S.A. de C.V. 

Finally, I wish to express the Board’s appreciation to Paul Tellier and his
team for the excellent progress made to date—and for the tenacity they are
demonstrating in pursuing the remaining phases of the action plan.

A year or so ago, when we took the first steps to restore the competi-
tiveness of the Company, no one said it was going to be easy. And we’re
not there yet. There is much more work to be done.

But with the decisive actions of the past year, we have clearly demon-
strated that Bombardier still has what it takes. In the process, I sense that
we have also begun to rekindle the spirit and vision that helped make this
organization great.

We’re on our way!

LAURENT BEAUDOIN, FCA
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Signed by
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Sound corporate governance has been fundamental to Bombardier’s suc-
cess over the years. Consistent with that tradition—and in the context of a
broader public debate around corporate governance issues, as well as
major changes to securities regulations—Bombardier undertook, in the first
half of 2003, a comprehensive review of the structure and responsibilities
of the Board of Directors. That review prompted a number of changes 
designed to further enhance the Corporation’s governance structure.

Among the latest reflections of this proactive approach to governance 
was the January 2004 appointment of a corporate Compliance Officer 
to assist the Board in ensuring full adherence to applicable laws and regu-
lations and strict compliance with Bombardier’s Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, which was reviewed
and updated during the year—along with a new complaint reporting program
designed to encourage employees and other stakeholders to step forward
and report any concerns or complaints—are on schedule for introduction
in fiscal year 2005.

Pension oversight and asset management
In June 2002, the Corporation created the Retirement Pension Oversight
Committee, which was given the mandate to oversee, review and monitor
investment of the assets of the Corporation’s pension plans and related
matters. As well, the team responsible for providing management services
to the Corporation’s pension plans and pension committees with respect to
plan assets now reports directly to the Senior Vice President and Treasurer.
This change was made with a view to enhancing controls and realizing 
synergies with other treasury-related functions.

Finally, the Investment Policy that defines the permissible asset mix of 
the various plans has been revised with the aim of reducing the volatility 
of returns. To that end, the portion of assets to be invested in stocks has
been reduced. 

Ensuring compliance with new securities regulations
Another priority during the past year was the launch by the corporate finance
function, in collaboration with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors,
of a global finance transformation initiative designed to ensure full compli-
ance with new Canadian securities regulations. 

The regulations, which came into effect as of March 30, 2004, include 
new requirements with respect to continuous disclosure obligations, audit
committees’ responsibilities and certification by the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer of annual and interim filings. Ultimately, this
process will be closely aligned with that required under the U.S. Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.

The new regulations regarding audit committees oblige Canadian public
companies to have audit committees comprised of independent directors
who are financially literate. Issuers will have to include a description of the
relevant education and experience of each member of the committee in their
annual information forms. As well, audit committees must have a written man-
date setting forth certain prescribed responsibilities. Although the Corporation
has until July 5, 2005 to comply with these particular changes, the existing
charter of the Audit Committee of Bombardier’s Board of Directors is already
in compliance.

Bombardier meets—and in some instances exceeds—the new Canadian
securities regulations, as well as the corporate governance guidelines of the
Toronto Stock Exchange.

Accounting treatment of stock options
In keeping with current best governance practices, the Corporation has
opted to expense stock options granted to key employees and directors.
This change took effect as of February 1, 2004 and reflects all options
granted during the course of the fiscal year.

Clearly-delineated governance roles
During fiscal year 2004, the mandates and roles of the Board of Directors
and its committees, the Executive Chairman and the President and Chief
Executive Officer have all been reviewed and clearly delineated, as sum-
marized below.

Board of Directors
As part of its stewardship responsibility, the Board of Directors advises
management on significant business issues and is responsible for approving
Bombardier’s strategy and monitoring:
• financial matters and internal controls;
• pension fund matters;
• environmental, safety and security matters; and
• corporate governance issues. 
The Board also assesses succession planning and the compensation policy.

Four committees of Bombardier’s Board of Directors—comprised exclu-
sively of reputable, qualified and independent (non-related) directors—help
ensure adherence to the very highest standards of corporate governance.

In addition, in June 2003, a formal structure was implemented to enable
the Board of Directors to function independently of management. Prior 
to or after each regular meeting of the Board, the directors who are not part
of management meet under the chairmanship of James E. Perrella in his
capacity as Lead Director.

CORPORATE
governance
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Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee has the mandate of assisting the Board of Directors
in monitoring the financial reporting and disclosure process. All members of
the committee are financially literate and at least one member, L. Denis
Desautels, has accounting or related financial expertise.
Chair: L. Denis Desautels 
Members: Daniel Johnson, Michael H. McCain, Jalynn H. Bennett, James E. Perrella

Human Resources and Compensation Committee
The Human Resources and Compensation Committee monitors the com-
pensation policy of the Corporation and assesses the performance of 
the Corporation’s senior officers and determines their compensation. The
committee also reviews, reports and, where appropriate, provides recom-
mendations to the Board of Directors on succession planning matters.
Chair: Jean C. Monty 
Members: André Desmarais, James E. Perrella

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee monitors the evo-
lution of corporate governance principles, including the Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct. The Executive Chairman of the Board, in consultation
with the committee, identifies potential candidates as directors, examines
such candidacies and makes recommendations to the Board accordingly.
The committee also reviews the performance of the Board, of its commit-
tees and their respective members, and periodically reviews the size and
composition of the Board, the compensation of directors in light of market
conditions and practices, as well as risks and responsibilities. The com-
mittee’s mandate also includes making recommendations regarding share
ownership guidelines for directors.
Chair: James E. Perrella 
Members: Daniel Johnson, Jean C. Monty

Retirement Pension Oversight Committee
The primary responsibility of the Retirement Pension Oversight Committee is
to oversee, review and monitor the investment of the assets of Bombardier’s
pension plans, as well as related matters, and report to the Board of 
Directors thereon.
Chair: Jalynn H. Bennett 
Members: Daniel Johnson, L. Denis Desautels

Executive Chairman 
The role of the Executive Chairman is to ensure that the Board of Directors
carries out its responsibilities effectively and clearly understands and
respects the boundaries between the Board of Directors’ and manage-
ment’s responsibilities.
The Executive Chairman’s responsibilities include:
• providing leadership to enhance the Board of Directors’ effectiveness;
• managing the Board of Directors and setting the agenda in consultation with
the President and CEO;

• ensuring the quality and continuity of the Board of Directors;
• acting as liaison between the Board of Directors and management and 
representing Bombardier to external groups;

• ensuring the continuing development of good corporate governance 
practices; and

• reviewing corporate transactions and overseeing the decision-making
process in terms of acquisitions, divestitures and financings, in consultation
with the President and CEO.

President and Chief Executive Officer
The President and CEO is responsible for the management of Bombardier’s
strategic and operational agenda and for the execution of the Board of
Directors’ resolutions and policies.
The CEO’s specific responsibilities include:
• providing strategic orientation in the form of a strategic plan and a 
business plan;

• managing both Bombardier’s commercial and internal affairs, including: 
• assuming responsibility for day-to-day operations, including capital 
management and financial management;

• implementing decisions with respect to acquisitions, divestitures, 
financings and similar activities, subject to prior approval from the Board
of Directors and in consultation with the Executive Chairman;

• ensuring that Bombardier has effective disclosure controls and 
procedures and internal controls in place; and

• identifying, assessing and managing the risks involved in the course of
business; as well as

• overseeing corporate governance matters in consultation with the Executive
Chairman and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of
the Board of Directors.
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We have restructured the operations of Bombardier
Aerospace to enhance the group’s competitive-
ness and leadership position—and we are starting
to see the results.

Bombardier Aerospace is a world leader in the
design and manufacture of innovative aviation
products and services for the business, regional
and amphibious aircraft markets. With a legacy of
innovation consolidating over 250 years of aviation
history from four of the world’s original leading
aircraft manufacturers (Canadair, Short Brothers,
Learjet and de Havilland), Bombardier Aerospace
has launched an unparalleled 15 new aircraft
programs in the past 15 years. The group also
offers the Bombardier* Flexjet* fractional own-
ership program and the Bombardier* Skyjet*

aircraft charter program, as well as management
and technical services, aircraft maintenance and 
pilot training.

During fiscal year 2004, aggressive action was
taken to streamline operations, reduce costs and
increase productivity—positioning the group to
derive maximum benefit from continuing strong
demand for regional aircraft and an improving 
outlook for business aircraft.

The timely entry into service of the new
Bombardier* Challenger* 300 and Bombardier*

Learjet* 40 business jets, to be followed by the 
entry into service of the Bombardier Global 5000*

aircraft this fiscal year, have further enhanced the
most modern, comprehensive portfolio in business
aviation—just as more customers are entering 
or returning to the marketplace. This trio of new
business jets reflects a decision to continue
investing in new aircraft during the prolonged
market downturn, and attests to Bombardier’s
ongoing commitment to innovation and prod-
uct development. 

The group also reinforced its position as the lead-
ing designer and manufacturer of regional jets,
with the initial deliveries of the 86-passenger
Bombardier* CRJ900*, the first 70-plus-seat
regional aircraft on the market.

The implementation of widespread cost reduction
measures, the creation of integrated manufac-
turing centres for business aircraft, the re-opening
of collective agreements at the Toronto, Ontario
and Wichita, Kansas sites, and the outsourcing of 
certain information technology functions have 
all contributed to a leaner, more competitive
organization that is better able to respond to the
realities of a changing market environment.

In March 2003, the group announced plans to
reduce staffing at Aerospace facilities in Montréal,
Toronto and Belfast by a total of 3,000 people.
That process is now complete.

In October 2003, plans were unveiled for the
creation of integrated manufacturing centres for
Bombardier Learjet and Bombardier Challenger
Series business jets at the Wichita and Montréal
locations, respectively. Once fully operational, this
initiative will produce annual savings estimated 
at $33 million while further reducing headcount
by some 1,150. 

By combining final assembly and interior 
completion activities at the same sites, the new
manufacturing centres will significantly reduce 
production cycle times and inventory levels and
make it easier for customers to do business 
with Bombardier. 

Approximately 800 of the jobs impacted by the
streamlining of production are in Tucson, Arizona.
However, the Bombardier Business Aviation
Services Centre will continue to operate at the
site, adjacent to Tucson International Airport. 
In addition, Tucson has been selected as the 

location for the Western Bombardier Regional
Aircraft Service Centre, which will result in the 
creation of approximately 300 new jobs over a
three-year period. 

In January 2004, plans were announced to 
consolidate regional and business aircraft spare-
parts activities into a single logistics organization
designed to provide customers with substan-
tially improved service. The new organization will 
move to a single SAP**-based operating system 
and will establish new distribution warehouses in
Chicago and Frankfurt that will be operated by
world-renowned Caterpillar Logistics Services. 

The group’s commitment to innovation was
underscored in December 2003, with the delivery
of the milestone 1,000th Bombardier* CRJ* air-
craft. By the end of the fiscal year, on January 31,
2004, the delivery total had climbed to 1,046—
making the Bombardier CRJ, at that point, 
the sixth most successful commercial jetliner 
program ever. What began in the mid-1980s 
as a bold step into uncharted territory—there 
was no apparent market for a regional jet—
sparked a revolution in airline transportation that
continues today, as the regional jet spearheads 
a turnaround in the airline industry’s fortunes.

Despite the problems being experienced 
by the airline industry overall, the regional seg-
ment is growing—and profitable—and regional
jets continue to be crucial to the economic health
of the major airlines. Consider that between 
April 2000 and April 2003, regional jet seat
capacity in the U.S. grew by 97%. A reflection 
of the continuing positive momentum in that
regard was the conversion of options into a 
firm order for 32 50-seat Bombardier* CRJ200*

regional jets received in early March 2004, from
Delta Connection.

BOMBARDIER
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Bombardier’s family of 50-, 70- and 86-seat
Bombardier CRJ aircraft offers unparalleled 
commonality and flexibility in terms of training,
maintenance and crew scheduling that trans-
late into significantly lower operating costs 
and increased profit opportunities for carriers.
Moreover, with the market moving towards larger
regional aircraft, the fact that Bombardier was 
the first to have 70- and 86-seat models in serv-
ice represents a clear advantage. Seven out of
the world’s 10 largest commercial airlines operate
Bombardier CRJ200 and Bombardier* CRJ700*

regional airliners.
As of January 31, 2004, 143 of the larger

Bombardier CRJ700 and Bombardier CRJ900
aircraft were already flying. Two of the recent deliv-
eries were to Shandong Airlines—making the
Bombardier CRJ700 the first 70-seat regional jet
to become operational in China or, indeed, any-
where in the Asia-Pacific region. The Corporation
is confident that demand for its market-leading
family of regional jets will continue for years 
to come.

There also is significant market interest in the
new-generation Bombardier* Q400* turboprop.
The 70-seater offers all the comfort characteristics
of a jet, combined with the lowest seat-mile costs
of any regional aircraft operating today. U.K.-
based FlyBE. ordered 17 additional Bombardier
Q400 aircraft during the last fiscal year and Japan-
based All Nippon Airways added two more to its
fleet. Meanwhile, Australia’s Qantas signed for six
50-passenger Bombardier* Q300* turboprops
and, subsequent to year end, converted an option
into a seventh firm order.

Other noteworthy achievements at Aerospace
during the year under review included: the suc-
cessful first flight of the Bombardier Global 5000,

which received full type approval from Transport
Canada on March 12, 2004 and is scheduled to
enter service during the fourth quarter of this year;
delivery of the 600th Bombardier Challenger 
business jet in October 2003; delivery of the first
Bombardier Challenger 300 aircraft on December
23, 2003; and on January 21, 2004, delivery of the
first Bombardier Learjet 40 business jet. Another
positive development was the government of Italy’s
purchase of three more Bombardier* 415* amphi-
bious aircraft.

Moreover, the group will be adding 17 new
Challenger 300 aircraft to the Bombardier 
Flexjet fleet over the next few months. As of late
March 2004, the four Bombardier Challenger 300
in the Bombardier Flexjet fleet had flown more
than 900 hours, while the Learjet 40 in the fleet
had flown more than 200 hours. Bombardier
recently partnered with the Delta AirElite** private
jet membership program to make its Flexjet frac-
tional ownership program even more accessible.
As well, the Bombardier Skyjet charter program
has been extended to Europe, enabling customers
to enjoy the many benefits of private air travel at
an affordable price.

Over the next 12 months, Bombardier will also
be studying the feasibility of proceeding with the
development of a new-generation commercial 
aircraft. Gary R. Scott, a long-time senior executive
at The Boeing Company, has been appointed
President, New Commercial Aircraft Program, 
with the responsibility for leading a multidiscipli-
nary task force that will thoroughly evaluate the
potential of such a program.

As you might expect from the Corporation 
that revolutionized regional air travel with the 
Bombardier CRJ, the aim is to develop a truly ad-
vanced new commercial aircraft that would offer

customers significant advantages over anything
available from the competition in terms of opera-
tional efficiencies. There would have to be a clear
market for such an aircraft and a strong business
case for such a project from Bombardier’s per-
spective before any decision to proceed is made.

While having achieved increased deliveries of
both business and regional aircraft despite the
challenging market conditions of fiscal year 2004,
there are still significant challenges ahead. One
of the issues Bombardier Aerospace will continue
to address is the necessity to ensure the avail-
ability of financing for regional aircraft. This remains
a crucial consideration given the financial con-
straints carriers face. In addition, the group will
continue to build a more responsive, customer-
focused organization, providing exceptional
service to support its innovative products—the
new spare parts initiative reflects this commit-
ment—while concurrently reducing costs to
increase its competitiveness.

* Trademark(s) of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries.
** SAP is a trademark of SAP AG.
** Delta AirElite is a trademark of Delta Corporate Identity, Inc.
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Bombardier Transportation is the acknowledged
global leader in the rail equipment, manufacturing
and servicing industry. Its wide range of products
includes passenger rail vehicles and total transit
systems. It also manufactures locomotives, freight
cars, propulsion and control systems and sig-
nalling equipment for a worldwide customer base.

Some tough decisions have been made in
recent months to ensure that the group’s market
leadership will be better reflected in its bottom-line
performance, through improved margins and
enhanced earnings power. There is a new senior
management team in place. The group has adopt-
ed a simplified organizational structure that will
facilitate improved accountability. And, subse-
quent to the fiscal year end, plans were unveiled
for a major restructuring that will include stream-
lining the underutilized European manufacturing
network, significantly reducing the global work-
force and refining the procurement and project
management processes.

With respect to leadership, André Navarri, widely
known and respected in the global transportation
industry, joined Bombardier Transportation as
group President effective February 22, 2004. 
Mr. Navarri’s demonstrated ability to formulate—
and successfully execute—a strategic plan com-
plements his strong project management skills
and keen appreciation for the importance of 
cost effectiveness. Wolfgang Toelsner, who pre-
viously headed the group’s Locomotives and
Freight division, was appointed Chief Operating
Officer—a role that formerly was part of the
president’s responsibilities.

The comprehensive restructuring initiative
announced March 17, 2004 was designed to
address excess capacity and drive performance
improvements. Sites identified for closure in 2004

are Amadora, Portugal; and Doncaster and Derby
Pride Park, United Kingdom. Closures of facilities
in Ammendorf, Germany; Kalmar, Sweden;
Pratteln, Switzerland; and Wakefield, United
Kingdom are envisioned for 2005. None of the
seven plants intended for closure has work 
scheduled beyond 2005. 

Five additional sites: in Crespin, France; Aachen
and Siegen, Germany; Bruges, Belgium; and
Crewe, United Kingdom, will be part of the initial
phase of a global site improvement program that
over time will be rolled out to all the group’s man-
ufacturing facilities. This program will focus on
trimming inventory levels, reducing production
overheads, enhancing manufacturing time esti-
mation processes and increasing efficiency with
regard to site configuration. 

The proposed European site closings and 
additional global workforce reductions wil l 
impact 6,600 positions and bring Bombardier
Transportation’s industrial footprint into better 
balance with projected market demand.

Earlier in the year, the Industrial division, which
had been responsible for the group’s manufacturing
network in Europe, was disbanded. Manufacturing
facilities have been integrated into the relevant 
divisions, enabling each one to have direct respon-
sibility not only for marketing, sales and engineering,
but also for production. 

Management is also targeting the group’s pro-
curement and supply chain as an area that offers
significant opportunities for cost savings and 
efficiency improvements, given that materials 
represent approximately 65% of Bombardier
Transportation’s cost base. A procurement 
integration initiative launched in early 2004 is 
aimed at rationalizing the number of suppliers,
increasing parts standardization and centralizing

negotiation processes to achieve economies of
scale wherever possible.

As part of the overall focus on margin improve-
ment, the group has adopted a more rigorous
“bid for results” approach to contract tendering.
This entails making certain that contingencies 
and risks are properly identified and adequately
accounted for in the price calculation. If a bid does
not meet strict margin criteria, it will be dropped.

The group is also striving for flawless execution
of contracts through tighter project management.
All contracts will be subject to ongoing scrutiny
that will include periodic reviews of the overall
project, regular adjustments to estimated costs
and enhanced claim management. As well, there
will be further training and empowerment of 
project managers.

Bombardier Transportation also is working to
make more use of common platforms and exist-
ing, proven technologies, an approach that stands
to benefit both the Corporation and the customer.
The group launched two new vehicle brands 
during the year—Bombardier* FLEXITY* for light 
rail vehicles and Bombardier* TRAXX* for loco-
motives. Both product families offer customers
significant platform synergies, including increased
standardization and modularization, savings on
capital costs, on life-cycle costs and on spares.
Bombardier* Talent* and AGC continue to be
among the most successful regional train 
product families.

Together, such initiatives will lead to reduced
overheads, increased competitiveness and an
enhanced capability to deliver on commitments to
customers. The result will be a revamped group,
better suited to a market environment that has
been experiencing rapid change under the influ-
ences of increased liberalization, closer scrutiny of

BOMBARDIER
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spending by public agencies and continued
growth of the services sector.

Meanwhile, Bombardier Transportation has
maintained its commitment to the development
of new technologies that will provide customers
with added value in terms of lower operating costs
and improved asset utilization. For instance, at the
55th International Association of Public Transport
(UITP) World Congress in Madrid in May 2003,
the group unveiled its new Fully Integrated
Composite Assembly System (Bombardier*

FICAS*) technology. The FICAS technology uti-
lizes thin, modularized “sandwich” materials and
composite assembly techniques that enable
design engineers to reduce the thickness of a
vehicle sidewall by some 75%. The benefits
include more inner space, which translates into
higher capacity—up to 10% more passengers for
a given exterior vehicle dimension—and lower
vehicle weight, hence less energy consumption.
An advanced version of Bombardier’s proven 
C20 Stockholm Metro vehicle, incorporating
FICAS technology, entered commercial service
later in 2003. 

Then there’s the Bombardier* Mitrac* energy-
saving solution, based on high-performance dou-
ble-layer capacitors, which can reduce the energy
consumption of a light rail system by up to 30%.
With the Mitrac energy saver solution, Bombardier
Transportation engineers overcame the chal-
lenge of incorporating an energy recycling system
into a low-floor light rail system. 

The group also has pioneered the first com-
mercial applications of the state-of-the-art Level 2
European Rail Traffic Management System 
(ERTMS), which established a punctuality record
of close to 100% during a pilot project in Switzer-
land. The new ERTMS standard will considerably

boost the efficiency of European rail traffic sys-
tems by easing cross-border traffic, leading to
increased capacities, higher speeds and lower
operating costs.

Bombardier Transportation booked new orders
worth a total of $15.7 billion in fiscal year 2004.
Significant new contracts reflected both the
breadth of the group’s portfolio and its worldwide
geographic reach. Included were a $729-million
contract for a fully automated rapid transit sys-
tem in Taipei; an order from Deutsche Bahn for
233 double-deck cars valued at $495 million; an
order from Austrian Railways (ÖBB) for 240 elec-
trical multiple unit cars valued at $248 million; a
$191-million order from the Brussels Transport
Authority (STIB) for 46 trams plus overhaul serv-
ices; a $170-million order from Italian State
Railways (Trenitalia) for 48 electric passenger  loco-
motives; an order from Swiss Federal Railways
(SBB) for 18 multi-system freight locomotives 
valued at $103 million; and a $40-million order
from the Ministry of Railways of the People’s
Republic of China for 38 high-grade intercity 
passenger cars. 

Noteworthy contract wins on the services side
included long-term vehicle maintenance agree-
ments with the Massachusetts Bay Transportation
Authority and the Southern California Regional
Railway Authority in the United States. In February
2004, subsequent to fiscal year end, a consortium
comprised of Bombardier Transportation and
Patentes Talgo was selected by Spanish National
Railways (RENFE) to maintain its fleet of 16 
AVE** S 102 very high-speed trains for a period of 
14 years. Bombardier’s share of that contract 
is valued at approximately $208 million. Work 
also got underway during fiscal year 2004 on the 
early stages of the massive London Underground

project. As a partner in the Metronet consortia
and a turnkey supplier to the project, Bombardier
Transportation’s portion of the work is worth some
£3.4 billion or $7.9 billion over 15 years. The sheer
magnitude of the London project—and its vital
importance to the future of urban transport in one
of the world’s great cities—further underscores
the group’s leadership role and the confidence it
has earned in the global marketplace.

Outlook
Forecasters expect the worldwide accessible rail
market to continue growing by 3-5% annually over
the next five years. Moreover, the services and
total transit systems markets—which are among
Bombardier Transportation’s strengths—are
expected to outstrip that pace. With the major
restructuring now being implemented, the group
will be even better positioned to capitalize on
attractive long-term growth prospects.

A relentless focus on costs, productivity and
improved project management should translate
into enhanced earnings power, as Bombardier
Transportation forges ahead with delivery of its
$31.4-billion year-end backlog while pursuing 
profitable new business.

* Trademarks(s) of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries.
** AVE is a trademark of RENFE.
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Bombardier prides itself on its reputation as a
responsible corporate citizen and a force for 
positive change in society.

The Corporation realizes that operating in a
socially responsible, sustainable manner is cru-
cial to the long-term well-being of the organization,
its stakeholders and, of course, society at large.
Consequently, it strives to achieve continuous
improvement with regard to all three essential 
elements of sustainability—economic, social and
environmental. Bombardier has always been a
preferred employer, providing healthy and safe
workplaces and leaving the legacy of a sound 
natural environment to future generations.

Enhanced sustainability helps to secure 
quality jobs and economic spin-offs
From an economic perspective, the Corporation
is working harder than ever these days to make
the very best use of the resources—people, plants,
processes and raw materials—that go into its 
innovative products and services. Further enhance-
ment of the sustainability and competitiveness of
Bombardier’s operations contributes to producing
planes and trains that represent exceptional value
for customers in terms of purchase price, oper-
ating economics and total life-cycle costs, while
delivering superior returns to shareholders. The
Corporation also provides the sort of high-quality,
rewarding jobs that enable it to attract and retain
top-rated employees—and continues to make 
positive contributions to the broader economic 
and social fabric.

Giving something back to communities
From a social perspective, Bombardier makes a
point of giving something back to the many
towns and cities around the world where it has

a presence—communities large and small that
employees and their families call home.

In Canada,  the J.  Armand Bombardier
Foundation has long been a driving force in that
regard. The Foundation was created in 1965 
by the family of Bombardier’s founder to carry 
on the humanitarian work he had begun. The
Foundation focuses primarily on the areas of arts
and culture, education, health and social serv-
ices. The Foundation also continues to support the
activities of the J. Armand Bombardier Museum
and the Yvonne L. Bombardier Cultural Centre,
both located in Valcourt, Québec, birthplace of
the Corporation’s founder.

During fiscal year 2004, the Foundation pro-
vided close to $8 million of financial support 
for a variety of worthwhile recipients throughout
Québec and Canada. Included were funding 
for academic chairs and capital campaigns at
leading Canadian universities, financial contri-
butions to health-care research and hospitals, and
support, among others, for underprivileged fami-
lies, abused women, and for social reintegration
in major urban areas.

Many of the Foundation’s donations involve
multi-year commitments of large sums, which
enable recipients to proceed with capital projects
or the establishment of academic chairs that
require an assured source of funding over an
extended period. The support to the Fondation
de l’Université du Québec à Montréal for the 
creation of a preparatory centre for studies abroad
is one example of many such undertakings.
Recent beneficiaries of the Foundation’s support
in the health-care area include the Fondation
québécoise du cancer, the Douglas Hospital
Foundation, the Notre-Dame de la Merci health
centre’s foundation, the Fondation de la recherche

sur les maladies infantiles, all in Québec, and the
St. Joseph’s Foundation of Thunder Bay, Ontario,
to name just a few. 

Major charities also continue to benefit from
the generosity of Bombardier and Bombardier
people. In Montréal, the Foundation contributed 
to Father Emmett Johns’ organization, Le Bon Dieu
dans la rue, which supports youth homeless-
ness and youth at risk. Furthermore, employees,
together with the Foundation and the Bombardier
family, contributed $1.3 million to the annual
Centraide Campaign. It was a similar story at
many other Bombardier sites, as the Corporation
and its employees teamed up to lend a hand to
the less fortunate.

Indeed, Bombardier’s philanthropic activities
are by no means limited to the Foundation. The
Corporation itself, the respective business groups
and individual sites around the globe are involved
in a myriad of activities to support education, arts
and culture and community involvement. In Toronto
for instance, Bombardier Aerospace made its 
suburban Downsview site available as the venue
for a Rolling Stones concert that was staged to
help revitalize the city’s economy—particularly
tourism—in the wake of the SARS epidemic. The
event attracted some 450,000 rock ’n’ roll buffs
from across North America. Other less high-profile,
but equally worthwhile community endeavours
included Bombardier Capital’s ongoing support
of a daycare centre for the children of low-income
families in Jacksonville, Florida; Bombardier
Transportation’s support of the Technology
Challenge in Maryborough, Australia, which
involved teams of secondary school stu-
dents designing, building, testing and racing 
CO2-powered vehicles; children’s workshops 
sponsored by the Bombardier Aerospace

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
and sustainability
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Foundation in Northern Ireland as part of the
Centennial of Flight Celebrations in Belfast; and a
wildly successful exhibition of historical locomo-
tives organized by employees at Crewe facilities in
the United Kingdom, which attracted 30,000 vis-
itors and raised in excess of £60,000 ($145,000)
for local charities.

Closer to home base, Les Grands Ballets
Canadiens de Montréal, the Montréal Science
Centre and the Orchestre symphonique de Montréal
received financial support from Bombardier, as
did the Toronto Symphony Orchestra. A corporate
donation—matched by the Foundation—also was
made to help restore landmark Point Pleasant
Park in Halifax, Canada, which was devastated
by hurricane Juan in September 2003.

Integrated approach to health, 
safety and the environment
A 60% reduction in the accident frequency rate

over the past five years underscores the impact 
of Bombardier’s unrelenting commitment to contin-
uous improvement in occupational health and
safety. Over the past year alone, the Corporation
succeeded in reducing the frequency case rate
by a further 22%, from 3.2 to 2.5 accidents per
200,000 work hours. The objective is to ratchet
the rate down to 0.5 by the end of fiscal year 2006.

Bombardier’s combined Health, Safety and
Environment Policy was rolled out across the
organization during the course of fiscal year 2004.
Further progress was made, as well, in the drive
to have all operations certified to internationally
recognized Occupational Health and Safety
Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001 standards.
At year’s end, 42% of Bombardier sites had 
completed the process.

From an environmental perspective, Bombardier’s
commitment to a greener world starts with key
products—public transit vehicles, commuter and

intercity trains, business and regional aircraft, 
all designed to move people faster and more effi-
ciently, uti l ize less energy and help relieve
congestion on city thoroughfares and major high-
ways. From product design and performance
through procurement and manufacturing activities,
environmental stewardship is a key consideration.
During the past year, this comprehensive approach
was reflected, for instance, in Bombardier
Transportation becoming a signatory to the Sus-
tainability Charter of the International Association
of Public Transport (UITP), as well as in initiatives
that achieved substantial reductions in both haz-
ardous wastes and greenhouse gas emissions at
the Bombardier Aerospace complex in Belfast. 

Finally, it should be noted that more than 90%
of Bombardier manufacturing sites are now certi-
fied to the ISO 14001 environmental standards
of the Geneva-based International Organization
for Standardization (ISO). 
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Bombardier’s stock performance
JANUARY 31, 2003 TO JANUARY 31, 2004

Market capitalization 
$10,480 million
(AS AT JANUARY 31, 20 04)

F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  JA N U A RY  3 1  
(MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS AND BACKLOG) 2004 2003
Revenues $21,321 $ 21,189
Income before special items and income taxes $ 439 $ 381
Income tax expense (recovery) $ 205 $ (221)
Net loss $ (89) $ (615)
Loss per share – basic $ (0.07) $ (0.47)
Dividend per common share

Class A 0.09 0.18
Class B 0.091563 0.181563

AS AT JANUARY 31 2004 2003
Total assets $ 25,569 $ 29,124
Shareholders’ equity $ 3,250 $ 2,741
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net $ 252 $ 633
Total backlog (BILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS) $ 45.9 $ 44.4
Book value per common share (CANADIAN DOLLARS) $ 1.55 $ 1.60
Number of common shares

Class A 342,018,248 342,020,138
Class B 1,407,566,670 1,035,666,780

Stock market price range
( IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 2004 2003
Class A

High $ 6.32 $ 15.67
Low $ 2.95 $ 3.19
Close $ 5.96 $ 5.34

Class B
High $ 6.28 $ 15.67
Low $ 2.56 $ 3.13
Close $ 5.99 $ 5.12

Financial highlights
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This MD&A includes “for ward-looking 
statements” that are subject to risks and
uncertainties. For information identifying
legislative or regulatory, economic, currency,
technological, competitive and other important
factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those anticipated in 
the forward-looking statements, see “Risks
and uncertainties.”

Highlights
Recapitalization program
- Net proceeds of $1.2 billion were generated
on April 17, 2003 from the issue of 370 million
Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting).

- Net proceeds of $740 million, net of cash 
disposed, were generated on December 18,
2003 from the sale of the recreational prod-
ucts segment, resulting in an after-tax gain
of $101 million.

- Net proceeds of $85 million US ($112 million)
were generated on October 31, 2003 from
the sale of Military Aviation Services (MAS),
resulting in a gain of $98 million.

- Net proceeds of £35 million ($78 million) were
generated on May 22, 2003 from the sale of
the Belfast City Airport (BCA), resulting in a
gain of $3 million.

- The wind-down portfolios were reduced 
by $3.0 billion, or 71%, during the current 

stock, signalling, maintenance and project
management for the modernization of the
London Underground.

- On May 12, 2003, Bombardier Aerospace
received an order from US Airways for the
delivery of 60 Bombardier* CRJ200* and
25 Bombardier* CRJ700* aircraft, for a total
value of approximately $2.2 billion US ($3.2 bil-
lion). The 85 firm orders include the transfer
of 36 Bombardier* CRJ* aircraft firm orders
held by GE Capital Aviation Services, for a
net backlog increase of 49 aircraft.

- On September 15, 2003, Bombardier Aero-
space received an order from SkyWest 
Airlines for 30 Bombardier CRJ700 aircraft,
for a total value of approximately $862 mil-
lion US ($1.2 billion).

Change of functional and reporting currencies
- Effective February 1, 2004, the Corporation
changed its functional currencies from the
Canadian dollar and the sterling pound to the
U.S. dollar for the Canadian and U.K. opera-
tions in the aerospace segment and from 
the Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso to 
the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and Mexican
operations in the transportation segment. 
In addition, effective the first quarter of fiscal
year 2005, the Corporation will change its
reporting currency to the U.S. dollar.

fiscal year. The reduction of these portfolios 
is proceeding as planned at Bombardier
Capital (BC).

Restructuring initiative
- On March 16, 2004, the Board of Directors
approved a restructuring initiative in the trans-
portation segment. The initiative proposes to
reduce the global workforce of Bombardier
Transportation by approximately 6,600 posi-
tions and contemplates the closure of seven
production sites in five European countries.
The restructuring initiative also contemplates
operational efficiency measures at five other
European locations and other cost reduction
programs. The Corporation is also targeting
procurement and supplier base as areas offer-
ing significant opportunities for cost savings
and efficiency improvements.

- The total costs of the restructuring initiative
are estimated at $777 million, $457 million
of which was recorded during the fourth quar-
ter of fiscal year 2004, with the remainder to
be recorded in fiscal years 2005 and 2006.

Major orders in fiscal year 2004
- On April 4, 2003, Bombardier Transportation
signed contracts amounting to approximately
£3.4 billion ($7.9 billion) as part of the Metronet
consortia for the supply, over 15 years, of rolling

Management’s discussion and analysis
A L L  A M O U N T S  I N  T H I S  R E P O R T  A R E  I N  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S  A N D  T A B U L A R  F I G U R E S  
A R E  I N  M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ,  U N L E S S  O T H E R W I S E  I N D I C A T E D .

Overview
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) has been prepared to provide a meaningful understanding of the Corporation’s 
operations, performance and financial condition for the year ended January 31, 2004. The MD&A is presented in the following sections:

LIQUIDITY AND  OFF-BALANCE 

OVERVIEW SEGMENTS CAPITAL RESOURCES SHEET ARRANGEMENTS OTHER

40 Highlights 46 Bombardier 67 Financial 72 Financial 75 Pension 
Aerospace position arrangements

41 Basis of presentation 55 Bombardier 67 Cash flows 73 Derivative 76 Environment
Transportation instruments 

41 Effect of currency 63 Bombardier 69 Capital 73 Financing 76 Risks and uncertainties
fluctuations Capital resources commitments

42 Effect of change in 70 Liquidity 74 Commitments and 78 Critical accounting 
reporting currency contingencies estimates 

42 Selected annual information 72 Credit support 80 Accounting and
reporting developments

43 Analysis of results 72 Credit events 81 Share data
81 Quarterly information
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Basis of presentation
The consolidated operations of the Corporation
are referred to hereafter as the Corporation 
or Bombardier Inc., the manufacturing opera-
tions are referred to as Bombardier and the 
financial and real estate services as BC. This 
presentation has no impact on net income and
shareholders’ equity.

BC’s operations and financial position are
fundamentally different from those of the
manufacturing segments. As such, the capital
markets use different performance indicators
from those used for the manufacturing oper-
ations to analyze and measure these two
distinct businesses. The following discussion
and analysis segregates these two types of
businesses to better highlight their respective
characteristics. The consolidated balance
sheets are unclassified.

The Summary of significant accounting poli-
cies accompanying the Consolidated Financial
Statements describes the significant account-
ing principles followed by the Corporation.

Effect of currency fluctuations
Fiscal year ended January 31, 2004
The Corporation is subject to currency fluc-
tuations from the translation of statement of
income items and of assets and liabilities 
of self-sustaining foreign operations using a
functional currency other than the Canadian
dollar, mainly the U.S. dollar, the euro and 
the sterling pound and from transactions in
foreign currencies, mainly the U.S. dollar. 

The year-end exchange rates used to translate assets and liabilities were as follows as 
at January 31:

Y E A R - E N D  R A T E S

I N C R E A S E  
2004 2003 ( D E C R E A S E )

U.S. dollar 1.3264 1.5290 (13%)
Euro 1.6520 1.6421 1%
Sterling pound 2.4156 2.5151 (4%)

The average exchange rates used for the years ended January 31 to translate statement of
income items were as follows:

A V E R A G E   E X C H A N G E  R A T E S

I N C R E A S E  
2004 2003 ( D E C R E A S E )

U.S. dollar 1.3812 1.5655 (12%)
Euro 1.5817 1.5018 5%
Sterling pound 2.2760 2.3751 (4%)

foreign exchange hedge contracts, in the 
aerospace segment, mitigated the negative
impact of the weakening of the U.S. dollar
compared to the Canadian dollar by approxi-
mately $250 million during fiscal year 2004.

The transportation segment primarily uses
western European and U.S. currencies as its
functional currencies. Under the Corporation’s
foreign exchange policy, foreign currency
denominated risks are hedged on a contract-
by-contract basis at the inception of the
respective contracts. Accordingly, contract 
margins are not expected to be significantly
affected by currency fluctuations, assuming
hedge effectiveness.

Future currency exposure
Effective February 1, 2004, the Corporation
changed its functional currencies from the
Canadian dollar and the sterling pound 
to the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and U.K.
operations in the aerospace segment, and
from the Canadian dollar and the Mexican 
peso to the U.S. dollar for the Canadian and 
Mexican operations in the transportation 
segment. The European operations of the
transportation segment continue to mainly 
use western European currencies as their 
functional currencies.

Effective the first quarter of fiscal year 2005,
the Corporation will also change its reporting
currency to the U.S. dollar. 

Translation of self-sustaining 
foreign operations
As a result of the fluctuation in the average
exchange rates shown above, revenues and
earnings before taxes (EBT) of the euro-
denominated foreign operations translated 
in Canadian dollars, mainly in the transpor-
tation segment, were positively impacted.
Revenues and EBT of the U.S. dollar- and
sterling-pound-denominated foreign operations
were negatively impacted.

The main impact of the year-end exchange
rate fluctuations on the financial position of
the Corporation as at January 31, 2004 was a
reduction of the U.S. dollar- and sterling pound-
denominated consolidated balance sheet
items. The effect of these translation adjust-
ments is included in the deferred translation
adjustment account in the consolidated 
statements of shareholders’ equity and has
no impact on net income.

Transactions in foreign currencies
In the aerospace segment, the Corporation uses
forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its currency exposure arising from anticipated
foreign currency cash flows, mainly the U.S.
dollar. The forward foreign exchange contracts
typically extend from one- to 24-month 
periods. Therefore, a significant portion of the
currency fluctuations will impact the results of
operations with a similar time lag. The forward



long-term contract inventories is not significant.
Accordingly, a one-time currency adjustment of
approximately $100 million US resulting from
this upward revaluation will be reflected on the
balance sheet as part of the deferred translation
adjustment account presented in the consoli-
dated statements of shareholders’ equity. The
increase in these opening asset values will be
expensed as inventories are consumed and
aerospace program tooling is depreciated.

The upward revaluation of program invento-
ries and program tooling is expected to result
in lower EBT of approximately $4 million US 
for the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 and 
$20 million US for fiscal year 2005.

Selected annual information
The Consolidated Financial Statements of
Bombardier Inc. are prepared in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (GAAP) and are expressed in Canadian
dollars. The recreational products segment’s
results are presented as discontinued opera-
tions. The following table provides selected
financial information for the last three fiscal years.
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The following provides a discussion of the
Corporation’s future exposure to currency
fluctuations arising from the translation of
self-sustaining foreign operations and from
transactions in foreign currencies after giving
effect to the above-mentioned changes.

Translation of self-sustaining 
foreign operations
As of February 1, 2004, the functional currency
for the operations in the aerospace segment
will be the U.S. dollar. Therefore, currency 
fluctuations arising from the translation of 
foreign operations in the aerospace segment
will no longer have an impact on the results of
operations and on balance sheet items. In the
transportation segment, the exposure to cur-
rency fluctuations arising from the translation
of most foreign operations will arise from the
change in the value of the western European
currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, rather
than to the Canadian dollar.

Transactions in foreign currencies
Revenues and most of the costs in the aero-
space segment and the Canadian operations
of the transportation segment are denom-
inated in U.S. dollars. However, certain costs,
mainly salaries and manufacturing overhead
costs, are denominated in Canadian dollars
and in sterling pounds and are subject to cur-
rency fluctuations. Under the Corporation’s
foreign exchange policy, a significant portion 
of these expected costs in foreign currencies
are hedged for periods of up to two years.

It is estimated that a 1% change in the value 
of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar 
in the aerospace segment would impact fiscal
year 2005 total costs by approximately $15 mil-
lion US before giving effect to forward foreign
exchange hedge contracts, and approximately
$3 million US after giving effect to the out-
standing forward foreign exchange hedge
contracts. The impact of these currency 

fluctuations on total costs does not have an
immediate equivalent impact on income, since
a significant portion of these costs are subject
to program average cost accounting or
included in aerospace program tooling and
depreciated over a number of years.

Effect of change in reporting currency
As a result of adopting the U.S. dollar as its
reporting currency, all assets and liabilities as
at February 1, 2004 will be translated from
Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars at the current
exchange rate at that date. Certain non-
monetary assets, mainly program inventories
and program tooling in the aerospace segment
and long-term contract inventories in the trans-
portation segment will be translated at higher
exchange rates than the ones in effect when
these assets were initially recognized on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Therefore, in the aerospace segment, open-
ing program inventories and program tooling
are approximately $35 million US and $65 mil-
lion US higher than historical amounts. In the
transportation segment, the effect on opening

( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ,  
E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S ) 2004 2003 2002
Revenues from continuing operations $ 21,321 $ 21,189 $ 19,863
Loss from continuing operations (195) (709) (66)
Net income (loss) (89) (615) 36
Earnings (loss) per share (0.07) (0.47) 0.01
Cash dividends declared per share:

Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) 0.09000 0.18000 0.18000
Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) 0.09156 0.18156 0.18156
Series 2 Preferred Shares 1.17128 1.19375 1.37500
Series 3 Preferred Shares 1.02675 0.68450 –
Series 4 Preferred Shares 1.17188 1.39876 –

Total assets – Bombardier 20,407 20,763 19,341
Total assets – BC 7,080 9,717 9,265
Financial liabilities:

Short-term borrowings – Bombardier – 381 1,342
Short-term borrowings – BC 308 2,183 1,695
Long-term debt – Bombardier 2,781 3,099 2,075
Long-term debt – BC 5,293 5,827 5,777
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Fiscal year 2004 results include special items
of $429 million, $457 million of which was
recorded in the transportation segment in con-
nection with a restructuring initiative (see the
transportation section in this MD&A). Fiscal
year 2003 results include special items of
$1.3 billion recorded in the aerospace segment,
mainly related to revisions of program esti-
mates as well as write-downs of inventories
and other related provisions (see the aerospace
section in this MD&A).

Analysis of results
This MD&A is based on reported earnings in
accordance with GAAP. It is also based on EBT
before the effect of special items, a non-GAAP
measure. Special items are viewed by Man-
agement as items that do not arise as part of the
normal day-to-day business operations or that
could potentially distort the analysis of trends.
These earnings measures do not have a stan-
dardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and are
therefore not readily comparable to similar
measures presented by other corporations.

On April 2, 2003, the Board of Directors 
of the Corporation approved the decision 
to sell the recreational products segment.
Accordingly, the results of operations, cash
flows and financial position of the recreational
products segment are reported as discon-
tinued operations. The results of operations of
the recreational products segment are
presented for all periods as a single line item
in the Corporation’s consolidated statements 
of income. 

the previous fiscal year (BC’s interest expense
is classified as cost of sales). The increase in
net interest expense results mainly from higher
interest expense on long-term debt. 

As a result, EBT before special items was
$439 million or 2.1% of revenues for the 
year ended January 31, 2004, compared to
$381 million or 1.8% the previous fiscal year.
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Consolidated revenues amounted to $21.3 billion
for the year ended January 31, 2004, compared
to $21.2 billion for the preceding fiscal year.
The increase is mainly due to higher revenues
in the transportation segment.

Cost of sales amounted to $18.3 billion or
85.8% of revenues for fiscal year 2004, 
compared to $18.1 billion or 85.4% of rev-
enues for the previous fiscal year. This increase
is mainly due to higher cost of sales in the
transportation segment, arising from the 
settlement of claims in connection with the
Acela** contracts and revisions of estimates
related to a limited number of contracts, 
partially offset by lower cost of sales in the
aerospace segment.

Operating expenses amounted to $1.6 bil-
l ion for f iscal year 2004, compared to
$1.7 billion for the previous fiscal year. This
decrease is due to lower operating expenses
in all segments.

Depreciation and amortization decreased to
$793 million for the year ended January 31,
2004, compared to $806 million for the year
ended January 31, 2003. This decrease is 
due to lower depreciation in the BC segment,
partially offset by higher depreciation in the
manufacturing segments.

Net interest expense increased to $236 million
for fiscal year 2004, compared to $216 million

The following table presents the results of operations for the years ended January 31:

2004 2003
Revenues $ 21,321 $21,189
Cost of sales 18,297 18,097
Operating expenses (1) 1,556 1,689
Depreciation and amortization 793 806
Interest expense, net 236 216
EBT before special items 439 381
Special items (429) (1,311)
EBT 10 (930)
Income tax expense (recovery) 205 (221)
Loss from continuing operations (195) (709)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 106 94
Net loss $ (89) $ (615)
(1) Includes selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses.
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The Corporation recorded an income tax
expense of $205 million for fiscal year 2004,
compared to an income tax recovery of
$221 million the previous fiscal year. The
income tax expense for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 2004 was higher than the expense
that would be recognized at the effective
income tax rate, mainly due to the non-
recognition of $123 million of income tax
benefits related to the restructuring initiative 
at Bombardier Transportation and an increase

Special items amounted to $429 million for the year ended January 31, 2004, compared to 
$1.3 billion for the year ended January 31, 2003. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of EBT before special items to EBT for the
years ended January 31:

2004 2003
EBT before special items $439 $ 381
Special items (1)

Aerospace (28) 1,311
Transportation 457 –

429 1,311
EBT $ 10 $ (930)
(1) The special items are discussed in the aerospace and transportation segments section of this MD&A.

in the valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets recorded for the U.S. operations in the
fourth quarter. The details of the components of
the income tax expense are provided in note 19
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For fiscal year 2004, loss from continuing
operations was $195 million, or $0.13 per
share, compared to a loss from continuing
operations of $709 million, or $0.54 per share,
for fiscal year 2003.
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Income from discontinued operations, net of
income taxes, totalled $106 million for the
period from February 1, 2003 to December 18,
2003, compared to income of $94 million for
fiscal year 2003. Income from discontinued
operations includes a $101-million after-tax gain
on the sale of the recreational products 
segment recorded in the fourth quarter of 
fiscal year 2004. 

Net loss was $89 million for the year ended
January 31, 2004, or $0.07 per share (basic and
diluted). This compares to a net loss of $615 mil-
lion the previous fiscal year, or $0.47 per share
(basic and diluted).

Bombardier’s order backlog as at January 31,
2004 totalled $45.9 billion, compared to a
backlog of $44.4 billion as at January 31, 2003.
The increase is due to an increase in the trans-
portation segment backlog, partially offset by
a decrease in the aerospace segment backlog,
and the negative impact of the strengthening
of the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S.
dollar, for approximately $1.8 billion in the 
aerospace segment.

* Trademark(s) of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries.
** Acela is a trademark of Amtrak.



Segments

Bombarbier Aerospace
Bombardier Aerospace is a manufacturer of
business, regional and amphibious aircraft 
and a provider of related services. It offers
comprehensive families of regional jet and
turboprop commercial aircraft and a wide 
range of business jets. It also provides the
Bombardier* Flexjet* fractional ownership pro-
gram, technical services, aircraft maintenance
and pilot training. Bombardier Aerospace’s
main manufacturing facilities are principally
located in Canada, the United States, and the
United Kingdom.
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Bombardier Transportation
Bombardier Transportation, the global leader
in the rail equipment manufacturing and serv-
icing industry, offers a full range of passenger
railcars, as well as complete rail transportation
systems. It also manufactures locomotives,
freight cars, airport people movers, propulsion
and controls and provides rail control solutions.
Bombardier Transportation is also a provider 
of maintenance services. Bombardier
Transportation’s main manufacturing facilities
are principally located in Germany, the United
Kingdom and the United States.

Bombardier Capital
BC offers secured inventory financing and
interim financing of commercial aircraft, prima-
rily in North American markets, and manages
the wind-down of various portfolios. 

Management evaluates the performance of
each segment based on EBT. Accordingly, seg-
ment information is presented on this basis.

Corporate interest costs are only allocated 
to the manufacturing segments, based on 
the segment’s net assets. Most other corporate
charges are allocated to all segments based
on each segment’s revenues.

The following analysis of operating results cov-
ers the activities of Bombardier Aerospace,
Bombardier Transportation and BC.
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2004, compared to $424 million (including
$264 million for program tooling) for the year
ended January 31, 2003.

Interest expense totalled $270 million for
the year ended January 31, 2004, compared to
$319 million for the year ended January 31,
2003. This decrease is mainly attributable to
lower average net assets. Interest expense
includes interest charges arising on certain
sales incentive liabilities recorded at the
present value of the estimated future pay-
ments upon initial recognition.

As a result, EBT before special items
amounted to $262 million, or 2.3% of seg-
mented revenues, for fiscal year 2004,
compared to negative EBT before special
items of $33 million for the previous fiscal year.
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This increase was offset by a lower effective
exchange rate for the U.S. dollar, which had a
negative impact of approximately $130 million.

Cost of sales amounted to $9.8 billion for
the year ended January 31, 2004, compared to
$10.0 billion for the year ended January 31,
2003. As a result, the segmented margin was
$1.5 billion or 13.7% of revenues for fiscal year
2004, compared to $1.3 billion or 11.7% of rev-
enues the previous year. This increase in the
margin is mainly due to higher business and
regional aircraft deliveries, partially offset by
additional sales incentive costs.

Operating expenses amounted to $571 million
for the year ended January 31, 2004, compared
to $610 million for the preceding fiscal year.
This decrease is mainly due to the impact of 
a lower effective exchange rate for the U.S.
dollar, as well as cost reduction initiatives. 

Depreciation and amortization amounted 
to $442 million (including $270 million for pro-
gram tooling) for the year ended January 31,

Bombardier  Aerospace
Analysis of results

2004 2003
Segmented revenues

Manufacturing $ 8,571 $ 8,531
Services (1) 1,539 1,517
Other (2) 1,197 1,246

11,307 11,294
Cost of sales 9,762 9,974
Operating expenses (3) 571 610
Depreciation and amortization 442 424
Interest expense 270 319

11,045 11,327
EBT before special items 262 (33)
Special items 28 (1,311)
EBT $ 290 $ (1,344)
(1) Includes revenues from Defence Services, spare parts, the Bombardier Flexjet program’s service activities, 

and product support activities.
(2) Includes mainly sales of pre-owned aircraft.
(3) Includes selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses.

Bombardier Aerospace’s segmented revenues
amounted to $11.3 billion for each of the years
ended January 31, 2004 and 2003. Manufac-
turing revenues amounted to $8.6 billion for
the year ended January 31, 2004, compared to
$8.5 billion for the preceding fiscal year. The
increase in deliveries of business and regional
aircraft was partially offset by lower deliveries
of wide-body aircraft interiors, and a lower
effective exchange rate for the U.S. dollar 
compared to the Canadian dollar, which had 
a negative impact of approximately $485 mil-
lion. Service revenues amounted to $1.5 billion 
for each of the years ended January 31, 2004
and 2003. Higher spare parts revenue was 
offset by the negative impact of a lower 
effective exchange rate for the U.S. dollar of
approximately $135 million. Other revenues
totalled $1.2 billion for each of the years 
ended January 31, 2004 and 2003. Pre-owned
aircraft deliveries were higher in the current
fiscal year compared to the previous fiscal year.
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Fiscal year 2004
The Corporation recorded gains of $98 million
($72 million after tax) and $3 million (before
and after tax) related to the sale of MAS and 
of the BCA.

Severance and other involuntary termination
costs of $73 million ($48 million after tax) were
recorded during fiscal year 2004, $17 million
($11 million after tax) of which was recorded
during the fourth quarter. The charge relates
mainly to the reduction of employment levels
at facilities in Montréal, Toronto and Belfast,
as well as the reduction in employment 
levels in Tucson and Wichita arising from the
creation of integrated Bombardier* Learjet* and
Challenger* Series business aircraft manu-
facturing centres at the Wichita and Dorval
facilities. Expected benefits from the integration
include reduced production cycle times and
inventory levels. The full integration of the manu-
facturing centres is expected to be completed
by the first quarter of fiscal year 2006.

Fiscal year 2003
Severance and other involuntary termination
costs of $67 million ($52 million after tax) were
recorded in the fourth quarter related mainly 
to the reduction in employment levels at all
Bombardier Aerospace sites.

The revision of the assumptions used to esti-
mate the average unit production cost for each
program, to reflect the uncertainty in the turbo-
prop market and the weakness of the business
aircraft segment, including the reduction of
accounting program quantities, resulted in 
a special charge amounting to $615 million
($434 million after tax) recorded during the
fourth quarter. 

Special charges of $588 million were
recorded, $171 million ($129 million after tax)
of which was mainly related to the write-down
in the value of pre-owned aircraft inventories,
and from lower-than-anticipated sub-lease
revenues on pre-owned turboprop aircraft, was

recorded in the second quarter. In addition, as a
result of market price declines in the pre-owned
business and turboprop aircraft market, an addi-
tional special charge of $385 million ($291 million
after tax) was recorded in the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2003. A special charge of $32 million
($24 million after tax) related to the write-down
of turboprop production inventory was also
recorded in the fourth quarter.

Additionally, a special charge of $41 million
($30 million after tax) was recorded during the
second quarter in connection with the final
settlements of a lawsuit and a contractual 
dispute with a customer. 

As a result, EBT amounted to $290 million
for fiscal year 2004, compared to negative EBT
of $1.3 billion for the previous fiscal year.

Program information
The carrying amount of excess over-average
production costs (EOAPC) included in inven-
tory, and tooling costs included in property,
plant and equipment were as follows as at
January 31:

Special items
The Corporation recorded the following special items:

2004 2003
Gain on sale of Military Aviation Services (MAS) $(98) $ –
Gain on sale of the Belfast City Airport (BCA) (3) –
Severance and other involuntary termination costs 73 67
Revisions of program estimates – 615
Write-downs of inventories and other related provisions – 588
Claim settlements – 41

$(28) $1,311

2004

P R O G R A M

P R O G R A M  F A M I L Y E O A P C T O O L I N G T O T A L

Regional Aircraft
Bombardier CRJ Series $ 317 $ 623 $ 940

Bombardier* Q-Series* 94 76 170

Business Aircraft
Bombardier Learjet Series 365 262 627

Bombardier Challenger 300 72 587 659

Bombardier Challenger 604 – 28 28

Bombardier* Global* Series 538 621 1,159

$1,386 $2,197 $3,583
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2003
P R O G R A M  

P R O G R A M  F A M I L Y E O A P C T O O L I N G T O T A L

Regional Aircraft
Bombardier CRJ Series $ 334 $ 690 $1,024
Bombardier Q-Series 94 94 188

Business Aircraft
Bombardier Learjet Series 379 320 699
Bombardier Challenger 300 – 501 501
Bombardier Challenger 604 – 32 32
Bombardier Global Series 483 679 1,162

$1,290 $ 2,316 $3,606

Current estimated accounting program quantities and the remaining deliveries required to
achieve the total accounting program quantity were as follows as at January 31, 2004:

P R O G R A M R E M A I N I N G  
P R O G R A M  F A M I L Y Q U A N T I T I E S D E L I V E R I E S(1)

Regional Aircraft
Bombardier CRJ Series 1,050 504

Bombardier Q-Series 225 63

Business Aircraft
Bombardier Learjet Series 725 400

Bombardier Challenger 300 300 293

Bombardier Challenger 604 150 74

Bombardier Global Series 450 316

(1) Remaining deliveries for regional aircraft include 273 firm orders for the Bombardier CRJ Series and 30 firm orders for the
Bombardier Q-Series.

cost is less than the average cost recognized
to income.

Total program tooling costs amounted 
to $2.2 billion as at January 31, 2004, com-
pared to $2.3 billion as at January 31, 2003.
Depreciation for programs under commer-
cial production were partially offset by tooling
costs incurred for programs under develop-
ment or in their early phases of production
(Bombardier Global 5000*, Bombardier
Challenger 300 and Bombardier Learjet 40).

Analysis of program information
EOAPC increased by $96 million to $1.4 billion
as at January 31, 2004, compared to $1.3 billion
as at January 31, 2003. This increase is 
mainly due to learning curve costs incurred in
programs in their early phases of production,
essentially the Bombardier Challenger 300, 
the Bombardier Learjet 40, Bombardier*

CRJ900*, and the Bombardier CRJ700. These
increases were partially offset by reductions 
in mature programs, where the actual unit 

Deliveries and backlog
During fiscal year 2004, Bombardier Aerospace
delivered 324 aircraft compared to 298 aircraft
for fiscal year 2003. Aircraft delivered during
fiscal year 2004 were as follows: 232 regional
aircraft, 89 business jets and three amphibious
aircraft compared to 220, 77 and one unit
respectively for fiscal year 2003.

The order backlog amounted to $14.5 billion
as at January 31, 2004, compared to $18.7 bil-
lion as at January 31, 2003 (including $1.4 billion
and $1.7 billion, respectively, for Defence
Services). The year-over-year reduction in the
backlog reflects higher deliveries versus orders
received, as well as a negative foreign exchange
adjustment of approximately $1.8 billion, relat-
ing to a lower exchange rate for the U.S. dollar
compared to the Canadian dollar.

Bombardier Aerospace expects total deliv-
eries of aircraft for fiscal year 2005 to remain
at a similar level as fiscal year 2004.

F02 F03 F04

Aircraft deliveries
(NUMBER OF UN ITS )

400

300

200

100

0

Regional aircraft

Business aircraft

Total

220

77

162

206

368

297

89

232

321



page 49Bombardier Inc. Annual Report 2003-04

Competition
Bombardier Aerospace’s main competitors are
Embraer-Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica
S.A. (Embraer) in the regional jet segment and
the European consortium Avions de Transport
Régional (ATR) in the turboprop segment. Main
competitors in the business jet market are
Gulfstream Aerospace Corporation, a subsi-
diary of General Dynamics; Dassault Aviation;
Cessna Aircraft Company, a subsidiary of
Textron Inc.; and Raytheon Aircraft, a subsidiary
of the Raytheon Company. The Bombardier
Flexjet program’s major competitors include
NetJets Inc., a subsidiary of Berkshire
Hathaway; Flight Options LLC, an affiliate of
Raytheon Company; and CitationShares, a 
joint venture of Cessna Aircraft Company 
and TAG Aviation.

Product development
During fiscal year 2004, Bombardier Aerospace
invested approximately $216 million in new
program development, compared to approxi-
mately $404 million in fiscal year 2003. Product
development expenditures were lower during
fiscal year 2004 due to development programs
entering the final certification phase, in which
spending is traditionally lower, as well as the
maturity of the Bombardier CRJ Series and
Q-Series product portfolio.

Business aircraft
Bombardier Aerospace’s narrow-body business
jet product family includes the following 
aircraft: Bombardier Learjet 40, Bombardier
Learjet 45, Bombardier Learjet 45 XR and
Bombardier Learjet 60. The wide-body 
business jet product family includes the 
following aircraft: Bombardier Challenger 300,
Bombardier Challenger 604, Bombardier 
Global 5000, Bombardier* Global Express* and
Bombardier Global Express XRS. The last
Bombardier Learjet 31A aircraft was delivered
in fiscal year 2004.

market share percentages do not correspond
to those published in last year’s annual report.

In calendar year 2003, the worldwide 
business jet market decreased by 23%, from
674 units to 518 units. The market segment 
in which Bombardier Aerospace is active
decreased by 22%, from 529 units in calen-
dar 2002 to 411 units in calendar year 2003.
Economic indicators for the U.S. economy
show a slow but constant recovery since the
September 11, 2001 events. According to
Bureau of Economic Analysis data, published
on February 27, 2004, the real gross domestic
product (GDP adjusted for inflation) year-over-
year change was 0.5%, 2.2% and an estimated
3.1% for calendar years 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively. However, market studies show
that there is a delay between a sustained eco-
nomic growth and an impact on business jet
deliveries. The decrease of total deliveries in
the market for calendar year 2003 reflects the
above economic conditions.

Bombardier Aerospace’s unit market share 
in the business jet segments in which it 
competes, including deliveries to customers
of the North American Bombardier Flexjet pro-
gram, decreased to 17% in calendar year 2003,
compared to 19% in the previous calendar
year. Bombardier Aerospace’s market share

The increase in deliveries is mainly due to 
the Bombardier Challenger 300 aircraft and
Bombardier Learjet 40 aircraft entering into
service. Deliveries for the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2003 reflect 14 less deliveries for 
the Bombardier Learjet aircraft arising from the
one-time negative impact of the decision to
cease recognizing revenues on the sale of nar-
row-body aircraft upon green aircraft delivery.

Market share
Assessment of market share in the business
jet industry is based on delivery data for 
the calendar year from the General Aviation
Manufacturers Association (GAMA), and 
therefore does not correspond to the number
of deliveries recorded during Bombardier
Aerospace’s fiscal year. For some competi-
tors, GAMA only provides the information by
product family. In these cases, Bombardier
Aerospace estimated the deliveries by seg-
ment, using the United States Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) records, other databases,
historical trends and competitive intelligence.
During fiscal year 2004, GAMA revised its 2003
report to reflect Bombardier Aerospace’s deci-
sion to cease recognizing revenue on the sale
of narrow-body business aircraft at green deliv-
ery. For this reason, Bombardier Aerospace’s

Deliveries
The deliveries detailed in the following table include aircraft sold to customers of the North
American Bombardier Flexjet program, which enables individuals or companies to purchase a
share in a Bombardier business jet. 

2004 2003
Bombardier Learjet 31A 2 4
Bombardier Learjet 40 4 –
Bombardier Learjet 45 21 20
Bombardier Learjet 60 14 14
Bombardier Challenger 300 7 –
Bombardier Challenger 604 24 23
Bombardier Global Express 17 16

89 77
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was impacted by the transition period between
the end of production of the Bombardier
Learjet 31A and the first deliveries of the
Bombardier Learjet 40, a new product in the
narrow-body segment, as well as the entry
into service of competitors’ new models.

In the light business jet segment, Bombardier
Aerospace recently launched its Bombardier
Learjet 40 aircraft. In the superlight business jet
segment, Bombardier Learjet 45 aircraft deliv-
eries accounted for 26% of a 65-unit market for
the 2003 calendar year, compared to 25% of
a 108-unit market in calendar year 2002. In the
midsize business jet segment, Bombardier
Learjet 60 aircraft deliveries represented 18%
of a 66-unit market for the 2003 calendar year
compared to 24% of a 72-unit market the pre-
vious calendar year. In the large business jet
segment, the Bombardier Challenger 604 air-
craft’s market share was 41% of a 58-unit
market for the 2003 calendar year, compared
to 47% of a 66-unit market in calendar year
2002. In the ultra long-range business jet seg-
ment, the Bombardier Global Express obtained
30% of a 47-unit market for the 2003 calendar
year, compared to 25% of a 60-unit market in
calendar year 2002.

Product development
Bombardier Aerospace believes its significant
new product development investments over
the past years have resulted in the most 
comprehensive line of business aircraft in the
industry and position it well for the future as
these new products enter into service.

During fiscal year 2004, two new products
were awarded certification. The Bombardier
Learjet 40 aircraft, a derivative of the Bombardier
Learjet 45 business jet, was awarded certifi-
cation by the FAA on July 11, 2003 and by the
European Joint Aviation Authorities (JAA) on
January 9, 2004. Deliveries began in January
2004. The Bombardier Challenger 300 super-

business jet inventory has declined by 8%
from a peak of 2,036 aircraft in June 2003, and
stood at 1,872 aircraft at the end of December
2003. A reduction in the supply of pre-owned
aircraft is critical, as a firming up of prices in the
pre-owned aircraft market makes the choice of
a new aircraft more attractive. As at January 31,
2004, 82% of the pre-owned business jet
inventory was more than 10 years old.

In the market segments in which Bombar-
dier Aerospace is active, it is expected that
competition will remain intense between man-
ufacturers as new products enter into service.
Fiscal year 2005 will be the first full year of
production for the Bombardier Challenger 300
and the Bombardier Learjet 40. With the
introduction of its new models and improved
integrated operations, Bombardier Aerospace
believes that it will benefit from the favourable
industry outlook and is well positioned for 
the future.

Bombardier Flexjet program
Through the Bombardier Flexjet program in
North America, owners purchase shares 
of Bombardier Aerospace business aircraft 
with operations and support managed by
Bombardier Aerospace, including flight crew,
maintenance, hangar fees and insurance. 
The Bombardier* Skyjet* program offers on-
demand charter services in North America.
Through Flexjet’s European and Asian pro-
grams, customers purchase hours of flight
time instead of shares of aircraft. Bombardier’s
North American Flexjet program has partnered
with Delta AirElite** Business Jets, a subsidiary
of Delta Air Lines, to market and sell the
Bombardier Flexjet prepaid hours program. 

As at January 31, 2004, the number of cus-
tomers owning shares under the North
American Flexjet program decreased to 627
from 664 at the end of January 2003. The num-
ber of customers with an hourly flight time

midsize business jet was awarded certifica-
tion by the FAA on June 4, 2003, five days after
earning similar approval from Transport Canada
(TC). On July 31, 2003, this aircraft was also
awarded certification by the JAA. Deliveries
began in December 2003.

The Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft 
made its first flight on March 7, 2003 and, as
of January 7, 2004, had completed over
100 flights. A second test aircraft joined the
program on January 8, 2004. Deliveries are
expected to begin in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2005. 

The Bombardier Challenger 300 and the
Bombardier Global 5000 compete in the super-
midsize and super-large business segments
respectively, in which Bombardier had no
previous offering.

In October 2003, the Bombardier Global
Express XRS aircraft was officially launched at
the National Business Aircraft Association’s
annual tradeshow. This aircraft which is the
next generation of Bombardier Global Express
aircraft, is expected to offer greater levels of
cabin comfort and technology to both passen-
gers and crew, while connecting more cities
faster than any other business jet. Deliveries
are expected to begin in the first half of fiscal
year 2006.

Market and prospects
For the third consecutive year, the business
jet market remained in a weakened state.
However, important industry drivers, such as
U.S. GDP growth and pre-owned business air-
craft inventory levels, are showing positive
trends. According to Blue Chip Economic
Indicators, published February 10, 2004,
U.S. GDP is expected to grow by 4.6% in
2004, up from 2003. The pre-owned aircraft
market has been showing signs of recovery
in 2003. Based on monthly extracts of the
Jetnet database, the worldwide pre-owned
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entitlement contract increased to 140 as at Jan-
uary 31, 2004 from 84 as at January 31, 2003.
The Bombardier Flexjet program included 
100 aircraft in service in North America as at
January 31, 2004, compared to 110 the previ-
ous fiscal year.

Bombardier’s North American Flexjet program
sold shares for the equivalent of 9.5 aircraft,
including 5.5 new and four pre-owned aircraft
in fiscal year 2004, compared to 12 aircraft,
including 5.25 new and 6.75 pre-owned in the
previous fiscal year.

Market and prospects
The North American fractional ownership mar-
ket experienced a significantly larger decline in
aircraft delivered in calendar year 2003 com-
pared to the decline in calendar year 2002,
mainly attributable to the general economic
slowdown in the U.S., as well as an increase
in services other than fractional ownership jet
services, such as on-demand charter services
and short-term prepaid lease programs. 

Regional aircraft
The Bombardier Aerospace line of regional air-
craft includes the 40-, 44- and 50-passenger
Bombardier* CRJ100/200*, the 70-passenger
Bombardier CRJ700, the 86-passenger
Bombardier CRJ900 regional jets and 
the Bombardier Q-Series family of turbo-
props, consisting of the 37-passenger
Bombardier* Q100/200*, the 50-passenger
Bombardier* Q300* and the 68- to 78-pas-
senger Bombardier* Q400*.

The 5% increase in deliveries results mainly
from the increase in deliveries of Bombardier
CRJ200 aircraft and Bombardier CRJ900
aircraft, partially offset by lower deliveries 
of Bombardier Q400 turboprops. While deliv-
eries in the overall turboprop market were

down, the orders for the Bombardier Q-Series
family of turboprops were up significantly. 
This year’s deliveries included the 100th
Bombardier CRJ700 aircraft to Lufthansa 
and the 1,000th Bombardier CRJ, a CRJ700
aircraft to Delta Air Lines carrier Comair.

Regional aircraft orders were as follows:
2004 2003

O R D E R S S W A P S C A N C E L L A T I O N S N E T  O R D E R S N E T  O R D E R S

Bombardier CRJ200 71 – (17) 54 49
Bombardier CRJ700 62 (2) (21) 39 (7)
Bombardier CRJ900 14 – – 14 (5)
Bombardier Q100/200 1 – – 1 –
Bombardier Q300 7 – – 7 (3)
Bombardier Q400 23 2 – 25 4

178 – (38) 140 38

Regional aircraft deliveries were as follows for the years ended January 31:

2004 2003
Bombardier CRJ200 152 140
Bombardier CRJ700 50 50
Bombardier CRJ900 12 1
Bombardier Q100/200 – 1
Bombardier Q300 9 9
Bombardier Q400 9 19

232 220
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Bombardier Aerospace received the following
major orders during fiscal year 2004:
- from US Airways for 60 Bombardier CRJ200
and 25 Bombardier CRJ700 aircraft, for 
a total value of approximately $3.2 billion. 
The 85 firm orders include the transfer 
of 36 Bombardier CRJ firm orders held by 
GE Capital Aviation Services, for a net back-
log increase of 49 aircraft. Deliveries began in
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004; 

- from SkyWest Airlines for 30 Bombardier
CRJ700 aircraft, for a total value of approxi-
mately $1.2 billion, and 10 Bombardier 
CRJ200 aircraft, for a total value of approx-
imately $310 million. Deliveries of the
Bombardier CRJ700 aircraft began in 
January 2004 and will continue through 
2005. Deliveries of the Bombardier CRJ200
aircraft are expected to begin in the second
quarter of fiscal year 2005;

- from Mesa Air Group, Inc. for 14 Bombardier
CRJ900 aircraft and six Bombardier CRJ700
aircraft, for a total value of approximately 
$837 million. Deliveries are expected to 
begin in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006
and the third quarter of fiscal year 2005,
respectively; and

- from FlyBE., a U.K. carrier, for 17 Bombardier
Q400 turboprops, for a total value of approx-
imately $545 million. Deliveries began in the
second quarter of fiscal year 2004.

As at January 31, 2004, Bombardier Aerospace’s
order backlog, options and conditional orders
for regional aircraft consisted of the following: 

Market share
In accordance with the method used throughout
the industry, the market share for Bombardier
Aerospace’s regional aircraft is calculated on
the basis of gross order intake and aircraft
deliveries during the calendar year, which does
not correspond with Bombardier Aerospace’s
fiscal year order intake and deliveries.

During calendar year 2003, the combined
order intake for Bombardier CRJ and
Bombardier Q-Series aircraft earned a 56%
market share of the 20- to 90-seat regional
aircraft segment, the market segment in which
Bombardier Aerospace is active, accounting
for 163 of the 291 units ordered, compared to
50% or 56 of 111 units ordered in calendar
year 2002. Based on aircraft deliveries,
Bombardier’s overall market share in this
segment was 70% with 242 of 345 units deliv-
ered, compared to a 59% or 213 of 361 units
delivered in calendar year 2002.

In calendar year 2003, order intake for the
Bombardier CRJ Series in the 20- to 90-seat
regional jet segment was 132 of the 250 units
ordered or a 53% market share. This compares
to a 54% market share, or 46 of the 85 units
ordered in calendar year 2002.

Based on aircraft deliveries, the Bombardier
CRJ Series had a 70% market share, or 223 
of the 317 units delivered in 2003, compared
to a 59% market share, representing 184 units
of 313 delivered in calendar year 2002.
Increased deliveries of Bombardier CRJ200
aircraft and the delay of competitors’ new 
products reaching the marketplace had a

favourable impact on Bombardier Aerospace’s
market share.

In the turboprop segment, 41 units were
ordered in the 20- to 90-seat market during
calendar year 2003, compared to 26 units in
calendar year 2002. The Bombardier Q-Series
turboprop market share was 76% of the 
turboprop segment, with 31 firm orders during
calendar year 2003, compared to a 38%
market share last year, with 10 firm orders.
The increase in gross order market share 
was driven by an increase in orders for the
Bombardier Q400 aircraft. The Bombardier
Q400 aircraft targets low-fare carriers 
because of its low operating costs, a critical
variable for these airlines. Based on aircraft
deliveries, the Bombardier Q-Series turboprop
market share was 68% with 19 of 28 units
delivered in 2003, compared to a 60% share in
calendar year 2002, or 29 of 48 units delivered.

Product development
In recent years, Bombardier Aerospace has
made significant investments in the develop-
ment of two product families that both offer
benefits of commonality across the platform
and superior economic operating efficiency.

In March 2003, the 50-passenger Bombardier
CRJ200 regional jet obtained certification from
Transport Canada for operation at airports 
up to 13,000 feet (3,962 m) above sea level.
Standard certification caps airport operations 
at 10,000 feet (3,048 m) above sea level. 
High-altitude certification for the Bombardier
CRJ200 aircraft followed a successful flight
test program conducted at the airport in 
La Paz, Bolivia.

During fiscal year 2005, Bombardier
Aerospace will study the viability of developing
a new generation of commercial aircraft 
platform. On February 26, 2004, Bombardier
Aerospace appointed a president of the New
Commercial Aircraft Program, who will be
responsible for forming and leading a multi-
disciplinary team for this project.

A I R C R A F T O P T I O N S  A N D
O N  F I R M C O N D I T I O N A L

O R D E R O R D E R S T O T A L

Bombardier CRJ200 151 777 928

Bombardier CRJ700 96 387 483

Bombardier CRJ900 26 48 74

Bombardier Q100/200 1 1 2

Bombardier Q300 6 27 33

Bombardier Q400 23 65 88

303 1,305 1,608
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Market and prospects
Bombardier Aerospace expects demand for
the larger Bombardier CRJ700, CRJ900 and
Q400 aircraft to increase as the trend towards
larger regional aircraft continues. Improved
seat-mile cost is a necessary response to 
the continuing difficult environment in the 
airline industry.

The availability of aircraft financing is a major
challenge faced by the aerospace industry, as
the financial position of major airlines in North
America remains weak. However, some of the
major airlines have already emerged or are
expected to emerge from bankruptcy protec-
tion in the first half of fiscal year 2005. Regional
jets play an important role in the restructuring
plans of these airlines. In addition, regional air-
lines recorded another solid year of growth
compared to the major airlines. According to
Airline Monitor, U.S. regional airlines posted a
strong year-over-year percentage increase of
28% in revenue passenger miles (RPMs) in
calendar year 2003, a measure of paying
passenger traffic. For the same period, the
year-over-year percentage RPMs for the major
airlines decreased by 2.4%. U.S. regional
airlines also posted a strong year-over-year
increase of 22% in available seat miles (ASMs),
a measure of available passenger capacity,
compared to a 4.8% decrease for major air-
lines during the same period.

Bombardier Aerospace currently has a 
portfolio of two mature families of regional 
aircraft in service with a number of the world’s
top airlines. Over the past two years, the
Bombardier CRJ200 aircraft has dominated 
the 50-seat regional jet market. Competition for

the 70-seat regional jet market segment will
continue to be fierce between Embraer and
Bombardier Aerospace. Although Embraer’s
170 family of aircraft competes with the
Bombardier CRJ700 and the CRJ900 aircraft,
Bombardier Aerospace believes that its aircraft
have significant competitive advantages, 
with an earlier entry into service, and family
commonality benefits across the 40- to 86-
seat CRJ Series family. Also, the Bombardier
CRJ700 aircraft has already been selected by
seven out of the top 10 largest airlines in the
world, as well as several low-fare carriers.

Bombardier Aerospace continues to be well
positioned with its family of Q-Series new-gen-
eration quiet turboprop aircraft. The Bombardier
Q-Series has unique performance capabilities,
particularly from short and difficult runways.
Bombardier Aerospace is confident that there
is ongoing demand for new turboprops due to
their low operating costs in short-haul markets.

Amphibious aircraft
Bombardier Aerospace markets the 
Bombardier* 415* turboprop amphibious aircraft,
a purpose-built firefighting aircraft. The aircraft
can also be adapted to a variety of specialized
missions, such as search and rescue, environ-
mental protection, coastal patrol and transport.
Certification for the multipurpose Bombardier
415MP was obtained in March 2004.

Bombardier Aerospace delivered three
Bombardier 415 aircraft in fiscal year 2004,
compared to one in fiscal year 2003. The 
firefighting aircraft market depends mainly 
on governmental procurement cycles. In
September 2001, production of the Bombardier

415 aircraft was suspended until such time as
the orderbook warrants its resumption. As at
January 31, 2004, there was no backlog for
this aircraft. 

Aviation support and services
Bombardier Aerospace provides a broad range
of services to customers, including training for
pilots and maintenance technicians, aircraft
maintenance and sales of spare parts. 

Customer training
Bombardier Aerospace offers, through joint 
ventures, a complete range of pilot and main-
tenance training programs for the Bombardier
CRJ Series aircraft in Montréal, Canada; in
Qingdao, China; and in Berlin, Germany.

Bombardier Aerospace is the only business
jet manufacturer to directly provide cus-
tomized pilot and maintenance training, as 
well as ancillary training. The training centres
are located in Montréal, Canada and at the
Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport in 
Dallas, United States. On December 9, 2003,
the FAA and TC approved technical and pilot 
training courses for the new super-midsize
Bombardier Challenger 300 business jet.

In addition, Bombardier Aerospace provides
maintenance and support services for military
pilot training. The NATO Flying Training in Canada
(NFTC) program is in full operation with Canada,
Denmark, the U.K., the Republic of Singapore,
Italy, and Hungary as participating nations. 
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Aircraft maintenance 
and spare parts services
Bombardier Aerospace offers maintenance
services to its business aircraft customers at its
six centres located in Fort Lauderdale, Florida;
Indianapolis, Indiana; Hartford, Connecticut;
Wichita, Kansas; Tucson, Arizona; and Dallas,
Texas in the United States; as well as a service
centre located in Berlin, Germany, which is a
joint venture with Lufthansa. 

Bombardier Aerospace offers maintenance
and modification services in Bridgeport, West
Virginia in the United States to Bombardier CRJ
Series operators.

Bombardier Aerospace is also associated
with 28 authorized service centres worldwide,
with 26 centres for business aircraft and two
for regional aircraft, which provide complete
services to operators. Bombardier Aerospace
expects to open an additional maintenance
centre for regional aircraft in Tucson, Arizona in
the first quarter of fiscal year 2005.

On January 14, 2004, Bombardier Aerospace
announced the consolidation and integration of
its regional aircraft and business aircraft spare
parts organizations into the new Bombardier

Aerospace Parts Logistics organization.
Expected benefits include increased customer
satisfaction due to a shorter response time and
increased operational efficiencies that will allow
for reduced spare parts inventory levels. Spare
parts operations will move to a single SAP**-
based operating system and will establish new
distribution warehouses in Chicago, Illinois,
and Frankfurt, Germany. These centrally-located
warehouses will be run by the world-renowned
logistics provider, Caterpillar Logistics Services.

Other activities 
Other activities carried out by Bombardier
Aerospace include component manufacturing
for third parties at facilities in Montréal, Canada
and in Belfast, Northern Ireland, where most of
the design, development and manufacture 
of major airframe structures is undertaken.

Labour relations and workforce
The total number of employees at the end of
fiscal year 2004 was approximately 26,300,
approximately 57% of whom are covered by
collective labour agreements. In fiscal year
2004, Bombardier Aerospace negotiated a

three-and-a-half-year collective agreement 
with the International Association of Machinists
and Aerospace Workers in Wichita, Kansas,
and a three-year collective agreement with the
Canadian Auto Workers in Toronto, Canada.
These unions cover 1,200 and 1,800 employees
respectively, and represent approximately
20% of the employees covered by collective
labour agreements. Since April 2003, Bombar-
dier Aerospace has been in negotiation with 
its Belfast unions for an early labour contract
renewal. In late January 2004, labour agree-
ments for the Amicus; the Amalgamated
Transport and General Workers Union; the
General Machinists & Boilermakers; and the
Union of Construction, Allied Trades and
Technicians in Belfast, Northern Ireland, covering
4,835 employees, expired. Discussions with
these unions are ongoing. No other collective
agreements are up for renewal before the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006.

* Trademark(s) of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries.
** Delta AirElite is a trademark of Delta Corporate Identity, Inc.
** SAP is a trademark of SAP AG.
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Bombardier  Transportat ion
Restructuring initiative
On March 16, 2004, the Board of Directors
approved a proposed restructuring initiative 
to reduce the cost structure in the Corporation’s
transportation segment. This restructuring ini-
tiative was launched as a result of significant
plant manufacturing overcapacity. 

As a result of an in-depth assessment of
global industrial locations, which covered
workload, operating efficiency, technical
capability, prospects for future contracts and
detailed economic evaluations, Bombardier
proposes to reduce its global workforce by
approximately 6,600 positions, 1,500 of which
are contractual employees. In addition, seven
production sites in five European countries
have been identified for closure over the 
next two years and the initial phase of a site
improvement program will be launched at five
other European locations to increase opera-
tional efficiency by reducing inventory levels.
Bombardier Transportation will also pursue a
procurement integration initiative to increase
synergies, reduce costs and better coordinate 
materials procurement. 

Bombardier Transportation’s restructuring
initiative will result in restructuring charges 
and net cash outflows expected to be as 
follows for the fiscal years ended January 31:

2004 2005 2006 T O T A L

Severance and other involuntary 
termination costs  $ 212 $105 $ 35 $ 352

Property, plant and equipment 
write-downs 211 – – 211

Other (1) 34 110 70 214
Accounting charge $ 457 $215 $105 $ 777
Net cash outflows $ – $240 $326 $ 566
(1) Includes lease termination costs and environmental costs, as well as other costs.

Analysis of results

2004 2003
Segmented revenues

Manufacturing $8,718 $8,629
Services (1) 868 793

9,586 9,422
Cost of sales 8,443 8,127
Operating expenses (2) 855 886
Depreciation and amortization 218 202
Interest income (34) (103)

9,482 9,112
EBT before special items 104 310
Special items (457) –
EBT $ (353) $ 310
(1) Includes all maintenance, operations and service contracts, excluding those for heavy overhaul.
(2) Includes selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses.

Segmented revenues by geographic region 

2004 2003
Europe $7,524 79% $ 6,724 71%
North America 1,475 15% 2,252 24%
Asia-Pacific 518 5% 372 4%
Other 69 1% 74 1%

$9,586 $ 9,422
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Bombardier Transportation’s segmented
revenues amounted to $9.6 billion for the year
ended January 31, 2004, compared to $9.4 bil-
lion for the year ended January 31, 2003.
Manufacturing revenues amounted to $8.7 bil-
lion for the year ended January 31, 2004,
compared to $8.6 billion for the preceding 
fiscal year. The increase was mainly due to a
higher level of activity in Europe, partially off-
set by a lower level of activity in North America
as a result of the timing of the completion and
the start-up of contracts. Service revenues
amounted to $868 million for the year ended
January 31, 2004, compared to $793 million for
the preceding fiscal year.

Cost of sales amounted to $8.4 billion for
the year ended January 31, 2004, compared to
$8.1 billion for the year ended January 31,
2003. As a result, the segmented margin was
$1.1 billion or 11.9% for fiscal year 2004, com-
pared to $1.3 billion or 13.7% for the previous
fiscal year. The margin for fiscal year 2004 was
negatively impacted by charges recorded in
the fourth quarter, which are discussed below.
The fiscal year 2003 margin was also nega-
tively impacted due to revisions of estimates
to complete certain contracts recorded during
the fourth quarter.

On March 16, 2004, the Corporation reached
an agreement with Amtrak to settle all out-
standing claims in connection with the Acela
high-speed trainset and locomotive contracts
(see also note 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). As a result of this agreement,
the Corporation recorded a pre-tax charge 
of $139 million during the fourth quarter of fis-
cal year 2004. This charge relates mainly to 
the excess of the value of receivables and an
investment over the amount of the settlement.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, special
charges of $457 million ($434 million after tax)
were recorded with respect to the previously
discussed restructuring initiative.

As a result, EBT amounted to negative
$353 million, compared to $310 million for the
preceding fiscal year.
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The investment was in a joint venture set up in
connection with the Acela contracts. The
charge also reflects an amount to provide for
the extension of the periods covered by war-
ranties, and for the remaining obligations under
the contracts.

Additional adjustments in the fourth quarter
of fiscal year 2004 related to revisions in esti-
mates for the completion of certain contracts
also negatively impacted margins. These revi-
sions in estimates relate to a limited number
of contracts, and mainly arise from additional
costs from unforeseen technical issues,
primarily on new product development, 
anticipated liquidated damages and manu-
facturing inefficiencies.

Operating expenses amounted to $855 mil-
lion, or 9% of segmented revenues for the
year ended January 31, 2004, compared to
$886 million, or 9% of segmented revenues
last fiscal year. The decrease in operating
expenses is mainly due to lower research and
development expenses.

Depreciation and amortization increased to
$218 million for the year ended January 31,
2004, compared to $202 million for the year
ended January 31, 2003.

Net interest income was $34 million for the
year ended January 31, 2004, compared 
to $103 million the previous fiscal year. 
This decrease is mainly due to an increase in 
average net assets mainly as a result of lower
customer advances.

As a result, EBT before special items amount-
ed to $104 million, or 1.1% of segmented
revenues for the year ended January 31, 2004,
compared to EBT before special items of
$310 million, or 3.3% of segmented revenues
for the previous fiscal year.
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Backlog
Bombardier Transportation’s order backlog was as follows as at January 31:

( B I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) 2004 2003
Manufacturing operations $ 24.9 $ 20.2
Service businesses 6.5 5.5

$ 31.4 $ 25.7

The year-end backlog provides for a stable
inflow of revenues over the coming years.
Management anticipates that with the expected
growth of the rail equipment and services
market, Bombardier Transportation will main-
tain its leadership position in market share.
However, Bombardier Transportation operates
in an industry characterized by relatively low
margins, compensated by low investment in
net assets. The design and manufacture of
complex equipment under time and budget
constraints, and its introduction into service
in often difficult circumstances can constitute
significant execution and pricing risks.
Bombardier Transportation operates in a con-
tract-based business with major fluctuations
in the size, timing and location of orders.
Therefore, this has an impact on the utilization
of specific facilities and resources.

Considerable efforts and resources have
been and are being devoted to the devel-
opment of a common process to improve
controls over bidding processes. As part of this
process, the early identification and manage-
ment of risks have been enhanced. In addition,
the strengthening of project management and
further training and empowerment of person-
nel are expected to lead to greater stability of
results and improved margins.

Bombardier Transportation has two main
competitors in the field of rail transport, 
Alstom SA and Siemens AG, both of which
also offer a full range of products. There are
also some smaller and niche players, mainly
in Europe and, to a limited extent, in the 
United States. Japanese suppliers are also
competitors for projects in Asia and in the
United States. 

The increase in the 0 to 25% category of the
manufacturing and services backlog is mainly
due to the order for the modernization of 
the London Underground.

Market and prospects
The worldwide rail equipment and services
market is comprised of rolling stock, total trans-
it systems, services and rail control solutions.
The value of the orders awarded in the
worldwide market accessible to competition in
the supply industry was €38.4 billion ($60.7 bil-
lion) in calendar year 2003. Bombardier
Transportation has a 26% share of this market.
Bombardier Transportation has expanded its
definition of the market to include rail-related
telecommunications in the rail equipment 
and services market, consistent with industry
practice. The growth of the accessible market
is dependent upon demand for rolling stock,
the outsourcing of services, the availability of
financing, government spending, the financial
condition of operators and the pace of the 
liberalization of public transit systems. Europe
remained the largest market with a 61% share
of the worldwide accessible market, while
North America represented approximately
20% and Asia-Pacific 12%. The worldwide
accessible market is expected to grow by 3%
to 5% annually over the next five years.

Order intake during the year ended January 31,
2004 totalled $15.7 billion. The increase in the
value of the backlog as at January 31, 2004
compared to January 31, 2003 reflects an
excess of order intake over revenues of
$6.1 billion and a negative foreign exchange
adjustment of approximately $400 million.

Bombardier Transportation recognizes rev-
enues using the percentage-of-completion
method. This method of accounting recognizes
revenue proportionately with the degree 
of completion of goods or services under a
contract. Backlog expressed in percentage 
of completion of contracts was as follows:

( B I L L I O N S  O F
C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) M A N U F A C T U R I N G

2004 2003
0 to 25% $14.8 $11.1
26% to 50% 3.3 3.6
51% to 75% 5.5 1.9
76% to 100% 1.3 3.6

$24.9 $20.2

( B I L L I O N S  O F
C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) S E R V I C E S

2004 2003
0 to 25% $ 4.5 $ 3.3
26% to 50% 1.6 2.1
51% to 75% 0.4 0.1
76% to 100% – –

$ 6.5 $ 5.5
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Product development
In fiscal year 2004, Bombardier Transportation
continued to concentrate its product develop-
ment efforts on improving its products and
developing technologies expected to meet
future customer requirements for lower oper-
ating costs and improved asset utilization. 

Product families with inherent benefits 
such as commonality, modularization and 
high reliability are becoming increasingly 
attractive to operators worldwide. Bombardier
Transportation has successfully developed 
a number of large series product families,
including its Bombardier*TRAXX* locomotives,
Bombardier* FLEXITY* light rail vehicles,

Bombardier* MOVIA* metro vehicles, double-
deck passenger coaches and electrical and
diesel multiple units (EMU/DMU) used in
trains, such as the AGC high-capacity train,
Bombardier* Talent*, Bombardier* Electrostar*

and Bombardier* Turbostar* trains. In May
2003, at the International Association of 
Public Transport World Congress, Bombardier 
presented its innovative Bombardier* FICAS*

car-body technology, which provides train 
operators with more revenue-generating 
interior space within the constraints set by 
the infrastructure. 

Bombardier Transportation has implemented
the first commercial application of Level 2

European Rail Traffic Management System
(ERTMS) in operation, in Switzerland.

The Bombardier* JetTrain* locomotive was
presented across many North American cities
and attracted attention from operators and
governmental agencies.

In addition, field trials of an energy-saving
rolling stock prototype have begun. This newly-
developed equipment allows for the storage of
energy recaptured in braking mode, as well 
as operation on power-free sections of the 
network. These features, which reduce oper-
ating and infrastructure costs, have already
attracted the attention of several operators.
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Major orders
Bombardier Transportation received the following major orders during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2004:

N U M B E R  T O T A L
C L I E N T P R O D U C T O F  C A R S ( 1 ) V A L U E ( 2 ) M A N U F A C T U R I N G S E R V I C E S

Metronet for the London Supply of rolling stock, signalling, 1,738 $7,930 $ 6,430 $1,500
Underground (U.K.) maintenance, refurbishing and 

project management

Kung Sing Engineering Electrical and mechanical works 202 729 729 –
Corporation (Taiwan) for a 15-km rapid transit system 

including vehicles

Deutsche Bahn AG (Germany) Double-deck passenger cars 233 495 495 –

Transit Systems Development LLC (U.S.) Extension of Las Vegas Resort 20 292 178 114
Corridor Monorail system

Austrian Federal Railways (Austria) Electrical multiple units 240 248 248 –

Deutsche Bahn AG (Germany) 60 four-car BR 423 regional trains 240 227 227 –

Local Transport Authority of Lower Locomotives and double-deck 48 212 123 89
Saxony (Germany) passenger cars

Luxembourg Railways Double-deck passenger cars 85 195 195 –
(Luxembourg)

Verkehrsbetriebe Zürich (Switzerland) Bombardier* Cobra* trams 68 194 194 –

Brussels Transport Bombardier FLEXITY Outlook trams 46 191 162 29
Authority (Belgium)

Connex Verkehr GmbH (Germany) Regional trains, Bombardier 94 185 185 –
TRAXX electric locomotives

Italian Railways (Italy) Bombardier TRAXX electric locomotives 48 170 170 –

Southern California Regional Maintenance for the Metrolink** – 130 – 130
Rail Authority (U.S.) commuter rail fleet

Skånetrafiken (Sweden) Electric multiple units 33 121 121 –

Société Nationale des Chemins de fer Bi-level TGV** Duplex cars 66 120 120 –
Français (France)

Rhine-Main Transport Group (Germany) Diesel multiple units 44 113 113 –

Swiss Federal Railways (Switzerland) Multi-system locomotives 18 103 103 –
(1) Includes locomotives.
(2) Orders for the activities of Total Transit Systems are apportioned between manufacturing and services based on the underlying product. The system integration component of the order 

is included in manufacturing.
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As part of the Metronet consortia, Bombardier
Transportation was awarded contracts for the
modernization of the London Underground
BCV (Bakerloo, Victoria, Central and Waterloo
and City Lines) and SSL (Subsurface Lines).
The turnkey contracts include project man-
agement and the supply of 1,738 metro cars
and new signalling systems for the Victoria Line
and Subsurface Lines, along with the main-
tenance of the rolling stock. In the early stages
of the project, Bombardier Transportation will
begin resignalling work, refurbish the existing
District Line rolling stock and build two pre-
production trains for the Victoria Line. The total
value of the contracts is $7.9 billion over
15 years. The new subway car fleets will be
built between 2008 and 2015. 

A. Rolling stock
Rolling stock includes commuter and regional
trains, intercity and high-speed trains,
metro/rapid transit, light rail vehicles, locomo-
tives, freight cars and propulsion and controls
for the vehicles. 

Orders
During fiscal year 2004, Bombardier
Transportation received orders for a total of
$7.3 billion in rolling stock, compared to 
$7.9 billion the previous fiscal year.

Market and prospects 
Bombardier Transportation determines its
annual market share as an average based on
the total value of orders in the industry during
the past three years.

In the highly-competitive European market,
Bombardier Transportation has improved its
leading position with a 42% market share for
calendar year 2003, compared to 38% last
year, mainly due to the Metronet orders. In
North America, Bombardier Transportation
slightly increased its market share for

European countries. During the year, cross-
border freight lines have been opened to
international freight companies. The passing of
the second rail legislative package by the
European Commission is a further step in liberal-
izing European rail by harmonizing safety rules,
interoperability for cross-border traffic and setting
up a European Railways Agency. Due to public
budget constraints, several large projects have
been postponed in Western Europe and, further-
more, state-owned operators concentrated on
replacement of their fleets rather than on growth.

While the North American passenger 
rail market reached a low level in 2003, it is ex-
pected to recover to normal levels in the next
year. Demand for rapid transit vehicles will drive
the market in North America, as transit 
agencies embark on major rehabilitation and
replacement programs for their aging fleets. 

Asia is a promising market for rail equipment
and services. A growing population, prosperity
and urbanization are expected to result in
investments in transportation infrastructures
to improve quality of life and make Asian cities
accessible. Asian intercity rail programs, 
such as those in China and India, will further
contribute to market growth.

Bombardier Transportation expects the
worldwide rolling stock market to grow by 2%
to 4% annually over the next five years.

Electrical propulsion, train control and 
management systems are core capabilities for
Bombardier Transportation. As the market
leader in this area, Bombardier Transportation
is able to offer its customers competitive solu-
tions that benefit from economies of scale and
proven reliable products.

Growth in electrical propulsion, train control
and management follows the trend in the 
new-build rolling stock markets. Bombardier
Transportation will also further explore already
identified growth markets such as China,
Russia and India. 

passenger rolling stock to 44% for calendar
year 2003, compared to 42% last year. In the
Asia-Pacific market, Bombardier Transportation
maintained its position with a market share of
more than 20%. The key industry drivers in
the rolling stock market are vehicle replace-
ment, infrastructure investment, the public
policy environment, liberalization and region-
alization in Europe, and new entrants, such as
private operators. Bombardier Transportation
expects that the major operators in Europe
and North America will continue with fleet
replacement programs in fiscal year 2005.

The orders for passenger rolling stock
awarded in calendar year 2003 in the world-
wide rail industry were valued at €10.2 billion
($16.1 billion), down from €13.6 billion
($20.0 billion) the previous calendar year. This
decrease is mainly related to a reduction in
orders in the North American market, from
$3.0 billion US ($4.7 billion) in calendar year
2002 to $0.6 billion US ($0.8 billion) in calendar
year 2003. The decrease in North America is
mainly related to project delays and the shift in
funding priorities in the United States.

Representing over 80% of total orders,
Europe remained the most important pas-
senger rolling stock market, with total orders
increasing from €7.3 billion ($10.8 billion) to
€8.5 billion ($13.4 billion). The liberalized U.K.
rail market contributed significantly to this
growth. Asia-Pacific maintained a relatively
stable market share of approximately 10% 
of the total orders. Orders in North America
accounted for 5% of total orders in calendar
year 2003, down from 28% the previous year.

With a legislative agenda aimed at liberalizing
the European rail industry, the European Union’s
goals are to open access to freight and pas-
senger traffic for operators and to separate rail
infrastructure and rail operations ownership and
management, supporting market growth. 
This process is already underway in several
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B. Total Transit Systems
Bombardier Transportation develops, designs,
markets, supplies and operates complete
transportation systems from high-capacity
urban transit systems to automated people
movers. Bombardier Transportation also pro-
vides operations and maintenance services for
fully-automated driverless systems.

Orders
Total orders attributable to Total Transit Systems
include only the system integration portion
component of the total contract value. 

In June 2003, Bombardier Transportation re-
ceived an order from the Kung Sing Engineering
Corporation for the supply of the electrical and
mechanical (E&M) portion of the new Neihu
Line in the City of Taipei, Taiwan. As the prime
subcontractor, Bombardier Transportation is
designing and supplying all of the E&M sys-
tems and will also be responsible for retrofitting
the automatic train control system on a total of
202 vehicles. The award of the Neihu Line
design-build contract is valued at $1.3 billion.
Bombardier Transportation’s share of the
project is $729 million. 

As part of a consortium, along with 
Granite Construction Company, Bombardier
Transportation was awarded a design-
build-equip contract by Transit Systems
Development LLC for a 3.6-km extension to 
the Las Vegas Resort Corridor Monorail system,
currently being built by the same consortium.
Bombardier Transportation will operate the 
full system for the initial five-year period with
two renewable five-year options. Bombardier
Transportation’s share of the contract is $292 mil-
lion and includes a five-year operations and
maintenance contract valued at $114 million.

C. Services
Bombardier Transportation provides a full 
range of maintenance services. These services
include total train maintenance, technical 
support, spares and logistics management, 
car re-engineering/heavy overhaul and com-
ponent re-engineering/overhaul.

Orders
Bombardier Transportation received orders for
a total of $2.9 billion in both fiscal years 2004
and 2003.

Market and prospects
Market share is calculated based on total
annual revenues compared to the total acces-
sible market. The accessible services market is
valued at approximately €16.0 billion ($25.3 bil-
lion), including fleet maintenance carried out by
private companies and new materials required
by all operators. Due to market liberalization,
the accessible market is expected to grow at
an annual rate of 4% to 6% over the next five
years. Bombardier Transportation is among the
leading suppliers with a 7% market share,
compared to 6% last fiscal year. The growth
prospects in the services business are prom-
ising due to the fact that operators are focusing
on their core business and exploring the oppor-
tunity of outsourcing maintenance. 

There is an emerging trend towards out-
sourcing maintenance to large single service
providers rather than to many smaller service
providers as part of international cross-
border operation and increased deregulation.
Bombardier Transportation has redefined 
its market focus to meet this new trend.
Bombardier Transportation’s installed fleet base
provides significant opportunities for services. 

As previously discussed, Bombardier
Transportation also received the Metronet
orders for the London Underground through
Total Transit Systems.

Market and prospects
Bombardier Transportation determines its
market share in this segment of the industry
based on the total value of orders over the
past five years, consistent with industry prac-
tice. Bombardier Transportation’s average
market share for this period, including the 
value for system integration for the London
Underground projects, is 30% compared to
20% last year.

Urbanization, growing economic wealth 
and population, as well as the commitment 
of countries worldwide to improve rail trans-
portation systems, are all expected to drive
future growth. The continued pressure on 
public funding and government budgets is
expected to increase interest in the private 
rail market, and the trend toward driverless
operation of transit systems is expected to
continue. Bombardier Transportation remains
the world leader in both these market seg-
ments and is well positioned to benefit from
these trends.

Customer demand for transit solutions 
providing a low overall price, fast project
implementation, reduced risk for the public
sector and a high-performance guarantee is
expected to result in an increase in the total
transit systems market. The annual average 
of the total transit systems market was 
$4.1 billion US ($5.7 billion) over the last five
years, and is expected to grow by 5% to 7%
over the next five years. Much of the growth
is expected to come from Asia.
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D. Rail Control Solutions
Bombardier Transportation’s Rail Control
Solutions portfolio covers the whole range of
mass transit solutions from manual to fully
automatic systems, as well as communica-
tion-based systems, and mainline solutions
from conventional systems to Level 2 ERTMS. 

Orders
During the year ended January 31, 2004,
Bombardier Transportation received two sig-
nificant orders. An order valued at €35 million
($55 million) for computer-based interlockings
and automatic train protection was received
from Normetro for the Metro do Porto in
Portugal. Another order valued at €26 million
($41 million) for traffic management systems,
interlockings, and an automatic block was
received from Italferr for the Pozzuolo-Treviglio
Line in Italy. 

Market and prospects 
Bombardier Transportation has expanded its
definition of the rail control solutions market 
to include rail-related telecommunication, 

In Europe, Bombardier Transportation has ap-
proximately 27,800 positions, 93% of which
are covered by collective labour agreements.
During fiscal year 2004, throughout Europe,
16 union agreements were negotiated for 
clerical and production employees, which cover
19,000 employees, and for which 11 union
agreements are industry-wide and cover
14,000 employees. During fiscal year 2005,
collective labour agreements will be negotiated
for clerical and production employees, covering
approximately 7,200 employees. This number
does not reflect the impact of the previously
discussed restructuring.

In North America, Bombardier Transportation
has approximately 7,000 positions, 52% of 
which are covered by collective labour agree-
ments. During fiscal year 2004, seven collective
agreements for clerical and production employ-
ees were signed, covering 2,000 employees.
During fiscal year 2005, collective agreements for 
clerical and production employees are up for
renewal, covering approximately 1,700 employ-
ees. This number does not reflect the impact of
the previously discussed restructuring initiative.

consistent with industry practice. The world-
wide accessible market for rail control solutions
and telecommunications amounts to €5.6 bil-
lion ($8.8 billion). The market is expected to
grow at 3% to 5% annually over the next five
years. Bombardier Transportation’s market
share based on total orders received based on
the broader market definition currently stands
at 6%, unchanged from the previous year. 

With its newly-branded solution Bombardier*

Interflo* and Cityflo* and its expertise as the
supplier of the first and only existing Level 2
ERTMS in commercial operation, Bombardier
Transportation is well positioned to expand its
market share in Europe and to penetrate 
the growing Asian market. ERTMS will open
new markets as it will replace large installed
country-specific signalling systems and consti-
tutes a prerequisite for European cross-border
rail services.

Labour relations and workforce
The total number of employees at the end of
fiscal year 2004 was approximately 35,600,
including 3,000 contractual employees. 

* Trademark(s) of Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries.
** Metrolink is a trademark of Southern California Rail Authority.
** TGV is a trademark of the Société Nationale des Chemins de fer Français.
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Bombardier  Capi ta l
The following table presents total finance receivables and assets under operating leases before
allowance for credit losses as at January 31:

2004 2003
Continued portfolios

Inventory finance $2,474 $2,953
Receivable financing with BRP (1) 84 –

2,558 2,953
Commercial aircraft

Interim financing 685 849
Long-term leasing 375 451

1,060 1,300
Total continued portfolios 3,618 4,253
Wind-down portfolios

Business aircraft
Loans and finance leases 265 1,221
Pre-owned aircraft 231 815

496 2,036
Manufactured housing 310 434
Consumer finance 195 342
Industrial equipment 88 115
Railcar leasing 51 61
Receivable factoring – 1,039
Other 92 235

Total wind-down portfolios 1,232 4,262
$4,850 $8,515

(1) This represents financing provided to the Corporation’s former recreational products segment (which will be referred 
to as BRP in this MD&A).

leasing and other off-balance sheet portfolios
discussed above) amounted to $7.3 billion as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $11.4 billion as
at January 31, 2003. This decrease is mainly
due to the reduction in the wind-down port-
folios, particularly the receivable factoring 
and business aircraft portfolio, as well as the
strengthening of the Canadian dollar compared
to the U.S. dollar. 

BC’s segmented revenues amounted to
$681 million for fiscal year 2004, compared 
to $895 million in fiscal year 2003. The decrease
in segmented revenues is mainly due to the
reduction in the wind-down portfolios and a
stronger Canadian dollar compared to the U.S.
dollar. Additional revenues from the securitized
floorplan receivable portfolios, which were
accounted for off-balance sheet for the first four

portfolios totalling $3.0 billion, particularly the
business aircraft and receivable factoring 
portfolios, as well as a decline in the inventory
finance portfolio and the commercial aircraft
interim financing portfolio. The strengthening
of the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S.
dollar accounted for approximately $680 million
of the decrease in finance receivables and
assets under operating leases. 

BC also manages a railcar leasing portfolio,
accounted for off-balance sheet, totalling
$864 million, and other off-balance sheet port-
folios totalling $84 million as at January 31,
2004, compared to $1.0 billion and $179 mil-
lion, respectively, as at January 31, 2003. 

Average assets under management (defined 
as average finance receivables and assets
under operating leases, as well as the railcar

During fiscal year 2004, BC continued to focus
on leveraging its core business competencies
in inventory finance, while continuing with 
the reduction of its wind-down portfolios.
Substantial progress was made in reducing
the wind-down portfolios, resulting in an
improved overall risk profile for BC. BC intends
to continue with the reduction of its wind-
down portfolios in the coming year. Emphasis
will continue to be placed on lowering the 
overall risk profile, strengthening the balance
sheet and controlling operating expenses.

Finance receivables and assets under oper-
ating leases before allowance for credit losses
amounted to $4.9 billion as at January 31,
2004, compared to $8.5 billion as at January 31,
2003. This 43% decrease is primarily due 
to the continued reduction in the wind-down
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months of the preceding fiscal year, partially
offset the decrease. 

BC’s EBT amounted to $73 million for fiscal
year 2004, compared to $104 million in fiscal
year 2003. This decrease is mainly due to the
decrease in net margin resulting from the reduc-
tion of the wind-down portfolios, partially offset
by a decrease in non-interest expenses, as well
as a decrease in provision for credit losses.

Continued portfolios
Inventory finance 
BC’s inventory finance activities provide floor-
plan financing on a secured basis to retailers
purchasing inventory products in the U.S. and
Canada. The primary markets are manufac-
tured housing, marine products and motorized
recreational vehicles.

The inventory finance portfolio amounted to
$2.5 billion as at January 31, 2004, compared
to $3.0 billion as at January 31, 2003. The
decrease in the inventory finance portfolio 
is mainly due to the strengthening of the
Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar. 

In connection with the sale of the recre-
ational products segment, BC entered into an
agreement with the purchaser for inventory
financing for a maximum amount of $750 mil-
lion US ($995 million) for a renewable period of
five years. Under the agreement, BC acts as
the exclusive provider of floorplan financing 
to retailers of BRP- (the former recreational 
products segment of the Corporation) manu-
factured products (excluding outboard engine
products). During the terms of the agreement,
BC has agreed not to provide retailer floorplan
financing related to products of direct com-
petitors of BRP (excluding outboard engine
products). As at January 31, 2004, 29.7% or
$735 million of the total inventory finance port-
folio related to this agreement. 

Receivable financing with BRP
BC also entered into an agreement to provide
receivable financing to BRP. The agreement is
for a maximum of $115 million US ($153 million)
and expires in June 2005. BC funds receiv-

$1.2 billion as at January 31, 2003. The loan-
to-value ratio of the third-party loans and
finance leases portfolio was 92.2% as at
January 31, 2004, compared to 92.3% as at
January 31, 2003. 

During fiscal year 2004, the Corporation sold
a significant portion of BC’s business aircraft
loans and finance leases portfolio for $339 mil-
lion US ($475 million) at the carrying value of
the assets sold. Payment of $42 million US
($56 million) is conditional upon the per-
formance of the portfolio sold. This amount is
presented in other assets on the consolidated
balance sheets.

BC expects to continue to reduce this port-
folio over the next three to five years through
normal collections.

Manufactured housing
Manufactured housing finance activities pro-
vided U.S. retailers with financing services for
consumer purchases of manufactured homes. 

This portfolio amounted to $310 million as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $434 million as
at January 31, 2003. BC expects the wind-down
to be completed over the next several years.

Manufactured housing portfolios in public
securitization vehicles amounting to $1.6 bil-
lion as at January 31, 2004 ($2.1 billion as at
January 31, 2003) are also serviced by BC.

Consumer finance
Consumer finance activities involved secured
loans designed to enable consumers to acquire
recreational products and services.

This portfolio amounted to $195 million as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $342 million as
at January 31, 2003. BC expects that the wind-
down of this portfolio will be substantially
completed within the next three fiscal years.

Industrial equipment
BC’s industrial equipment portfolio consists
mainly of loans and finance leases to compa-
nies in the ski industry.

The portfolio amounted to $88 million as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $115 million

ables, subject to certain eligibility criteria, for
BRP’s North American and European subsi-
diaries. Funding takes place in U.S. dollars and
currency risk is retained by BRP.

The amount outstanding as at January 31,
2004 relates entirely to this agreement.

Commercial aircraft 
BC provides interim financing support to
Bombardier Aerospace regional aircraft cus-
tomers until permanent third-party financing
is arranged. 

The commercial aircraft portfolio amounted
to $1.1 billion as at January 31, 2004, compared
to $1.3 billion as at January 31, 2003. This
decrease is mainly due to the strengthening of
the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar. 

BC will continue to provide interim financing
support for regional aircraft sales while awaiting
permanent financing arrangements. Manage-
ment has established a limit of 60 aircraft or
$1.0 billion US outstanding for these activities. 

Wind-down portfolios
Significant progress was made in reducing the
wind-down portfolios during fiscal year 2004.
Finance receivables and assets under operat-
ing leases related to the wind-down portfolios
declined 71.1%, or $3.0 billion during the fiscal
year ended January 31, 2004, mainly due to 
a $2.6-billion decrease in assets related to 
business aircraft and factored receivables.

Business aircraft 
BC’s business aircraft portfolio consists of loans
and finance leases to third-party purchasers of
new and pre-owned business aircraft, presented
in finance receivables. This portfolio also includes
pre-owned aircraft with respect to trade-in busi-
ness aircraft, mainly from the aerospace
segment, presented in assets under operat-
ing leases. 

This portfolio amounted to $496 million as 
at January 31, 2004, compared to $2.0 billion
as at January 31, 2003. This portfolio included
$265 million of third-party loans and finance
leases as at January 31, 2004, compared to
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as at January 31, 2003. Following BC’s decision
to no longer originate loans in this portfolio,
the portfolio was reclassified from continuing
to wind-down portfolios during the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2004.

Railcar leasing 
These activities consisted of third-party freight
railcar leasing, as well as full-service mainte-
nance and/or management services to owners
and users of freight railcars in North American
markets. BC purchased freight railcars, 
typically from a third-party manufacturer, 
and subsequently entered into a sale and
leaseback arrangement with a financial 
institution. The financial institution assumed
ownership of the asset with BC as the lessee.
BC then sub-leased the asset to the actual
user of the equipment, typically for three to
seven years. The diversified fleet averages 
six years of age.

The on-balance sheet portion of the portfo-
lio amounted to $51 million as at January 31,
2004, compared to $61 million as at January 31,
2003. The portion of the off-balance sheet
portfolio totalled $864 million as at January 31,
2004, compared to $1.0 billion as at January 31,
2003. The reduction is mainly due to the
strengthening of the Canadian dollar com-
pared to the U.S. dollar.

The average utilization rate was 93% for fis-
cal year 2004, compared to 88% the previous
fiscal year.

BC expects the wind-down of this portfolio
to occur over the next 10 years due to its long-
term nature.

Receivable factoring
BC’s receivable factoring portfolio consisted of
third-party trade receivables, which originated
from the Corporation’s manufacturing segments.

This portfolio had no outstanding balance as
at January 31, 2004, compared to $1.0 billion as
at January 31, 2003. Following the Corporation’s
decision to exit these activities, the wind-down
of this portfolio has been completed through
normal course collections. 

BC strives to minimize its overall debt costs
while ensuring that interest margins are pro-
tected from adverse interest rate movements.
To achieve this objective, BC seeks to match
the interest rate characteristics of its assets 
and liabilities by using derivative financial instru-
ments as part of an asset/liability management
program to reduce its overall financial risk. BC
is not an interest-rate swap dealer, nor is it a
trader in derivative securities, and has not and
will not use speculative derivative products for
the purposes of generating earnings from
changes in market conditions.

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal controls, 
systems and people or unforeseen external
events. In order to mitigate these risks, BC
regularly reviews its operating processes, 
policies and controls. It continues to proactively
refine its risk management processes within
the governance structure of the Corporation
to effectively identify, measure and mitigate
various risk exposures.

Residual value risks, mostly related to the
commercial aircraft long-term leasing and 
to “other” wind-down portfolios, stem from the
potential variance between the estimated
residual value at lease inception and the actual
value of the assets upon termination of the
lease. BC regularly assesses its exposure 
to residual values and has put systems and
procedures in place to monitor and mitigate
these risks.

Other
The other category consists of the technology
management and finance, mid-market com-
mercial equipment finance and small ticket
finance portfolios.

This portfolio amounted to $92 million as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $235 million
the previous fiscal year. The wind-down of
these portfolios is expected to be substantially
completed within one year.

Allowance for credit losses
Allowance for credit losses totalled $76 million
as at January 31, 2004, compared to $151 mil-
lion as at January 31, 2003. The decrease is
mainly attributable to the progress made in
the reduction of wind-down portfolios and the
corresponding decline in the allowance related
to these finance receivables. The amount of
the allowance for the continuing portfolios was
$38 million or 1.1% of finance receivables as
at January 31, 2004, compared to $44 million
or 1.1% of finance receivables as at January 31,
2003. The allowance for the wind-down portfo-
lios amounted to $38 million or 4.3% of finance
receivables as at January 31, 2004, compared
to $107 million or 3.3% as at January 31, 2003.
Compared to the wind-down portfolios, the
continuing portfolios warrant a lower percent-
age of allowance due to a lower credit risk
profile derived from credit enhancements, such
as repurchase agreements, loan guarantees
and better collateral and loan-to-value positions. 

Risk management 
Effective risk management is essential for BC
to achieve its strategic goal of return commen-
surate with risks in the businesses. Risks that
could affect the performance of BC are regularly
identified, measured and monitored. These
risks include credit, interest rate, operational
and residual value risks.

BC controls the credit risk of its portfolios by
setting limits on the total amount outstanding,
obtaining collateral, monitoring the size,
maturity and structure of the portfolios and by
applying appropriate credit standards.
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The allowance for credit losses is maintained
at a level BC considers adequate to reflect the
probable impairment in its portfolios attributa-
ble to credit risk. A loan is considered impaired
if it is probable that BC will be unable to collect
all amounts due according to the contractual
terms of the loan agreement. A loan may be
evaluated for impairment due to its past-due
status or deterioration in the creditworthiness
of the borrower. BC gauges its requirements
for the allowance for credit losses consider-
ing both individual and collective loan balances.
Loans at higher risk of default are evaluated
individually for impairment by assessing the

Real estate services
Through Bombardier’s real estate services, 
BC derives revenues from the development
of Bombardier real estate assets earmarked
for new uses, and from activities designed 
to meet the real estate needs of other
Bombardier businesses.

Other revenues are generated from the sale
of land to real estate developers, which involves
the establishment of an urban residential 
community with integrated commercial and
service infrastructures on land adjacent 
to the Bombardier Aerospace facilities in
Montréal, Canada.

value of the collateral and the repayment 
ability of the borrower, which may result in a
specific reserve. All other loans are evaluated
collectively by grouping similar loans into pools
based on credit and other risk characteristics.
Allowance for credit losses for loans evaluated
collectively for impairment typically reflect his-
torical charge-off experience, but are adjusted
as necessary to reflect current conditions that
could potentially influence near-term credit 
loss estimates. Conditions that are considered
include credit quality metrics, collateral values,
industry performance and the impact of recent
general economic conditions.
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Liquidi ty  and 
capi ta l  resources
Financial position
Bombardier
Consolidated assets for the manufacturing 
segments amounted to $20.4 billion as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $20.8 billion 
as at January 31, 2003, for a decrease of 
$356 million. This decrease results from the
sale of the recreational products segment and
a decrease in property, plant and equipment,
partially offset by an increase in cash and cash
equivalents and inventories. 

Inventories are presented net of the related
advances and progress billings on contracts
and programs. However, advances and progress
billings in excess of related costs, determined
on a contract-by-contract basis, are reported 
as liabilities.

Gross inventories as at January 31, 2004
were $9.6 billion ($5.8 billion net of advances
and progress billings), compared to $9.9 bil-
lion ($5.3 billion net of advances and progress
billings) as at January 31, 2003. Total advances
and progress billings amounted to $7.4 billion
as at January 31, 2004, compared to $8.4 bil-
lion as at January 31, 2003, $3.6 billion and
$3.8 billion of which, respectively, are shown
as liabilities as at January 31, 2004 compared 
to January 31, 2003. The reduction in gross
inventories as at January 31, 2004 compared
to January 31, 2003 is mainly due to lower 
finished goods in the aerospace segment and
the effect of the strengthening of the Canadian
dollar compared to the U.S. dollar, which had
a net impact of approximately $425 million,
partially offset by higher inventories in the
transportation segment, due to the timing of
work performed on contracts. The decrease 
in total advances as at January 31, 2004 
compared to January 31, 2003 is mainly due 
to a different mix of contracts in the transpor-
tation segment.

In April 2003, the Corporation issued 370 mil-
lion Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) at a
price of $3.25 per share, for total net proceeds
of $1.2 billion.

Deferred translation adjustment included 
in shareholders’ equity was a debit amount of
$236 million as at January 31, 2004, compared
to a credit amount of $157 million at the end
of the previous fiscal year. This variation results
mainly from the strengthening of the Canadian
dollar compared to the U.S. dollar and the 
sterling pound in fiscal year 2004.

BC
Finance receivables before allowance for 
credit losses amounted to $4.2 billion as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $7.2 billion as
at January 31, 2003. This decrease is mainly
due to the continued reduction in the wind-
down portfolios and a decrease in the inventory
finance portfolio. It also reflects the impact of
a stronger Canadian dollar compared to the
U.S. dollar, which resulted in a reduction of
approximately $590 million.

Assets under operating leases amounted 
to $626 million as at January 31, 2004, com-
pared to $1.4 billion as at January 31, 2003.
This decrease is mainly due to the continued
reduction in the business aircraft portfolio, as
well as a decrease in the commercial aircraft
portfolio. It is also due to the strengthening of the
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar, which
had an impact of approximately $90 million.

Cash flows
Bombardier
Bombardier’s cash flows used in operating
activities amounted to $746 million for fiscal
year 2004, compared to cash flows from oper-
ating activities of $1.3 billion the previous fiscal
year, for a change of $2.1 billion. This change
results from cash flows from operating activi-
ties before net changes in non-cash balances

Property, plant and equipment as at January 31,
2004 amounted to $4.6 billion, compared to
$5.2 billion as at January 31, 2003. This
decrease results mainly from the write-downs
of property, plant and equipment, amounting 
to $211 million, related to the restructuring ini-
tiative in the transportation segment, disposals
of property, plant and equipment for $147 mil-
lion, as well as the weakening of the U.S. dollar
compared to the Canadian dollar, which had
an impact of approximately $130 million. 

Goodwill amounted to $3.0 billion as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $3.2 billion as
at January 31, 2003. This decrease is mainly
due to foreign exchange fluctuations.

Bombardier decreased its investment in
equity and subordinated debt in BC from
$1.3 billion to $1.1 billion during fiscal year 2004. 

Other assets amounted to $1.0 billion as at
January 31, 2004, compared to $758 million as
at January 31, 2003. This increase is mainly due
to increases in loans and investments related to
financing structures in the aerospace segment.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
amounted to $8.7 billion as at January 31, 2004,
compared to $8.5 billion as at January 31,
2003. This increase is mainly due to higher
sales incentives and related provisions in 
the aerospace segment, as well as severance 
provisions recorded in connection with the
restructuring initiative in the transportation
segment, partially offset by the weakening of
the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian 
dollar, which had an impact of approximately
$200 million. 

Long-term debt amounted to $2.8 billion as
at January 31, 2004, compared to $3.1 billion
as at January 31, 2003. This decrease is mainly
due to the repayment of long-term debt of
$192 million and the weakening of the U.S.
dollar and the sterling pound compared to the
Canadian dollar, which had an impact of approx-
imately $180 million. 
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related to operations of $961 million in fiscal
year 2004, compared to $778 million the 
previous year and from the net changes in 
non-cash balances of negative $1.7 billion,
compared to positive $553 million for the 
previous year. The change in non-cash balances
for fiscal year 2004 is mainly due to the impact
of the decision to cease financing activities
with BC for the factoring of receivables and
pre-owned business aircraft, which had an
impact of $1.6 billion, and a decrease in total
customer advances received, mainly in the
transportation segment. Note 21 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements provides
information on the net changes in non-cash
balances related to operations.

Bombardier’s net additions to property, plant
and equipment totalled $270 million in fiscal
year 2004, compared to $636 million in fiscal
year 2003. This reduction is mainly due to lower
capital expenditures for aerospace program
tooling and higher proceeds from the sale of
property, plant and equipment, mainly in the
transportation segment. Note 26 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements provides
the distribution of property, plant and equip-
ment, intangible assets and goodwill by
geographic location.

As a result, Bombardier’s free cash flow,
defined as cash flows from operations less
net additions to property, plant and equipment,
amounted to a use of $1.0 billion for fiscal year
2004, compared to a free cash flow of
$695 million the previous fiscal year. Free cash
flow is a non-GAAP measure and is derived
directly from the statement of cash flows;
others using the term may calculate free cash
flow differently.

year 2003. The cash flows for fiscal year 2004
reflect the net proceeds of $1.2 billion from
the issuance of 370 million Class B Shares
(Subordinate Voting), partially offset by the
repayment of long-term debt and short-term
borrowings totalling $558 million, as well as
dividend payments of $189 million. The cash
flows used in financing activities in fiscal year
2003 reflect the repayment of short-term 
borrowings of $1.1 billion and dividend pay-
ments of $278 million, partially offset by the
issuance of long-term debt for $893 million
and the net proceeds from the issuance of 
9.4 million Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of $228 million.

Cash used by discontinued operations
amounted to $227 million for fiscal year 2004,
compared to cash flows from discontinued
operations of $125 million for fiscal year 2003.

As a result of the previously-mentioned items,
Bombardier’s cash and cash equivalents, 
net of short-term borrowings, amounted to
$1.6 billion as at January 31, 2004, compared
to $361 million as at January 31, 2003.

BC
BC’s cash flows from operating activities
amounted to $163 million for the year ended
January 31, 2004, compared to $491 million for
the previous fiscal year. The lower cash flows
from operating activities for fiscal year 2004 are
mainly the result of a decrease in net changes
in non-cash balances related to operations, 
primarily arising from changes in receivables
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

BC’s cash flows from investing activities
amounted to $1.3 billion in fiscal year 2004,
compared to $1.1 billion in fiscal year 2003.

Bombardier’s cash flows from investing
activities in fiscal year 2004 included net 
proceeds of $930 million, relating to the sale
of the recreational products segment, MAS
and the Belfast City Airport.

During fiscal year 2004, BC made advances
and subordinated loans to Bombardier totalling
$778 million, mainly as a result of cash 
generated from the reduction in the wind-
down portfolios.

Bombardier’s cash flows from financing
activities amounted to $483 million in fiscal
year 2004, compared to cash flows used in
financing activities of $249 million in fiscal 
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The cash flows in fiscal year 2004 reflect a net
decrease in finance receivables and assets
under operating leases of $2.5 billion, mainly
due to the continued reduction in the wind-
down portfolios, partially offset by the net
change in advances and subordinated loans to
Bombardier of $778 million and loans made 
in connection with a financing transaction
entered into for term-debt management. 
The cash flows in fiscal year 2003 reflect a net
decrease in finance receivables and assets
under operating leases of $1.3 billion, mainly 
due to a reduction in the wind-down portfolios.

BC’s cash flows used in financing activities
amounted to $1.8 billion for fiscal year 2004,
compared to $1.4 billion for the same period
last year. Cash flows used in financing 
activities in the current fiscal year reflect the
repayment of long-term debt and short-term
borrowings of $1.3 billion and $1.7 billion
respectively, partially offset by the issuance 
of long-term debt of $1.2 billion. Cash flows
used in financing activities for fiscal year 2003
reflect the repayment of long-term debt and
short-term borrowings of $2.1 billion and
$708 million respectively, partially offset by the
issuance of long-term debt of $1.4 billion.

Capital resources
Total committed credit facilities were $7.9 bil-
lion for Bombardier and $1.3 billion for BC,
$2.1 billion and $1.0 billion of which, respec-
tively, were available as at January 31, 2004. Of 
these credit facilities, 76% have maturities of
two years or more. Taking into consideration
$1.6 billion of cash and cash equivalents, the
Corporation had a total of $4.7 billion of short-
term capital resources as at January 31, 2004. 

credit facility for an amount of $730 million
(previously $750 million). The committed
five-year $1.0-billion portion of this facility
matures in September 2005. On July 9, 2003,
Bombardier renewed the 364-day portion 
of its European credit facility for an amount of
€560 million (previously €600 million). The
committed five-year €3.2-billion ($5.2-billion)
portion of this facility matures in July 2007.

On July 28, 2003, Bombardier repaid, at 
maturity, debentures amounting to $150 million.

On April 17, 2003, the Corporation issued
370 million Class B Shares (Subordinate
Voting) at a price of $3.25 per share. The net
proceeds from this issue amounted to 
$1.2 billion.

Bombardier’s two main syndicated credit
facilities include a covenant whereby the ratio
of Bombardier’s total debt (defined essentially
as short-term borrowings and long-term debt
less subordinated debt and cash and cash
equivalents) to Bombardier’s total capitaliza-
tion (total debt as defined, plus shareholders’
equity and subordinated debt) should not
exceed 50% as at January 31, 2004 and there-
after at each of the Corporation’s quarter end.
As at January 31, 2004, the Corporation was
in compliance with this covenant.

In April 2002, the Corporation issued notes
amounting to $550 million US ($866 million)
in the term-debt market, which mature on 
May 1, 2012. These notes bear interest at
6.75% per year. Also, on March 8, 2002, 
the Corporation issued 9.4 million Series 4
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares,
carrying a fixed cumulative preferential cash
dividend of 6.25% per year. The net proceeds
from this issue amounted to $228 million.

Total availability under Bombardier’s lines 
of credit decreased by $1.2 billion for the 
year ended January 31, 2004, and cash and
cash equivalents increased by $863 million,
for a net decrease in short-term capital
resources of $371 million. This net decrease
results mainly from free cash flows used 
during the year ended January 31, 2004, an
increase in the amount of letters of credit
issued under Bombardier credit facilities, 
and the repayment of long-term debt, partially
offset by the net proceeds of $1.2 billion from
the issuance of 370 million Class B Shares
(Subordinate Voting), proceeds from divesti-
tures amounting to $930 million, and the 
net change in advances and subordinated 
loans to Bombardier from BC amounting to
$778 million.

BC’s availability under lines of credit
decreased by $317 million for the year ended
January 31, 2004, and cash and cash equiv-
alents decreased by $287 million, for a net
decrease in short-term capital resources 
of $604 million. This net decrease results
mainly from the non-renewal of two facilities
of $470 million and $400 million US respec-
tively, in accordance with BC’s expected future
requirements, the net change in advances and
subordinated loans to Bombardier amounting
to $778 million, as well as a translation 
adjustment arising from the weakening of 
the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar.
This was partially offset by cash flows from
the reduction in the wind-down portfolios.

Bombardier
On September 9, 2003, Bombardier renewed
the 364-day portion of its North American
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BC
In September 2003, two 364-day revolving
credit facilities amounting to $470 million and
$400 million US ($546 million) were not
renewed consistent with the reduced expected
future cash requirements. In March 2003, BC
also terminated a $50-million US uncommit-
ted bilateral bank facility. BC’s remaining
revolving facility of $600 million US ($796 mil-
lion) matures in July 2005.

On July 28, 2003 and February 20, 2003,
BC repaid, at maturity, notes and debentures
amounting to $100 million and $250 million,
respectively. In addition, on November 21,
2003, BC repaid, at maturity, notes amount-
ing to $235 million US ($306 million).

During fiscal year 2003, BC issued notes
amounting to €500 million ($703 million) and
£300 million ($677 million) in the European
market, maturing in May 2007 and May 2009
respectively. The net proceeds from these
offerings were swapped into U.S. dollars and
were used, in part, to repay maturing long-
term debt at BC amounting to $1.2 billion US
($1.9 billion) and ¥6.0 billion ($73 million). 
In addition, a maturing $150-million bond 
was repaid on June 7, 2002. The exceeding
maturities were repaid through cash flow 
from operations and proceeds from the wind-
down portfolios.

The details of the available and outstanding
amounts under the bank credit facilities, as
well as the amount of outstanding borrowings
as at January 31, 2004 and 2003 are pro-
vided in notes 11 and 13 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

that specify determinable prices and quanti-
ties, as well as long-term delivery timeframes.
These agreements require suppliers to build
and deliver components in time to meet the
Corporation’s production schedules. Such
arrangements arise as a result of the extended
production planning horizon for many of the
Corporation’s products, in which the delivery of
products to customers arises over an extended

Obligations maturing in fiscal year 2005 are
expected to be repaid out of Bombardier’s
liquidities. 

Bombardier anticipates renewing its
short-term credit facilities of €560 million
($925 million) and $730 million maturing in fis-
cal year 2005 at similar commitment levels. 

The Corporation has entered into certain 
significant inventory procurement contracts

Liquidity
The following table summarizes Bombardier’s obligation to make future payments on long-term
debt, lease obligations and other obligations as at January 31, 2004, as well as the expected
timing of these payments.

Bombardier
L E S S  T H A N 1  T O  3 4  T O  5

T O T A L 1  Y E A R Y E A R S Y E A R S T H E R E A F T E R

Long-term debt $2,700 $ 40 $ 830 $ 860 $ 970

Capital lease obligations 81 1 2 1 77

Operating lease obligations (1) 1,548 237 369 243 699

Outsourcing commitments 1,102 257 445 348 52

Other obligations (2) 634 93 101 89 351

$6,065 $628 $1,747 $1,541 $2,149

(1) Includes sale and leaseback and operating lease obligations discussed in note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) Includes mainly repayment requirements in connection with sales incentives offered in the aerospace segment. 

Bombardier BC

Total borrowings
Bombardier Inc. consolidated
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Obligations maturing in fiscal year 2005 are
expected to be repaid out of BC’s liquidities.
BC has no committed bank credit facilities,
bank loans, or other credit facilities maturing in
fiscal year 2005. A $600-million US ($796-
million) committed bank line matures in fiscal
year 2006. Committed short-term borrowings
of $527 million, related to securitized floorplan
activities, matures in fiscal year 2005. The
Corporation expects the securitized floorplan
facilities to be renewed at similar commitment
levels and under existing conditions.

During fiscal years 2004 and 2003, BC’s
activities on the securitization market in con-
nection with the inventory finance portfolios
were as follows:

BC
L E S S  T H A N 1  T O  3 4  T O  5

T O T A L 1  Y E A R Y E A R S Y E A R S T H E R E A F T E R

Medium-term notes, 
notes and other $4,019 $1,056 $1,068 $1,130 $ 765

Securitized floorplan 1,274 80 1,194 – –

Operating lease obligations (1) 1,532 91 211 169 1,061

$6,825 $1,227 $2,473 $1,299 $1,826

(1) Includes sale and leaseback and operating lease obligations discussed in note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

T O T A L U . S .  D O L L A R
A M O U N T S C U R R E N C Y

D R A W N R E N E W A L C O M P O N E N T M A T U R I T Y

Balance as at January 31, 2002 $1,891
Renewed – Conduits: – $140 – Aug. 2003

– 234 150 Oct. 2003
– 234 150 Oct. 2003
– 666 427 Aug. 2003

Increased – Conduits: 80 – June 2004
66 50 Oct. 2003

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 52
Balance as at January 31, 2003 2,089

Renewed – Conduits: – 140 – Aug. 2004
– 198 150 Oct. 2004
– 198 150 Oct. 2004

Issued – Public asset-backed securities 554 400 Aug. 2005
646 500 Dec. 2005

Decreased – Conduits: (139) (105) Oct. 2004
(145) (110) Oct. 2004

(80) – June 2004
Repaid – Conduits: (592) (427) Aug. 2003

(540) (400) Sept. 2003
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes (211)

Balance as at January 31, 2004 $1,582

period of time. A significant portion of these
commitments is either supported by firm 
contracts with customers or is mitigated
through risk sharing arrangements with 
suppliers. Although there are no plans to do so,
if any of the Corporation’s aerospace programs
or long-term contracts were to be terminated,
the Corporation would be exposed to poten-
tially material termination costs. These commit-
ments, as well as long-term commitments
related to regular purchases of raw materials,
are not included in the preceding table.

The Corporation considers that its current
credit facilities, as well as expected capital
resources, will enable the implementation of
investment programs, the development of new
products, the pursued growth of its activities,
the payment of dividends and other expected
financial requirements.

The following table summarizes BC’s obli-
gation to make future payments on long-term
debt, lease obligations and other obligations
as at January 31, 2004, as well as the expected
timing of these payments.
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Credit support
The indentures governing BC’s long-term debt
and credit facilities provide for substantially
similar covenant and “keepwell” packages
from the Corporation. Bombardier Inc.’s keep-
well agreements provide for minimum
ownership of 51% in BC and for the injection
of equity in the event that certain minimum
net worth levels are not met or if a fixed charge
coverage ratio falls below 1.2. Finally, these
indentures provide for the undertaking of
Bombardier Inc. to maintain the existing cross-
default provision in the indenture governing
the Corporation’s $150-million debentures due
in 2026, as well as to provide for similar
cross-default provisions in all of its future 
public debt. 

Credit events
Certain of the Corporation’s financial commit-
ments include provisions that could become
effective in the event of a rating downgrade
of the Corporation.

A rating downgrade below investment 
grade could result in the reimbursement of
customer advances amounting to $170 million
in the aerospace segment. In addition, the
Corporation may be required to repurchase at
fair value of $26 million US ($34 million) as at
January 31, 2004, the call options related to
the Putable/Callable notes due in 2013, should
the call holder elect early termination. The
Putable/Callable notes amounting to $300 mil-
lion US ($398 million) would become repayable
at the next coupon reset date (May 31, 2004),
immediately following such a downgrade.
Furthermore, BC has entered into an interest-
rate swap agreement whereby the counterparty
has an optional early termination right in the
event of a rating downgrade below investment
grade of the Corporation by either Moody’s
Investor Services Inc. or Standard & Poor’s.The
estimated settlement value as at January 31,
2004 is not significant.

A rating downgrade by Dominion Bond Rating
Services Ltd. could result in the wind-down 
of $200 million of a BC securitization conduit
($80 million outstanding as at January 31,

the U.K. facility was renewed at £50 million,
the same level as last year. The U.S. facility
provides for a 364-day purchase commitment
for trade receivables originating from North
American manufacturing operations, while the
U.K. facility is an uncommitted facility to pur-
chase trade receivables from U.K.-based
Bombardier Transportation operations. These
securitization activities replaced Bombardier
receivable factoring activities historically carried
out through BC. The Corporation received pro-
ceeds of $905 million and $477 million on the
sale of trade receivables for the U.S. and U.K.
facilities respectively during fiscal year 2004.
The amounts sold and outstanding with
respect to the U.S. and U.K. facilities were
$118 million as at January 31, 2004 and
$169 million as at January 31, 2003. In addition,
in December 2003, Bombardier entered into a
€100-million ($165-million) four-year factoring
arrangement with a third party, ($60 million
outstanding as at January 31, 2004) for cer-
tain receivables originating from Bombardier
Transportation’s German operations.

c) Other arrangements
In the aerospace segment, Bombardier has
entered into various agreements with third
parties, through which it sells rights under 
certain manufacturing contracts on an ongoing
basis. The amount of the rights sold totalled 
$170 million as at January 31, 2004, compared
to $369 million as at January 31, 2003. These
are accounted for as advances received and
deducted from inventories or presented as
advances in excess of related costs. In con-
nection with these sales, the Corporation has
provided recourse to one purchaser amounting
to $17 million as at January 31, 2004. The
Corporation’s maximum exposure under 
this recourse is included in note 24 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Revenues
and related profits on sales of aircraft are 
recognized on delivery and the sale of rights
does not result in the acceleration of revenue
or profit recognition.

The Corporation provides administrative
services to special-purpose entities (SPEs) 

2004). Also, a rating downgrade below invest-
ment grade by either Moody’s Investor
Services Inc. or Standard & Poor’s could result
in the wind-down of $125 million US ($166 mil-
lion) of Bombardier securitiza-tion conduits
($72 million outstanding as at January 31, 2004).

As of March 17, 2004, the following invest-
ment grade ratings applied to the long-term
debt of the Corporation:

R A T I N G  A G E N C Y R A T I N G

Moody’s Investor Services Inc. Baa3
Standard & Poor’s BBB-
Fitch Ratings BBB-
Dominion Bond Rating Service Limited BBB

Off-balance sheet
arrangements
Financial arrangements 
In the normal course of business, the 
Corporation finances certain activities through
off-balance sheet transactions, consisting 
of leases, securitizations and others arrange-
ments.

a) Leases
The Corporation leases certain of its buildings
and equipment from others, and assumes
operating lease obligations in connection with
the sale of new aircraft. The Corporation
finances freight cars, used aircraft and trans-
portation equipment through sale and
leaseback structures. The Corporation’s undis-
counted minimum lease payments under such
leases amounted to $1.5 billion for operating
leases and $1.6 billion for sale and leaseback
transactions as at January 31, 2004. These
commitments are disclosed in note 24 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

b) Securitizations 
Bombardier
In January 2004, Bombardier renewed its
third-party U.S. and U.K. facilities for the secu-
ritization of trade receivables generated in the
normal course of business. The U.S. facility
was renewed at $125 million US (down from
$200 million US as at January 31, 2003) and
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created for the purpose of financing certain
aircraft sales of the Corporation in return for
a market fee. As at January 31, 2004, the
Corporation had a net investment amounting to
$42 million US ($56 million) in one of the SPEs.
The Corporation’s maximum exposure from addi-
tional support to the SPEs is included in note 24
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

BC services a portfolio of loans related to
the manufactured housing business, currently
being wound down, in return for a market fee.
The outstanding amount of this portfolio as at
January 31, 2004 was $1.6 billion ($2.1 billion
as at January 31, 2003).

Derivative instruments
The Corporation’s financial exposures are 
managed through a central treasury in accor-
dance with the Corporation’s foreign exchange
policy and procedures. The derivative financial
instrument counter-parties are all investment
grade financial institutions. The Corporation
does not use derivative instruments for trading
or speculative purposes. The derivative financial
instruments consist mainly of forward foreign
exchange contracts, interest-rate swap agree-
ments, cross-currency interest-rate swap
agreements and interest-rate cap agreements
used to manage currency and interest rate risks.

The Corporation uses derivative financial
instruments to manage currency exposure 
arising from forecasted foreign currency cash
flows, mainly the U.S. dollar and the sterling
pound and, in the transportation segment, 
various Western European currencies. Most
of the forward foreign exchange contracts 
are denominated in currencies of major 
industrial countries (see note 22 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for details).
In the North American operations, forward 
foreign exchange contracts are mainly to sell
U.S. dollars and buy Canadian dollars. In the
European operations, forward foreign exchange
contracts mainly allow the sale or purchase of
U.S. dollars, sterling pounds, euros and other
Western European currencies. To the extent
that the forward foreign exchange contracts
are used to hedge off-balance sheet forecasted

counterparties, in the event of a default, set off
rights against certain loans.

Interest-rate cap agreements are used as a
hedge against the exposure of the Corporation
from interest rate increase protection granted
in connection with certain sale commitments.

The Corporation’s currency and interest rate
hedging programs are typically unaffected 
by changes in market conditions, as forward 
foreign exchange contracts and interest-rate
swaps are generally held to maturity consistent
with the objective to lock in currency rates and
interest rate spreads on the hedged item.

Generally, gains and losses related to deriv-
ative financial instruments are recorded in the
same category as the hedged item. For exam-
ple, when the hedged item is a forecasted
foreign currency sale, gains and losses are
included in revenue. When the hedged item
is a forecasted foreign currency cost, gains or
losses are generally included in cost of sales.
Receipt and payments under interest-rate swap
agreements are generally recognized in inter-
est expense.

The fair value of derivative financial instru-
ments as at January 31, 2004 and 2003 is
presented in note 22 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Financing commitments
Manufacturers of commercial aircraft custom-
arily provide financing support to facilitate their
customers’ access to capital. This support may
take a variety of forms including providing
assistance to customers in accessing and
structuring debt and equity for aircraft acqui-
sitions, or providing assurance that debt 
and equity are available to finance such 
acquisitions. Bombardier may provide interim
financing to customers while permanent
financing is being arranged.

As at January 31, 2004, Bombardier had
outstanding financing commitments to 10 cus-
tomers amounting to $4.6 billion, net of
third-party financing already arranged. It is
anticipated that the aircraft related to these
financing commitments will be delivered 
during the next six fiscal years. Total customer

foreign currency cash flows, offsetting changes
in the fair values of the hedged transaction
and the hedging instrument are not recognized
in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Effective February 1, 2004, the Corporation
changed its functional currencies for most of
the operations in the aerospace segment and
for the North American operations in the trans-
portation segment to the U.S. dollar (see note
27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
As a result, the forward foreign exchange con-
tract portfolio used to hedge forecasted foreign
currency cash flows has been realigned to the
new currency exposure.

The Corporation also uses derivative financial
instruments to manage the impact of fluctuating
interest rates, arising mainly on existing assets
and liabilities and financial commitments.
Bombardier’s interest-rate swap agreements
convert certain financial obligations related to
operating leases from variable to fixed interest
rates. BC’s interest-rate swap agreements
convert certain long-term debts and certain
finance receivables from fixed to variable inter-
est rates. BC enters into cross-currency
interest-rate swap agreements in order to limit
its exposure to interest rate fluctuations and
manage its currency exposure. The cross-
currency interest-rate swap agreements modify
the characteristics of certain long-term debt,
from the euro and the sterling pound to the
U.S. dollar, and they also convert the interest
rate from fixed to variable to match the variable
interest of the corresponding finance receiv-
ables. Interest-rate swaps are sensitive to
changes in interest rates. Interest rate changes
result in offsetting fair value gains or losses on
long-term debt or financial obligations and
interest-rate swaps, due to differences
between current market interest rates and the
stated interest rates within the instruments. A
similar analogy can be made for the changes
in foreign currency rates and their impact on
the value of the offsetting forecasted foreign
currency cash flows and forward foreign
exchange contracts. Agreements governing
the Corporation’s derivative transactions 
contain certain standard provisions awarding
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financing arranged by the Corporation in fiscal
year 2004 amounted to $4.8 billion.

Bombardier anticipates that it will be able
to satisfy its financing commitments to its cus-
tomers in fiscal year 2005 through third-party
financing. However, Bombardier’s ability to 
satisfy its financing commitments may be
affected by further financial difficulties in 
the commercial airline industry in general and
of certain customers in particular, and the
Corporation’s current and future credit condition.

Commitments and contingencies
In connection with the sale of certain of its
products, mainly aircraft, the Corporation 
provides financing support on behalf of certain
customers in the form of credit and residual
value guarantees in order to enhance their abil-
ity to arrange third-party financing for their
asset acquisition. These are described in note
24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit guarantees are triggered if customers
do not perform during the term of the financ-
ing (ranging from 2 to 20 years) under the
relevant financing arrangements. Credit 
guarantees provide support through limited
payments to the guaranteed party to mitigate
default-related losses. These guarantees are
collateralized by the underlying assets. The 
value of the underlying assets may be adversely
affected by a number of factors including, but
not limited to, an economic downturn. In the
event of default, the Corporation usually acts
as an agent for the guaranteed parties for the
repossession, refurbishment and remarketing
of the underlying assets. The Corporation typi-
cally receives a fee for these services. In most

to these guarantees and the determination of
the related provisions to be recorded in the
Consolidated Financial Statements, if any, are
performed using a risk-pricing model. Risk
monitoring comprises ongoing management
reporting of exposures, as well as active credit
watch, on-site credit due diligence and active
intervention. In addition, asset value trends 
for the Corporation’s products are closely 
monitored. The Corporation also engages, from
time to time, in risk transfer with third-party
insurers in order to minimize its exposure to
credit and residual value guarantees. 

In connection with its contracts with the
Metronet companies for the modernization of
the London Underground, the Corporation is
committed to provide collateral in support of 
its obligations. These commitments extend 
to 2015. As at January 31, 2004, surety bonds
amounting to £180 million ($435 million) were
outstanding. The surety bonds are renewable
each year. In the event that the bonds are 
not renewed, the Corporation could have to 
provide, within one year, alternate collat-
eral (letters of credit, cash, etc.) which could
reduce Bombardier’s availability under its 
credit facilities. 

The Corporation is occasionally involved in
legal litigation, claims, investigations and other
legal matters. It is the Corporation’s opinion that
these contingencies have not had, and will not
have, a material impact on its financial posi-
tion, except for the potential effect of its claim
against DaimlerChrysler described in note 24
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

circumstances, a claim under the guarantee
may be made only upon sale of the underlying
asset to a third party.

In most cases, residual value guarantees are
guarantees provided at the end of a financing
arrangement, ranging from four to 20 years.
Such guarantees provide protection to the 
guaranteed parties in cases where the market 
value of the underlying asset is below the 
guaranteed value. In order to mitigate the
Corporation’s exposure, the collateral must
meet certain contractual return conditions on
the expiry date of the guarantee. If a residual
value guarantee is exercised, it provides for a
limited payment to the guaranteed parties. A
claim under the guarantee may typically be
made only upon sale of the underlying asset to
a third party. The value of the underlying asset
may be adversely affected by a number of 
factors including, but not limited to, an eco-
nomic downturn. 

When credit and residual value guarantees
are provided in connection with a financing
arrangement for the same underlying asset,
residual value guarantees can only be exer-
cised if the credit guarantee expires without
having been exercised and, as such, are mutu-
ally exclusive.

The Corporation’s risk management frame-
work for the credit and residual value risks
consists of the following: risk control, risk
measurement, risk monitoring and risk trans-
fer. The Corporation practices active risk control
through inclusion of protective covenants and
securities into commercial contracts to miti-
gate its exposure under these guarantees.
Quantitative assessments of the risk relating
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Other
Pension
The Corporation sponsors several domestic-
and foreign-funded and unfunded defined 
benefit pension plans. The financial position
and other  informat ion regard ing the
Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans
are presented in note 23 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Funded plans are plans for which segregated
plan assets are invested in trusts. These 
plans can be in an over- or under-funded position,
depending on various factors, such as invest-
ment returns. The funded plans are mainly
located in North America, the United Kingdom
and Switzerland. For these plans, employer
cash contributions are determined in accor-
dance with the regulatory requirements of
each local jurisdiction.

Unfunded plans are plans for which there
are no segregated plan assets. These plans,
for which the Corporation has no prefunding
obligations, are located mainly in continental
Europe. In these countries, the establishment
of segregated plan assets is either not per-
mitted or not in line with local practice. The
employer cash requirement for these plans
corresponds to the benefit payments to be
made to the participants.

The Corporation uses a measurement date
of December 31 for accounting purposes. 

Assumptions
The determination of assumptions is made
after a periodic review of factors, such as
long-term return expectations prepared by
consultants or economists, historical invest-
ment returns, long-term inflation assumptions
and recommendations from actuaries. The
Corporation uses a market-related valuation of
assets that recognizes the effect of investment
gains or losses over a three-year period from
the year in which they occur for purposes 
of measuring the pension cost. The Corpo-
rat ion ref lects in advance the cost of 
future discretionary increases of pension
benefits, for plans with a history of regular

The increase is mainly due to a significant loss
on plan assets during fiscal years 2002 and
2003, as well as a reduction of 0.6% in the
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
assumption for fiscal year 2004 compared to
fiscal year 2003. 

Pension cost is recognized either directly 
to income or capitalized to assets, such as
inventories and aerospace program tooling.

Pension cost for fiscal year 2005 is esti-
mated to be approximately $380 million. The
increase compared to fiscal year 2004 is mainly
due to an increase in the pension benefit obli-
gation during fiscal year 2004, and a loss on
plan assets during fiscal years 2002 and 2003.

Funding 
The Corporation complies with the regulatory
cash contribution requirements of each local
jurisdiction, which are designed to protect par-
ticipants’ rights. Since the measurement basis
used to determine the pension cost is, in gen-
eral, more conservative than the regulatory
requirements in most jurisdictions, the deficit
computed to establish cash contributions
(funding deficit) is smaller than the deficit for
accounting purposes for most pension plans.

The Corporation contributed $212 million to
its plans in January 2004 as advance contri-
butions for fiscal year 2005. This contribution
was not reflected in determining the deficit
position as at December 31, 2003 (measure-
ment date), but was reflected in determining
the accrued benefit asset (liability) balance as
at January 31, 2004.

Cash contributions to the pension plans for
fiscal year 2005 would amount to $370 mil-
lion. Actual cash contributions to the pension
plans for fiscal year 2005 are estimated to be
$400 million. This estimate includes a voluntary
contribution of $242 million to the aerospace
plans in the U.K., and excludes the $212 mil-
lion of advance contributions made during
fiscal year 2004. 

discretionary increases, and the cost of future
life expectancy improvements.

Pension plan deficit
As at December 31, 2003, the deficit for the
pension plans amounted to $2.8 billion ($2.7 bil-
lion as at December 31, 2002). This amount
includes the pension benefit obligation of the
unfunded plans amounting to $587 million
($641 million as at December 31, 2002).

The increase in the deficit is mainly due to
an increase in the pension benefit obligation
resulting from a general decrease in discount
rates, partially offset by favourable investment
returns on plan assets (return of 10.7% on fair
value of plan assets) and the effect of the sale
of the recreational products segment in fiscal
year 2004. The investment returns for fiscal year
2004 were negatively impacted by unfavourable
returns on privately-held equity securities,
including hedge funds.

It is estimated that a decrease of 50 basis
points in current discount rates would increase
the pension benefit obligation by approximately
$650 million.

Unrecognized amounts
As at December 31, 2003, the net unrec-
ognized portion of the pension plan deficit,
comprised of net actuarial losses and prior
service costs, totalled $2.2 billion, compared 
to $2.0 billion as at December 31, 2002.

The net actuarial gains and losses, based on
the market-related value of plan assets, more
than 10% of the greater of the pension obli-
gation and the market-related value of plan
assets, as well as prior service costs, are amor-
tized over the estimated average remaining
service life of the plan participants. The amor-
tization of the net unrecognized amounts 
is expected to account for $95 million of the
estimated pension cost for fiscal year 2005. 

Impact on results of operations
Pension cost from continuing operations for
fiscal year 2004 amounted to $324 million,
compared to $231 million for fiscal year 2003.
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Environment
The Corporation’s manufacturing and service
activities are subject to environmental regula-
tion by federal, provincial and local authorities
in Canada, as well as local regulatory authorities
having jurisdiction over the Corporation’s foreign
operations. As a result, the Corporation has
established, and periodically updates, a health,
safety and environment policy that defines the
Corporation’s vision for its worldwide opera-
tions. Consistent with this policy, approximately
90% of the Corporation’s manufacturing loca-
tions have been accredited according to 
the ISO 14001 Standard for Environmental
Management by outside auditors.

Consistent with the Corporation’s policy
stressing environmental responsibility and its
desire to maintain legal compliance, the
Corporation routinely procures, installs and
operates pollution control devices, such as
wastewater treatment plants, groundwater
monitoring devices, air strippers or separators,
and incinerators at new and existing facilities
constructed or upgraded in the normal course
of business. Future capital expenditures for
pollution control systems are not expected 
to have a material effect on the Corporation’s 
consolidated financial position.

With respect to environmental matters
related to site contamination (historical 
contamination of soil and groundwater), the
Corporation periodically conducts studies, indi-
vidually at sites owned by the Corporation, and
jointly as members of industry groups at sites
not owned by the Corporation, to determine
the feasibility of various remedial techniques,
and to define the Corporation’s share of liabil-
ity. The Corporation is currently proceeding
with decontamination at a small number of
sites both in North America and in Europe. The
historical costs for soil and/or groundwater
decontamination have not been significant. 

Environmental risk
The Corporation is subject to environmental
laws and regulations in each of the jurisdic-
tions in which it operates, governing, among
other things, air and water pollution, hazardous
substance discharges and the remediation of
soil and/or groundwater contamination caused
by past operations. There is a risk that these
governmental environmental requirements, 
or enforcements thereof, may become more
stringent in the future and that additional costs
may be incurred by the Corporation to be
compliant with such future requirements 
or enforcements. Although the Corporation
believes that it is in substantial compliance
with current applicable requirements of 
environmental laws, there can be no assur-
ance that limitations imposed by, or costs 
of compliance with, current or future envi-
ronmental laws, or liabilities arising from
environmental problems will not have a mate-
rial effect on the Corporation’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Developing new products and services
The principal markets in which the Corporation’s
businesses operate experience changes due to
the introduction of new technologies. To meet
its customers’ needs in these businesses, the
Corporation must continuously design new,
and update existing products and services 
and invest in and develop new technologies.
Introducing new products requires a significant
commitment to research and development,
which may not be successful. The Corporation’s
sales may suffer if it invests in products that are
not accepted in the marketplace, are not
approved by regulatory authorities, or if the
products are not brought to market in a timely
manner or become obsolete.

Estimating future environmental clean-up lia-
bilities is dependent on the nature and the
extent of historical information and physical
data about the contaminated site, the com-
plexity of the contamination, the uncertainty of
which remedy to apply, the timing of the reme-
dial action and the outcome of the discussions
with regulatory authorities. 

The Corporation expects to increase its
costs for remediation activities in future years.
This increased cost is based on the probable
closure of certain existing facilities and on ever-
increasing legal requirements. Although it
appears likely that annual costs for soil and
groundwater decontamination may increase
over time, these costs are not expected to be
material to the Corporation.

Risks and uncertainties
The Corporation operates in industry segments
that have a variety of risk factors and uncer-
tainties. The risks and uncertainties described
below are not the only ones facing the
Corporation. Additional risks and uncertainties
not presently known to the Corporation or that
the Corporation currently believes to be imma-
terial may also adversely affect its business.

Due to any of the risks and uncertainties
described below, the Corporation’s business,
financial condition and results of operations
could be materially adversely affected.

Operational risk
The activities conducted by the Corporation’s
segments are subject to operational risks,
including competition from other businesses,
performance of key suppliers, product perform-
ance warranty, regulatory risks, successful
integration of new acquisitions, dependence
on key personnel and reliance on information
systems, all of which could affect the ability
of the Corporation to meet its obligations.
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Fixed-term commitments 
The Corporation has historically offered and
will continue to offer a portion of its products
on fixed-term contracts, rather than contracts
in which payment is determined solely on a
time-and-materials basis, mainly in the trans-
portation segment. Generally, the Corporation
may not terminate these contracts unilaterally.
Although the Corporation often relies on tools
and methodologies and past experience to
reduce the risks associated with estimating,
planning and performing these projects, in
most cases, the Corporation bears the risk 
of cost overruns and may be subject to late
delivery penalties.

General economic conditions
Unfavourable economic conditions may
adversely affect the Corporation’s business.
For example, weakness or further deteriora-
tion in the financial situation of certain major
U.S. airlines which are the Corporation’s clients,
or the outbreak of war or continued hostilities
in certain regions of the world, may result in
lower orders or the cancellation of part of the
existing backlog for certain of the Corporation’s
products; these could adversely affect the
Corporation’s financial position and results 
of operations. In addition, curtailment of 
production activities due to unfavourable eco-
nomic conditions could result in the Corporation
incurring significant costs associated with 
temporary layoffs or termination of employees.

Foreign currency fluctuations 
The Corporation is exposed to risks resulting
from foreign currency fluctuations as described
in the “Effect of currency fluctuations” section
of this MD&A. In an effort to mitigate these
risks, the Corporation makes use of derivative
contracts to hedge the exposure to future 
cash flows in various currencies and asset/

or its capital needs, or to engage in other busi-
ness activities that may be in its interest. In
addition, Bombardier is also required to 
comply with a single financial covenant under
its two main syndicated credit facilities. The
ratio of total debt, defined essentially as short-
term borrowings and long-term debt less
subordinated debt and cash and cash equiv-
alents, to total capitalization (total debt, as
defined, plus shareholders’ equity and subor-
dinated debt) must not exceed certain
thresholds, as measured at each quarter end.
The Corporation’s ability to comply with this
ratio may be affected by events beyond its 
control. A breach of any of these agreements
or the Corporation’s inability to comply with
the required financial ratio could also result in
a default under its bank lines, which would
permit the Corporation’s lenders to declare
amounts owed to them immediately payable.

Delinquencies and losses in BC’s portfolios
Like all finance companies, BC faces the risk
that it may not be able to collect on its finance
receivables, consisting primarily of asset-based
financing in the form of receivables, lease
receivables and loans, mostly related to floor-
plan financing on a secured basis to retailers
purchasing inventory products and third-party
interim financing of commercial aircraft. 

Changing interest rates 
BC’s profitability may be directly affected by
the level of and fluctuations in interest rates.
BC uses derivatives as an integral part of 
its asset/liability management program 
to reduce its overall financial risk. These
derivatives, particularly interest-rate swap
agreements, are used to alter interest rate
exposure arising from mismatches between
assets and liabilities.

l iabil ity management, involving mostly 
borrowing in foreign currencies to hedge 
foreign currency exposure arising from per-
manent investments in foreign countries. The
impact of these fluctuations could have a mate-
rial effect on the Corporation’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Liquidity and access to capital markets 
The Corporation requires continued access to
the capital markets to support its activities,
including selling asset-backed securities. To
satisfy its financing needs, the Corporation
relies on long-term and short-term debt and
cash flow generated from operations. Any
impediments to the Corporation’s ability to
access the capital markets, including a decline
in credit ratings, the reduction of the surety
market global capacity, significant changes in
market interest rates, general economic con-
ditions or the perception in the capital markets
of the Corporation’s financial condition or
prospects, could have a material adverse effect
on the Corporation’s financial condition and
results of operations. Credit ratings may be
impacted by many external factors beyond the
Corporation’s control and accordingly, no assur-
ance can be given that the Corporation’s credit
ratings will not be reduced in the future.

Restrictive debt covenants
The indentures governing certain of the
Corporation’s indebtedness and syndicated
credit facilities contain covenants that, among
other things, restrict the Corporation’s ability to:
- sell all or substantially all of its assets;
- incur certain secured indebtedness;
- engage in mergers or consolidations; and
- engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

These restrictions could impair the Corpo-
ration’s ability to finance its future operations
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External business environment
The Corporation faces a number of external
risk factors, more specifically general economic
conditions, government policies related to
import and export restrictions, changing
priorities and possible spending cuts by
government agencies, foreign government
support to export sales, volatility of fuel prices
and political instability. 

Warranty and casualty claim losses
The products manufactured by the Corporation
are highly complex and sophisticated and 
may contain defects that are difficult to 
detect and correct. Defects may be found in the
Corporation’s products after they are delivered
to the customer. If discovered, the Corporation
may not be able to correct them in a timely
manner or at all. The occurrence of defects
and failures in the Corporation’s products could
result in warranty claims or the loss of cus-
tomers. Correcting such defects could require
significant capital investments. Any claims,
defects or failures could have an adverse effect
on the Corporation’s operating results and busi-
ness. In addition, due to the nature of the
Corporation’s business, the Corporation may
be subject to liability claims arising from acci-
dents or disasters involving the Corporation’s
products or products for which the Corporation
provided services, including claims for serious
personal injuries or death. The Corporation can-
not be certain that its insurance coverage will
be sufficient to cover one or more substantial
claims. Furthermore, there can be no assurance
that the Corporation will be able to obtain insur-
ance coverage at acceptable levels and cost in
the future.

Key suppliers
The Corporation’s manufacturing operations
are dependant upon a limited number of key

to make assumptions about matters that were
highly uncertain at the time the estimate was
made, if different estimates could have been
reasonably used or if changes in the estimate
that would have a material impact on the
Corporation’s financial condition or results 
of operations are likely to occur from period
to period. 

Average cost accounting 
Average cost accounting is used in the aero-
space segment. Average cost accounting is a
method of accounting for the costs associated
with the manufacturing of aircraft whereby 
the estimated average unit production cost 
is charged to cost of sales.

The determination of the estimated average
unit cost per aircraft involves estimates of 
total accounting program quantities and total 
production costs for a selected program, 
as well as the period over which the units 
can reasonably be expected to be produced.

Production accounting quantities for a 
program are established at the program launch
date and are based on an assessment of 
prevailing market conditions and anticipated
demand for the aircraft, considering, among
other factors, firm order backlog and options.

Production costs include raw material, direct
labour and manufacturing overhead costs. Total
production costs are estimated based on fore-
casted costs of raw materials, inflation rates,
foreign exchange rates, labour productivity 
and employment levels and salaries. Cost
estimates are based mainly on historical
performance trends, economic trends, labour
agreements and information provided by sup-
pliers. Production costs are also based on the
learning curve concept, which anticipates a
predictable decrease in direct labour costs as
tasks and production techniques become more
efficient through repetition. The estimated 

suppliers for the delivery of materials and  major
aircraft components. Certain of these suppliers
participate with the Corporation in the devel-
opment of various aircraft platforms and the
subsequent delivery of materials and major
aircraft components. Therefore, the Corporation’s
contracts with these key suppliers are long-
term and on a sole-source basis. A failure by
one or more key suppliers to meet perform-
ance specifications, quality standards, and
delivery schedules could adversely affect the
ability of the Corporation to meet its commit-
ments to customers. Although alternative
supplier sources generally exist for the
procurement of material and major aircraft
components, their replacement could take 
several months. Therefore, there can be no
assurance that a failure by one or more key
suppliers to meet their contractual obligations
towards the Corporation would not result 
in a material effect on the Corporation’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Collective labour agreements
The Corporation is party to several collective
labour agreements throughout its business
segments, which are subject to expiration at
various times in the future. If the Corporation
is unable to renew these agreements or others
as they become subject to renegotiation from
time to time, this could result in work stop-
pages and other labour disturbances, which
could have a material adverse effect on the
Corporation’s business.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP requires the use of 
estimates, judgment and assumptions. Critical
accounting estimates are described in this 
section. An accounting estimate is considered
critical if the estimate requires management 
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average unit cost incurred in the early stage of
the program will exceed the estimated average
unit cost for the entire program. This difference,
referred to as excess over-average production
costs, is included in inventories and is expected
to be recovered from sales of aircraft anticipated
to be produced later at lower-than-average 
production costs.

Management conducts quarterly reviews as
well as a detailed annual review in the fourth
quarter as part of its annual budget process
of its cost estimates and program quantities.
The effect of any revision is accounted for by
way of a cumulative catch-up adjustment in
the period in which the revision takes place.

A 1% change in the estimated future costs
to produce the remaining aircraft program
quantities for all aircraft programs would have
increased or decreased the Corporation’s 
cost of sales by approximately $70 million,
including $50 million relating to cumulative
catch-up adjustments for prior years.

Aerospace program tooling 
A significant portion of the Corporation’s prop-
erty, plant and equipment relates to aerospace
program tooling. Management conducts quar-
terly reviews as well as a detailed annual
review in the fourth quarter as part of its annual
budget process of the recoverability of aero-
space program tooling. The recoverability 
of aerospace program tooling is assessed
together with the recoverability of program
inventories for each program. An impairment
charge is recorded when the undiscounted
value of the expected future cash flows is less
than the carrying value of program tooling.
Estimates of net future cash flows over the
remaining useful life of program tooling are
subject to similar estimates and judgments 
as described in the average cost accounting
section above, as well as estimates with respect
to expected selling prices.

Sales incentives 
The Corporation offers sales incentives
including credit guarantees, residual value 
guarantees, and repurchase commitments,
mostly in the aerospace segment. Management
reviews the value of these commitments 
relative to the aircraft’s expected future value
and, in the case of credit guarantees, the credit-
worthiness of the borrower. Provisions are
recorded at the time of sale of the underlying
aircraft, and are reviewed quarterly. The air-
craft’s future value is estimated using internal
and external aircraft valuations, including 
information developed from the sale of 
similar aircraft in the secondary market. The
creditworthiness of borrowers, for which credit
guarantees have been provided, is based 
on credit ratings published by credit rating
agencies, when available. The creditworthiness
of other borrowers is estimated based on 
internal evaluation models. See note 24 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for addi-
tional information on these guarantees. 

As at January 31, 2004, had the expected
residual value used to calculate the provision
for credit and residual value guarantees pro-
vided in connection with aircraft sales decreased
by 5%, cost of sales would have increased by
approximately $90 million. 

Long-term contracts
The transportation segment conducts most 
of its business under long-term contracts.
Revenues from long-term contracts are recog-
nized using the percentage-of-completion
method. The long-term nature of contracts
involves considerable use of estimates in
determining total costs, revenues and per-
centage of completion. Recognized revenues
and profit are subject to revisions as the 
contract progresses to completion.

Contract costs include raw material, direct
labour, manufacturing overhead and other

costs such as warranty and freight. Total con-
tract costs are estimated based on forecasted
costs of raw materials, inflation rates, labour
productivity and cost and are influenced by 
the nature and complexity of the work to be
performed, the impact of change orders, and
the impact of delayed delivery. Cost estimates
are based mainly on historical performance
trends, economic trends, labour agreements
and information provided by suppliers. 

Revenue estimates are based on the nego-
tiated contract price adjusted for change orders
and contract terms that provide for the adjust-
ment of prices in the event of variations from
projected inflationary trends. Contract change
orders and claims are included in revenue 
when they can be reliably estimated and real-
ization is probable.

The percentage of completion is generally
determined by comparing the costs incurred 
to date to the total estimated cost for the
contract, excluding costs that are not repre-
sentative for the measure of performance. 

Management conducts quarterly reviews as
well as a detailed annual review in the fourth
quarter as part of its annual budget process
of its estimated costs to complete, percentage
of completion estimates, revenues and mar-
gins recognized on a contract-by-contract basis.
The effect of any revision is accounted for by
way of a cumulative catch-up adjustment in
the period in which the revision takes place. If
a contract review indicates a negative gross
margin, the entire expected loss on the con-
tract is recognized in the period in which the
negative gross margin is identified.

A 1% increase in the estimated future costs
for all ongoing contracts in the transportation
segment would have increased cost of sales
by approximately $90 million, while a 1%
decrease in the estimated future costs would
have decreased cost of sales by approximately
$80 million.
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Goodwill 
Goodwill recorded is the result of the purchase
of DaimlerChrysler Rail Systems GmbH
(Adtranz). Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or cir-
cumstances indicate that the asset might be
impaired. The Corporation selected its fourth
quarter as its annual testing period for its good-
will. A goodwill impairment charge is recorded
when the discounted value of the expected
future cash flows of the entire reporting unit is
less than its carrying value. Future cash flows
are forecasted based on the Corporation’s 
best estimate of revenues, production costs,
manufacturing overhead and other costs.
These estimates are made by reviewing exist-
ing contracts, expected future orders, current
cost structure, anticipated cost variations,
labour agreements and general market condi-
tions, and are subject to review and approval
by senior management. The future cash flows
are discounted using a weighted average cost
of capital rate.

Product warranties 
Products sold in the aerospace and the 
transportation segments are accompanied by
warranties for systems, accessories, equip-
ment, parts and software developed by 
the Corporation.

Warranty obligations are recognized at the
time of sale based on the estimated warranty
costs expected to be incurred. These estimates
are based on a number of factors, including
the historical warranty claims and cost expe-
rience, the type and duration of the warranty
coverage, the products sold and warranty 
coverage available from the Corporation’s sup-
pliers. Warranty expense is recorded as a
component of cost of sales. 

Employee future benefits
Pension and other employee benefit costs and
obligations are dependant on assumptions

used in calculating such amounts. Two critical
assumptions, the discount rate and the
expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets are important elements of cost and/or
obligation measurement. Other assumptions
include the rate of compensation increase and
the health-care cost trend rate, as well as
demographic factors such as retirement ages
of employees, mortality rates and turnover.
Assumptions are reviewed and updated at
least annually. 

The discount rate allows the Corporation to
reflect estimated future benefit payments at
present value on the measurement date.
Management has little discretion in selecting
the discount rate as it must represent the 
market rates for high quality fixed income
investments available for the period to maturity
of the benefits. A lower discount rate increases
the benefit obligation and benefit costs. A
50-basis-point change in the weighted-average
discount rates would increase or decrease
expected benefit cost in fiscal year 2005 by
approximately $75 million. 

The expected long-term rate of return on
pension plan assets assumption is determined
considering historical returns, future estimates
of long-term investment returns and asset 
allocations. A lower return assumption increases
pension cost. A 50-basis-point change in the
return assumption would increase or decrease
expected pension cost in fiscal year 2005 by
approximately $20 million.

Income taxes
The Corporation recognizes deferred income
tax assets, resulting mainly from losses carried
forward and deductible temporary differences.
Management assesses the realization of these
deferred tax assets regularly to determine
whether a valuation allowance is required.
Based on evidence, both positive and nega-
tive, the Corporation determines whether it is
more likely than not that all or a portion of the

deferred income tax assets will be realized.
The factors considered include estimated
future earnings based on internal forecasts,
cumulative losses in recent years, history of 
losses carried forward and other tax assets
expiring unused as well as prudent and feasi-
ble tax planning strategies.

Accounting and reporting developments
Variable interest entities
In June 2003, the Accounting Standards Board
(AcSB) issued Accounting Guideline (AcG) 15
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(VIEs). AcG-15 establishes the consolidation
criteria for VIEs based on a risks-and-rewards
model rather than on a control-based model.
The AcSB is expected to issue proposed
revisions to AcG-15. These proposed recom-
mendations are expected to be effective as of
the Corporation’s fourth quarter of fiscal year
2005. The Corporation has begun analyzing the
impact of this guideline, but due to the com-
plexity of the guideline and the proposed
revision of this standard, has not yet deter-
mined the impact, if any, that the new
recommendation will have on its Consolidated
Financial Statements. However, the impact
could be material since it is anticipated that
unless certain existing agreements are modified
prior to the application of this standard, the
Corporation will be required to consolidate 
certain assets previously sold to special-
purpose entities and the related liabilities and
non-controlling interest. The consolidation of
the VIEs would not alter the Corporation’s finan-
cial exposure to the assets and liabilities 
of the VIEs.

Revenue recognition
In December 2003, the Emerging Issues
Committee (EIC) of the Canadian Institute 
of Chartered Accountants issued EIC 141
“Revenue Recognition,” summarizing the prin-
ciples set forth in Staff Accounting Bulletin 101
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(SAB 101) of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission and providing general
interpretive guidance on the application of 
revenue recognition accounting principles.
These recommendations are effective for the
Corporation’s fiscal year beginning February 1,
2004. The Corporation is currently assessing
the impact of the new recommendations 
on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenue arrangements 
with multiple deliverables
Also in December 2003, EIC 142 “Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” was
issued. EIC 142 addresses certain aspects of
the accounting by a vendor for arrangements
under which multiple revenue-generating
activities will be performed. These recommen-

dations are effective for the Corporation’s 
fiscal year beginning February 1, 2004. 
The Corporation is currently assessing the
impact of the new recommendations on 
the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Hedging relationships
In December 2001, the AcSB issued AcG-13
“Hedging Relationships,” as amended. In 
June 2002, EIC-128 “Accounting for Trading,
Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative
Financial Instruments” was also issued. AcG-13
establishes the criteria for identification, 
designation, documentation and effectiveness
of hedging relationships for the purpose of
applying hedge accounting. EIC-128 estab-
lishes that a freestanding derivative financial
instrument that gives rise to a financial asset or

financial liability and is entered into for trading
or speculative purposes, or that does not 
qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13,
should be recognized on the balance sheet
and measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value recognized in current income. Both
AcG-13 and EIC-128 will be effective for the fis-
cal year beginning February 1, 2004, and the
Corporation expects its hedging program to
comply with the new requirements.
Accordingly, the adoption of the new recom-
mendations is not expected to have a material
impact on the Corporation’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

For new accounting recommendations that
have been adopted by the Corporation in the
fiscal year ended January 31, 2004, see note 1
to the Consolidated Financial Statements
“Changes in accounting policies.”

Share data
A U T H O R I Z E D  A N D  I S S U E D  A S  A T  J A N U A R Y  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4 : A U T H O R I Z E D I S S U E D

Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) (1) 1,892,000,000 342,018,248
Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) (2) 1,892,000,000 1,407,566,670
Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 12,000,000 2,597,907
Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 12,000,000 9,402,093
Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares 9,400,000 9,400,000
(1) 10 votes each, convertible at the option of the holder into one Class B Share (Subordinate Voting).
(2) Convertible at the option of the holder into one Class A Share (Multiple Voting) under certain conditions. See note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

S H A R E  O P T I O N S :

Options issued and outstanding under share option plans as at February 29, 2004 43,872,861

Quarterly information
The table containing the quarterly information is shown at the end of this MD&A.

March 30, 2004

Additional information relating to Bombardier, including the Corporation’s Annual Information Form, 
can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on Bombardier’s Web site at www.bombardier.com.
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( U N A U D I T E D )
F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ,  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S ) 2004 2003

T O T A L T O T A L

Segmented revenues 
Aerospace (1) $ 11,307 $ 11,294
Transportation 9,586 9,422
BC 681 895
Intersegment revenues (253) (422)

External revenues $ 21,321 $ 21,189
Income (loss) from continuing operations before special 

items and income taxes
Aerospace (2) $ 262 $ (33)
Transportation (3) 104 310
BC 73 104

439 381
Special items

Aerospace (28) 1,311
Transportation 457 –

429 1,311
Income (loss) from continuing operations  

before income taxes
Aerospace 290 (1,344)
Transportation (353) 310
BC 73 104

10 (930)
Income tax expense (recovery) 205 (221)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (195) (709)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations – net of tax 106 94
Net income (loss) (4) $ (89) $ (615)

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic and diluted:

From continuing operations $ (0.13) $ (0.54)
From discontinued operations 0.06 0.07

(0.07) (0.47)
Dividend – Class A Shares 0.090000 0.180000
Dividend – Class B Shares 0.091563 0.181563
Market price range of Class B Shares

High 6.28 15.67
Low 2.56 3.13

Quarterly information

(1) Historically, Bombardier Aerospace has higher aircraft deliveries during the fourth quarter compared to the first three quarters of its fiscal year, generating higher revenues.
(2) Bombardier Aerospace’s fourth quarter results of fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003 mainly reflect increased business aircraft deliveries. Deliveries for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 reflect 14 less 

deliveries of Bombardier Learjet aircraft arising from the one-time negative impact of the decision to cease recognizing revenues on the sale of narrow-body aircraft upon green aircraft delivery.
(3) Bombardier Transportation’s results for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 and 2003 were negatively impacted due to revisions of estimates to complete certain contracts. In addition, 

results for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 were negatively impacted by a charge of $139 million recorded in connection with an agreement reached with Amtrak to settle 
all outstanding claims in connection with the Acela high-speed trainset and locomotive contracts.

(4) During the fourth quarter of the year ended January 31, 2004, the Corporation began expensing employee stock-based compensation with retroactive effect as of February 1, 2003. 
Figures for the first three quarters of fiscal year 2004 were not restated since the impact was not material.
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2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
F I R S T F I R S T S E C O N D S E C O N D T H I R D T H I R D F O U R T H F O U R T H

Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R Q U A R T E R

$ 2,384 $ 2,655 $ 2,840 $ 2,747 $ 2,339 $ 2,499 $ 3,744 $ 3,393
2,430 2,314 2,319 2,399 2,304 2,295 2,533 2,414

217 192 173 222 142 235 149 246
(92) (99) (65) (101) (47) (104) (49) (118)

$ 4,939 $ 5,062 $ 5,267 $ 5,267 $ 4,738 $ 4,925 $ 6,377 5,935

$ 7 $ 158 $ 63 $ 136 $ 74 $ 49 $ 118 $ (376)
108 90 104 109 78 107 (186) 4
25 21 19 31 13 38 16 14

140 269 186 276 165 194 (52) (358)

14 – 39 211 (98) – 17 1,100
– – – – – – 457 –

14 – 39 211 (98) – 474 1,100

(7) 158 24 (75) 172 49 101 (1,476)
108 90 104 109 78 107 (643) 4
25 21 19 31 13 38 16 14

126 269 147 65 263 194 (526) (1,458)
44 89 51 22 90 65 20 (397)
82 180 96 43 173 129 (546) (1,061)
(1) (8) (3) 12 12 52 98 38

$ 81 $ 172 $ 93 $ 55 $ 185 $ 181 $ (448) $ (1,023)

$ 0.05 $ 0.13 $ 0.05 $ 0.02 $ 0.09 $ 0.09 $ (0.32) $ (0.78)
0.00 (0.01) 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.04 0.06 0.03
0.05 0.12 0.05 0.03 0.10 0.13 (0.26) (0.75)

0.022500 0.045000 0.022500 0.045000 0.022500 0.045000 0.022500 0.045000
0.024063 0.046563 0.022500 0.045000 0.022500 0.045000 0.022500 0.045000

5.54 15.67 5.49 15.05 6.28 11.94 6.00 6.77
2.56 12.70 3.38 9.92 4.80 3.13 4.83 4.46
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The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Bombardier Inc. and all the information in this Annual Report are the responsibility
of Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. The financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such
amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects. Financial information
presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Bombardier Inc.’s policy is to maintain systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of high quality, consistent with reasonable
cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, accurate and reliable and that
the Corporation’s assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that Management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately
responsible for reviewing and approving the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through
its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board and is entirely comprised of outside directors. The committee meets periodically with
Management, as well as the internal auditors and the external auditors, to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing
matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the external auditors’ report. The committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration by the Board when
it approves the Consolidated Financial Statements for issuance to shareholders.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee.

To the shareholders of Bombardier Inc.
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Bombardier Inc. as at January 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated statements of
income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s
Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform
an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these Consolidated Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as
at January 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles.

Management’s responsibility 
for financial reporting

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
MONTRÉAL, CANADA

FEBRUARY 27, 2004

(EXCEPT FOR NOTES 18 AND 24, WHICH ARE AS AT MARCH 16, 2004)

PIERRE ALARY, CA
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT 

AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MARCH 30, 2004

Auditors’ report

Signed by

Signed by    ERNST & YOUNG LLP
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A S  A T  J A N U A R Y  3 1 B O M B A R D I E R  I N C .
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) C O N S O L I D A T E D B O M B A R D I E R B C

N O T E S 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,619 $ 1,014 $ 1,605 $ 713 $ 14 $ 301
Receivables 3 2,438 2,259 2,246 2,093 192 166
Finance receivables 4 4,148 7,013 – – 4,148 7,013
Assets under operating leases 5 740 1,358 114 7 626 1,351
Inventories 6 5,756 5,264 5,756 5,264 – –
Property, plant and equipment 7 4,674 5,386 4,555 5,239 119 147
Goodwill 8 3,038 3,245 3,038 3,245 – –
Deferred income taxes 19 699 915 455 632 244 283
Investment in BC and advances and 

subordinated loans to Bombardier – – 1,142 1,287 776 69
Accrued benefit asset 23 498 265 498 265 – –
Assets held for sale 2 – 1,260 – 1,260 – –
Other assets 10 1,959 1,145 998 758 961 387

$25,569 $29,124 $20,407 $20,763 $7,080 $9,717
Liabilities
Short-term borrowings 11 $ 308 $ 2,564 $ – $ 381 $ 308 $2,183
Advances from BC – – 179 69 – –
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12 9,000 8,906 8,668 8,494 332 412
Advances and progress billings

in excess of related costs 6 3,563 3,816 3,563 3,816 – –
Deferred income taxes 19 138 186 133 182 5 4
Long-term debt 13 8,074 8,926 2,781 3,099 5,293 5,827
Accrued benefit liability 23 1,236 1,151 1,236 1,147 – 4
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 2 – 834 – 834 – –
Subordinated loans from BC – – 597 – – –

22,319 26,383 17,157 18,022 5,938 8,430
Shareholders’ equity

(Investment in BC) 3,250 2,741 3,250 2,741 1,142 1,287
$25,569 $29,124 $20,407 $20,763 $7,080 $9,717

Commitments and contingencies 24

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide information 
on the financial statement presentation.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

PAUL M. TELLIER L. DENIS DESAUTELS
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Consolidated balance sheets

Signed by Signed by
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F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) N O T E S 2004 2003

N U M B E R N U M B E R
( I N  T H O U S A N D S ) A M O U N T ( I N  T H O U S A N D S ) A M O U N T

SHARE CAPITAL 14

Preferred shares
Series 2 2,598 $ 65 2,598 $ 65
Series 3 9,402 235 9,402 235
Series 4 9,400 235 9,400 235

Balance at beginning and end of year – preferred shares 21,400 535 21,400 535
Common shares
Class A Shares (Multiple Voting)

Balance at beginning of year 342,020 47 342,367 47
Converted to Class B (2) – (347) –
Balance at end of year 342,018 47 342,020 47

Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting)
Balance at beginning of year 1,035,667 869 1,028,404 849
Issue of shares 370,000 1,203 – –
Issued under the share option plans 15 1,898 4 6,916 20
Converted from Class A 2 – 347 –
Balance at end of year 1,407,567 2,076 1,035,667 869

Balance at end of year – common shares 1,749,585 2,123 1,377,687 916
Total – share capital 2,658 1,451

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

Balance at beginning of year – –
Stock-based compensation expense 1 6 –
Balance at end of year 6 –

RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance at beginning of year 1,133 2,031
Net loss (89) (615)
Dividends:

Preferred shares (30) (29)
Common shares (159) (249)

Share issue costs, net of tax (33) (5)
Balance at end of year 822 1,133

DEFERRED TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT 20 (236) 157
Total – shareholders’ equity $3,250 $2,741

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide information 
on the financial statement presentation.
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F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S , B O M B A R D I E R  I N C .
E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S ) C O N S O L I D A T E D B O M B A R D I E R B C

N O T E S 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenues

Manufacturing $17,270 $17,140 $17,270 $17,140 $ – $ –
Services 2,407 2,310 2,407 2,310 – –
Financing 447 493 – – 681 895
Other 1,197 1,246 1,197 1,246 – –

21,321 21,189 20,874 20,696 681 895
Cost of sales 18,297 18,097 18,186 18,081 345 418
Selling, general and administrative 1,368 1,498 1,238 1,305 130 193
Depreciation and amortization 793 806 660 626 133 180
Research and development 188 191 188 191 – –
Special items 18 429 1,311 429 1,311 – –
Income from BC – – (44) (63) – –

21,075 21,903 20,657 21,451 608 791
246 (714) 217 (755) 73 104

Interest expense, net 17 236 216 236 216 – –
Income (loss) from continuing operations

before income taxes 10 (930) (19) (971) 73 104
Income tax expense (recovery) 19 205 (221) 176 (262) 29 41
Income (loss) from continuing operations (195) (709) (195) (709) 44 63
Income from discontinued operations,

net of tax 2 106 94 106 94 – –
Net income (loss) $ (89) $ (615) $ (89) $ (615) $ 44 $ 63 

Earnings (loss) per share: 16

Basic and diluted
From continuing operations $ (0.13) $ (0.54)
From discontinued operations 0.06 0.07

$ (0.07) $ (0.47)

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide information 
on the financial statement presentation.
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F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1 B O M B A R D I E R  I N C .
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) C O N S O L I D A T E D B O M B A R D I E R B C

N O T E S 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Operating activities
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (195) $ (709) $ (195) $ (709) $ 44 $ 63
Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortization 793 806 660 626 133 180
Income from BC – – (44) (63) – –
Provision for credit losses 4 81 120 – – 81 120
Deferred income taxes 19 96 (353) 102 (387) (6) 34
Loss on disposals of property, 

plant and equipment 5 – 5 – – –
Stock-based compensation expense 4 – 4 – – –
Special items 18 429 1,311 429 1,311 – –

Net changes in non-cash balances
related to operations 21 (1,796) 647 (1,707) 553 (89) 94

Cash flows from operating activities (583) 1,822 (746) 1,331 163 491
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (416) (721) (412) (708) (4) (13)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 164 88 142 72 22 16
Net decrease in finance receivables 2,047 1,048 – – 2,047 1,048
Additions to assets under operating leases (313) (1,597) – – (313) (1,597)
Disposals of assets under operating leases 770 1,847 – – 770 1,847
Disposals of assets held for sale 2 190 – 190 – – –
Disposal of discontinued operations, 

net of cash disposed 2 740 – 740 – – –
Investment in BC and advances and 

subordinated loans to Bombardier – – 778 185 (778) (185)
Other (597) (20) (161) (27) (436) 7
Cash flows from investing activities 2,585 645 1,277 (478) 1,308 1,123
Financing activities
Net variation in short-term borrowings (2,035) (1,787) (366) (1,079) (1,669) (708)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,286 2,299 56 893 1,230 1,406
Repayments of long-term debt (1,504) (2,175) (192) (35) (1,312) (2,140)
Issuance of shares, net of related costs 14 1,174 250 1,174 250 – –
Dividends paid (189) (278) (189) (278) – –
Cash flows from financing activities (1,268) (1,691) 483 (249) (1,751) (1,442)
Effect of exchange rate changes on  

cash and cash equivalents 69 (321) 76 (450) (7) 129
Cash flows from continuing operations 803 455 1,090 154 (287) 301
Cash flows from discontinued operations 2 (227) 125 (227) 125 – –
Net increase (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 576 580 863 279 (287) 301
Cash and cash equivalents 

at beginning of year 1,043 463 742 463 301 –
Cash and cash equivalents at 

end of year (1) $ 1,619 $ 1,043 $ 1,605 $ 742 $ 14 $ 301
(1) Includes the following: 

Cash and cash equivalents related to:
Continuing operations $ 1,619 $ 1,014 $ 1,605 $ 713 $ 14 $ 301
Discontinued operations – 29 – 29 – –

$ 1,619 $ 1,043 $ 1,605 $ 742 $ 14 $ 301
Supplemental information

Cash paid for:
Interest $ 530 $ 493
Income taxes $ 78 $ 63

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements and provide information 
on the financial statement presentation.
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Nature of operations and consolidated financial statement presentation
Bombardier Inc. (the “Corporation”) is incorporated under the laws of Canada. Bombardier Inc., a diversified manufacturing and services
company, is a manufacturer of transportation equipment, including regional and business aircraft and rail transportation equipment. It also
provides financial services and asset management in business areas aligned with its core expertise.

Bombardier Inc. and its subsidiaries carry out their operations in three distinct segments, each one characterized by a specific operating
cycle; therefore, the consolidated balance sheets are unclassified. Financial services and real estate activities, being distinct from Bombardier’s
other activities, are shown in a separate column, Bombardier Capital (BC), in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following describes the columns shown in these financial statements.

Bombardier Inc. consolidated
This column represents all of the activities of the Corporation on a consolidated basis, after the elimination of balances and transactions
between Bombardier and BC.

Bombardier
This column represents the activities of the Corporation’s two manufacturing segments (aerospace and transportation). Related party
transactions and balances between these segments have been eliminated, whereas related party transactions and balances between
Bombardier and BC have not been eliminated. Bombardier’s investment in BC is accounted for under the equity method and comprises
BC’s equity and the subordinated debt of Bombardier in BC.

BC
This column represents the financial services and real estate activities of the Corporation. Related party transactions and balances within
BC have been eliminated, whereas related party transactions and balances between BC and Bombardier have not been eliminated.

Bombardier Inc. consolidated – Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Bombardier Inc. and its subsidiaries, substantially all of which are wholly
owned. They also include the Corporation’s proportionate share of its joint ventures.

The principal subsidiaries of the Corporation included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are as follows:

S U B S I D I A R Y L O C A T I O N

Aerospace segment
Learjet Inc. United States
Short Brothers PLC United Kingdom

Transportation segment
Bombardier Transportation GmbH Germany
Bombardier Transportation UK Ltd. United Kingdom
Bombardier Transit Corporation United States
Bombardier Transportation (Bahntechnologie) Germany GmbH & Co. KG Germany

BC segment
Bombardier Capital Inc. United States
Bombardier Capital Ltd. Canada

Most legal entities of the transportation segment use a December-31 fiscal year end. As a result, the Corporation consolidates these operations
with a one-month lag with the remainder of its operations. To the extent that significant and/or unusual transactions or events occur during
the one-month lag period, they are accounted for within the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies
F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4  A N D  2 0 0 3
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Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires Management to
make estimates and assumptions, particularly as they relate to accounting for long-term contracts, aerospace programs and employee future
benefits. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates, and such differences could be material.

Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign operations are classified as integrated or self-sustaining. All significant foreign operations are classified as self-sustaining operations.

a) Self-sustaining foreign operations
All assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates in effect at year end. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. The resulting net gains or losses are included in deferred translation adjustment in the consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity.

b) Accounts in foreign currencies 
Accounts in foreign currencies as well as those of the integrated foreign operations, are translated using the temporal method. Under this
method, monetary balance sheet items are translated at the exchange rates in effect at year end and non-monetary items are translated at
historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses (other than depreciation and amortization, which are translated at the same exchange
rates as the related assets) are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the transaction dates or at the average exchange rates of the period.
Translation gains or losses are included in the consolidated statements of income, except those related to debt designated as a hedge of
the Corporation’s net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations, which are included in deferred translation adjustment in the consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments, with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.
These securities are with investment grade financial institutions only.

Long-lived assets
Long-lived assets comprise property, plant and equipment, assets under operating leases and depreciable intangible assets.

Long-lived assets held for use are reviewed for impairment when certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The recoverability test is performed using undiscounted future net cash flows that are directly
associated with the asset’s use and eventual disposition. The amount of the impairment, if any, is measured as the difference between the
carrying value and the fair value of the impaired assets and presented as an additional current period depreciation charge or as special items.

Long-lived assets held for sale are stated at the lower of cost or fair value. 

a) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Costs related to aerospace programs incurred once technical feasibility is proven and
program launch takes place, including prototype design, development and testing, are accounted for as aerospace program tooling. 
Self-constructed aerospace program tooling includes interest charges incurred during construction.

Depreciation is computed under the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 10 to 40 years 
Equipment 2 to 15 years 
Aerospace program tooling 10 years
Other 3 to 20 years

Depreciation of assets under construction begins when they are ready for their intended use.

b) Assets under operating leases
Assets under operating leases are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed under the straight-line method over periods representing
their estimated useful lives.
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c) Depreciable intangible assets
Depreciable intangible assets represent the cost of acquired licences, patents and trademarks and are amortized over their estimated useful
lives, not exceeding 20 years. 

Long-term investments
Long-term investments presented in other assets are carried at cost. If it is determined that an investment has suffered a decline in value that
is other than temporary, it is written down to its estimated net realizable value.

Income taxes 
The Corporation applies the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted tax rates which will be in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets,
when it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are computed based on net income less dividends on preferred shares, divided by the weighted average number
of Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) and Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) outstanding during the fiscal year. Diluted earnings per share are
computed using the treasury stock method, giving effect to the exercise of all dilutive elements.

Employee future benefits
The Corporation sponsors several domestic and foreign funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans covering a majority of its
employees. The Corporation also provides post-employment and post-retirement benefit plans. These benefit plans essentially consist of
self-insured long-term disability plans in Canada and post-retirement health-care coverage and life insurance benefits in Canada and in the
United States. The cost of pension and other benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method
prorated on services, and Management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of
employees and health-care costs. Plan obligations are determined based on expected future benefit payments discounted using current market
interest rates, and plan assets are measured at fair value. The Corporation uses a market-related valuation of assets that recognizes the
effect of investment gains or losses over a three-year period from the year in which they occur for purposes of measuring the pension cost. The
net actuarial gains and losses, based on the market-related value of plan assets, more than 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation 
and the market-related value of plan assets as well as prior service costs are amortized to income over the estimated average remaining
service life of plan participants of approximately 16 years. When an event, such as the sale of a segment, gives rise to both a curtailment
and a settlement, the curtailment is accounted for prior to the settlement. A curtailment is the loss by employees of the right to earn future
benefits under the plan. A settlement is the discharge of a plan’s obligation. The Corporation uses a measurement date of December 31.

Securitization transactions
Transfers of loans and receivables in securitization transactions are recognized as sales when control over these assets is deemed to have been
surrendered, and consideration other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets was received. Assets retained may include interest-only
strips, subordinated tranches of securities, servicing rights, over-collateralization amounts, cash reserve accounts and transferors’ interests, all
of which are included in receivables for Bombardier, and in finance receivables for BC. When the transfer is considered a sale, all assets sold
are derecognized, assets received and the liabilities incurred are recognized at fair value. Such gain or loss depends in part on the previous
carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the transfer. The carrying amount is allocated between the assets sold and the retained
interests based on their relative fair values as at the date of transfer. Fair values are generally estimated based on the present value of future
expected cash flows using Management’s best estimates for credit losses, rate of prepayment, forward yield curves, and discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved.

Retained interests are accounted for as loans or investments in accordance with their substance. When the carrying value exceeds the
fair value of the retained interests accounted for as investments, and the decline in fair value is other than temporary, the retained interest
is written down to fair value in the same period.
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Allowance for credit losses
Finance receivables, trade receivables and loans are classified as impaired when, in the opinion of Management, there is reasonable doubt
as to the ultimate collectibility of a portion of principal and interest. Accrual of interest income on finance receivables is suspended when
the account becomes 90 days delinquent or may be suspended earlier if collection of an account becomes doubtful.
The Corporation maintains an allowance for credit losses in an amount sufficient to provide adequate protection against losses. The level of
allowance is based on Management’s assessment of the risks associated with each of the Corporation’s portfolios, including loss and
recovery experience, industry performance and the impact of current and projected economic conditions.

Derivative financial instruments
The Corporation uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge forecasted foreign currency cash flows. Forecasted foreign currency
cash flows can only be hedged when significant characteristics and the expected terms of the forecasted foreign currency cash flows are
identified and it is probable that these cash flows will occur. There is no recognition in the Consolidated Financial Statements of unrealized gains
or losses on forward foreign exchange contracts designated as hedges of forecasted foreign currency cash flows until the anticipated
transactions occur.

The Corporation enters into interest-rate swap agreements in order to modify the interest rate characteristics and to reduce the impact of
fluctuating interest rates, mainly on its long-term debts and certain financial commitments. These swaps are accounted for using the accrual
method. Under this method, net payments made or received on the derivative financial instruments are accrued as an adjustment to interest
expense in the consolidated statements of income.

The Corporation does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
Gains and losses related to derivative financial instruments are recorded in the same category as the hedged item. When the hedged

item is a forecasted foreign currency sale, gains and losses are included in revenues. When the underlying is a forecasted foreign currency cost,
gains and losses are generally included in cost of sales. 

Gains and losses associated with derivative financial instruments, which have been settled prior to maturity, are deferred and included in
other assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and recognized to income in the period in which the related hedged transaction
is recognized to income, if the underlying forecasted foreign currency cash flows are still probable of occurring. Otherwise, these gains and
losses are recognized immediately to income. In the event that a hedged item is settled prior to the termination of the corresponding derivative
financial instrument or is no longer probable of occurring, any unrealized gain or loss on such derivative financial instrument is recognized to
income immediately.

Environmental obligations
Environmental liabilities are recorded when environmental claims or remedial efforts are probable, and the costs can be reasonably
estimated. Environmental expenditures that relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate
to an existing condition caused by past operations, and which do not contribute to future revenue generation, are expensed.

Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments
The Corporation expenses stock-based compensation provided to its employees and directors, and stock based payments to non-employees,
using the fair value-based method for all awards granted or modified after January 31, 2003. The fair value of stock options at the grant date
is determined using an option pricing model. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period of the stock options.

Prior to February 1, 2003, the Corporation accounted for stock-based compensation provided to its employees and directors as capital
transactions. However, pro forma net income and earnings per share for awards granted in fiscal year 2003 are disclosed using the fair value-
based method. No compensation expense is recorded in the consolidated statements of income for these awards.

The Corporation’s contributions to the employee share purchase plan are accounted for in the same manner as the related employee
payroll costs.

Bombardier – Significant accounting policies 
Revenue recognition 
Revenues from the sale of commercial aircraft and narrow-body business aircraft (Bombardier Learjet), fractional interests in business aircraft
and other products and services are recognized upon delivery of products or when the services are rendered.

Wide-body business aircraft (Bombardier Challenger 300, Bombardier Challenger 604 and Bombardier Global Express) contracts are
segmented between green aircraft (i.e. before interiors and optional avionics are installed) and completion of interiors. Revenues are recognized
based on green aircraft deliveries when certain conditions are met, and upon final acceptance of interiors and optional avionics by customers.
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Revenues from long-term contracts consisting of designing, engineering or manufacturing of products, including major refurbishments, are
recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting consistent with Statement of Position 81-1 “Accounting for Performance
of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts” (SOP 81-1) published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA). The degree of completion is generally determined by comparing the costs incurred to the total costs anticipated for the entire contract,
excluding costs that are not representative for the measure of performance.

Revenues from long-term service contracts are recognized based on service performance over the term of the contract for service
contracts entered into on or after December 17, 2003. Service contracts entered into prior to December 17, 2003, are accounted for using
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

Estimated revenues from long-term contracts include revenues from change orders and claims when it is probable that they will result in
additional revenues in an amount that can be reliably estimated.

Cost of sales
a) Aerospace programs 
Average unit cost for commercial and business aircraft is determined based on the estimated total production costs for a predetermined
program quantity. Program quantities are established based on Management’s assessment of market conditions and foreseeable demand
at the beginning of the production stage for each program, taking into consideration, among other factors, existing firm orders and options. 
The average unit cost is recorded to cost of sales at the time of each aircraft delivery. Under the learning curve concept, which anticipates 
a predictable decrease in unit costs as tasks and production techniques become more efficient through repetition and management action,
excess over-average production costs during the early stages of a program are deferred and recovered from sales of aircraft anticipated 
to be produced later at lower-than-average costs.

Estimates of average unit production costs and of program quantities are an integral component of average cost accounting. Management
conducts quarterly reviews as well as a detailed annual review in the fourth quarter, as part of its annual budget process, of its cost estimates
and program quantities, and the effect of any revisions are accounted for by way of a cumulative catch-up adjustment to income in the period
in which the revision takes place.

b) Long-term contracts
Cost of sales for long-term contracts is established based on cost incurred, including material, direct labour and manufacturing overhead costs.
If a contract review indicates a negative gross margin, the entire expected loss on the contract is recognized in the period in which the negative
gross margin is identified.

Management conducts quarterly reviews as well as a detailed annual review in the fourth quarter, as part of its annual budget process, of
its cost estimates, and the effect of any revisions are accounted for by way of a cumulative catch-up adjustment to income in the period in
which the revision takes place.

Inventory valuation
a) Aerospace programs
Inventory, determined under the average cost accounting method, is recorded at the lower of cost or net recoverable value. It includes raw materials,
direct labour and manufacturing overhead.

To the extent that inventory costs are expected to exceed their recoverable amount, charges are made to current period income to reduce
inventoried costs to their estimated recoverable amount.

b) Long-term contracts
Long-term contracts inventory is recorded at cost which includes material, direct labour, manufacturing overhead incurred and related
estimated margins.

c) Other inventories
Raw material and finished product inventories, other than those included in long-term contracts and aerospace programs, are valued at the
lower of cost (specific cost, average cost or first-in, first-out) and replacement cost (raw materials) or net realizable value (finished products).
The cost of finished products includes the cost of raw materials, direct labour and related manufacturing overhead.

Pre-owned aircraft available for sale are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The Corporation determines net realizable value
by using third-party appraisals of aircraft value and by reviewing current and future market conditions, including information developed from the
sale of similar aircraft in the secondary market. 
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d) Advances and progress billings
Advances received and progress billings on long-term contracts and aerospace programs are deducted from related costs in inventories.
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs are shown as liabilities.

Research and development
Development costs are capitalized when certain criteria are met for deferral and their recovery is reasonably assured. Development costs
related to aerospace programs are included in aerospace program tooling. Research and development costs related to long-term contracts
are recorded as inventory costs and charged to cost of sales under long-term contract accounting.

Research and development expenses presented in the consolidated statements of income exclude those incurred under long-term contracts
and aerospace programs.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price, including acquisition costs, of businesses acquired and the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset
might be impaired. If the carrying value of a reporting unit, including the allocated goodwill, exceeds its fair value, goodwill impairment is
measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s allocated goodwill over the implied fair value of the goodwill, based on
the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit.

Product warranties
Warranty expense is recognized at the time of sale based on estimated amounts of warranty costs to be incurred. These estimates are
based on a number of factors, including the historical warranty claims and cost experience, the type and duration of warranty coverage, the
nature of products sold and counter-warranty coverage available from the Corporation’s suppliers. The Corporation periodically reviews 
its recorded warranty liability and adjusts the amount recognized as necessary.

Warranty expense is recorded as a component of cost of sales.  

Sales incentives
In connection with the sale of new aircraft, the Corporation provides credit guarantees, residual value guarantees and trade-in options 
to customers.

The provisions for losses for credit and residual value guarantees are measured at the time of sale based on the expected net present
value of net payments to be made under the guarantees. The provisions for losses for trade-in options are recorded at the amount of the
anticipated losses. The Corporation determines expected future payments or losses under the guarantees or trade-in options using, when
available, third-party appraisals of expected aircraft value, current credit ratings of guaranteed parties, current and future market conditions, 
the age and condition of the aircraft and expected availability levels for the aircraft in the market. The provisions are reviewed quarterly and the
effect of any revision is recognized in the period in which the revision takes place. 
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BC – Significant accounting policies
Financing revenues
Financing revenues are comprised of the following:

a) Interest income
Interest income related to finance receivables is recognized on an accrual basis, computed on the average daily finance receivables 
outstanding balance. 

b) Finance lease income
Lease income related to finance leases is recognized over the terms of the applicable leases in a manner that produces a constant rate of return
on the lease investment.  

c) Operating lease income
Operating lease income is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

Lease receivables
Assets leased under terms that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership to customers are accounted for as direct
financing leases and included in finance receivables.

Deferred origination costs
BC defers the direct origination costs of finance receivables. These costs are amortized on a yield basis over the expected term of the 
finance receivables.
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1 CH A N G E S I N AC C O U N T I N G P O L I C I E S

Impairment of long-lived assets
The Corporation early adopted the new accounting recommendations related to the determination of long-lived asset impairment as well as
recognition, measurement and disclosure of the impairment, effective February 1, 2003. The adoption of these new recommendations had
no material impact on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended January 31, 2004.

Disposal of long-lived assets and discontinued operations
The Corporation early adopted the new accounting recommendations providing accounting guidance for long-lived assets to be disposed of
other than by sale, long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, and presentation and disclosure for discontinued operations, effective 
February 1, 2003. The adoption of these new recommendations had no material impact on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended January 31, 2004.

Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments
During the fourth quarter of the year ended January 31, 2004, the Corporation began expensing, with retroactive effect to February 1, 2003,
employee stock-based compensation using the fair value based method for all awards granted or modified after February 1, 2003 in accordance
with the new accounting recommendations for stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments. Previously, the Corporation
accounted for its employee stock-based compensation as capital transactions. The adoption of these new recommendations had no material
impact on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended January 31, 2004.

Severance and termination benefits and costs associated with exit and disposal activities 
In April 2003, the Corporation prospectively adopted the new accounting rules of the Emerging Issues Committee (EIC) relating to “Accounting
for Severance and Termination Benefits” (EIC 134) and “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit and Disposal Activities” (EIC 135). These new
accounting rules provide interpretive guidance to harmonize accounting rules for severance and termination benefits and require companies
to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or
disposal plan. Prior to these rules, a commitment to an exit or disposal plan was sufficient to record the majority of such costs. The Corporation
applied these new rules to the restructuring charges recorded as special items after the date of adoption.

Accounting for separately priced extended warranty and product maintenance contracts 
On December 17, 2003, the Corporation prospectively adopted the new accounting rules of the EIC relating to “Accounting for Separately Priced
Extended Warranty and Product Maintenance Contracts” (EIC 143). These new accounting rules apply to extended warranty and product
maintenance contracts that are separately priced, as well as those not separately priced but which are accounted for as separate units of
accounting in accordance with “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (EIC 142). These new rules apply to contracts entered
into on or after December 17, 2003. The adoption of the new rules had no material impact on the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year ended January 31, 2004.

Employee future benefits
The Corporation early adopted the additional disclosure recommendations for Employee Future Benefits for current and comparative 
year information. 

Notes to consolidated financial statements
F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4  A N D  2 0 0 3
( T A B U L A R  F I G U R E S  I N  M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ,  U N L E S S  O T H E R W I S E  I N D I C A T E D )
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2 DI S C O N T I N U E D O P E R AT I O N S A N D A S S E T S H E L D F O R S A L E

On December 18, 2003, the Corporation sold its recreational products segment for $960 million, $910 million of which was paid in cash, and
$50 million of which was paid through the issuance of preferred shares of the purchaser’s parent company. The preferred shares, which
carry a cumulative 6% dividend and are redeemable under certain conditions, were recorded at their fair value of $40 million. Net proceeds
at closing were impacted by adjustments totalling $153 million for variations in working capital, pension plan funding, transaction costs and
other items. As a result, net cash proceeds were $740 million, net of cash disposed of $17 million. Net cash proceeds will be further adjusted
during the fiscal year ending January 31, 2005 for the Corporation’s commitments towards pension plan funding and other adjustments.
This transaction resulted in a gain of $155 million ($101 million after tax). The results of operations, cash flows and financial position of this
segment have been segregated in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

In connection with this sale, the Corporation and the Corporation’s former recreational product segment (referred to as BRP in these
Consolidated Financial Statements – see note 9) entered into a trademark licence agreement under which Bombardier licensed to BRP
certain trademarks owned by Bombardier.

The results of discontinued operations (up to December 18, 2003 for fiscal year 2004) presented in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income were as follows:

2004 2003
( 3 2 1 - D A Y ( 3 6 5 - D A Y

P E R I O D ) P E R I O D )

Revenues $2,147 $2,476
Cost of sales and operating expenses (1) 2,062 2,247
Depreciation and amortization 46 57
Interest expense, net 30 33

2,138 2,337
Income before income taxes 9 139
Income tax expense 4 45

5 94
Gain on sale of the recreational products segment, net of tax 101 –
Income from discontinued operations $ 106 $ 94
(1) Includes selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses.

The cash flows from discontinued operations presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows were as follows:
2004 2003

( 3 2 1 - D A Y ( 3 6 5 - D A Y
P E R I O D ) P E R I O D )

Operating activities $ (214) $ 155
Investing activities (30) (46)
Financing activities 1 (3)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 16 19
Cash flows from discontinued operations $ (227) $ 125

On May 22, 2003, the Corporation sold the Belfast City Airport unit for net proceeds of £35 million ($78 million), resulting in a pre-tax gain of
$3 million. On October 31, 2003, the Corporation sold Military Aviation Services (MAS) for net proceeds of $85 million US ($112 million),
resulting in a pre-tax gain of $98 million. These activities were part of the aerospace segment.

The assets and liabilities of these units, as well as the recreational products segment, were segregated in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets and were reported as Assets held for sale and Liabilities related to assets held for sale.
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The assets held for sale and related liabilities were as follows as at January 31, 2003:
M A S  A N D

R E C R E A T I O N A L B E L F A S T  C I T Y
P R O D U C T S A I R P O R T T O T A L

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29 $ – $ 29
Receivables 70 19 89
Inventories 554 4 558
Property, plant and equipment 373 112 485
Other assets 98 1 99

$1,124 $ 136 $1,260
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 610 $ 67 $ 677
Long-term debt 4 – 4
Other liabilities 106 47 153

$ 720 $ 114 $ 834

3 RE C E I VA B L E S

Receivables were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier
Trade receivables

Aerospace 
U.S. dollars $ 184 $ 188
Canadian dollars 42 131
Other currencies 17 20

Transportation 
Euros 552 479
U.S. dollars 258 104
Various western currencies 218 223
Sterling pounds 206 270
Other currencies 120 46

1,597 1,461
Claims (1) 248 303
Retained interests 218 218
Sales tax 132 22
Income tax credit 13 62
Other 137 123

2,345 2,189
Allowance for doubtful accounts (99) (96)

2,246 2,093
BC 192 166

$2,438 $2,259
(1) See note 24 – claims.

The dollar denomination of trade receivables was attributed based on the invoicing currency.
As at January 31, 2004, the receivables transferred to financing structures and outstanding amounted to $336 million ($387 million as at

January 31, 2003), $118 million ($169 million as at January 31, 2003) of which were sold. The retained interests provide credit enhancements
for the receivables transferred on a fully-serviced basis. These receivables are not available to pay the Corporation’s creditors. The Corporation
received proceeds of $1.4 billion on the sale of trade receivables during fiscal year 2004 ($387 million for fiscal year 2003).

NO T E 2.  DI S C O N T I N U E D O P E R A T I O N S A N D A S S E T S F O R S A L E (C O N T’D)
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4 FI NA N C E R E C E I VA B L E S

BC’s finance receivables were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E  A V E R A G E A V E R A G E A V E R A G E

M A T U R I T Y R A T E M A T U R I T Y R A T E
T O T A L ( M O N T H S ) ( % ) T O T A L ( M O N T H S ) ( % )

Continued portfolios
Inventory finance (1) $2,474 5 8.7 $2,953 5 8.8
Receivable financing with BRP 84 2 5.2 – – –

2,558 2,953
Commercial aircraft

Interim financing 685 7 4.6 786 6 4.5
Long-term leasing 100 68 5.7 136 73 5.6

785 922
Total (2) 3,343 3,875
Allowance for credit losses (38) (44)
Total continued portfolios 3,305 3,831
Wind-down portfolios

Manufactured housing (3) 310 245 11.6 434 258 11.6
Business aircraft 265 63 6.7 1,221 55 6.2
Consumer finance 195 88 11.0 342 89 11.4
Industrial equipment 42 37 8.8 59 42 8.8
Receivable factoring – – – 1,039 3 4.3
Other (4) 69 15 8.5 194 21 9.0

Total (5) 881 3,289
Allowance for credit losses (38) (107)
Total wind-down portfolios 843 3,182

$4,148 $7,013
(1) Includes $1,582 million securitized to third parties as at January 31, 2004 ($2,089 million as at January 31, 2003).
(2) Comprised of $669 million of loans, $2,558 million of receivables and $116 million of lease receivables as at January 31, 2004 ($771 million, $2,953 million and $151 million respectively,

as at January 31, 2003).
(3) In addition, manufactured housing portfolios in public securitization vehicles amounting to $1,559 million as at January 31, 2004 ($2,096 million as at January 31, 2003) were serviced by BC.
(4) Includes the technology management and finance, mid-market equipment commercial finance and small ticket finance portfolios. 
(5) Comprised of $690 million of loans and $191 million of lease receivables as at January 31, 2004 ($1,852 million of loans, $1,039 million of receivables and $398 million of lease receivables

as at January 31, 2003).

Product description
a) Continued portfolios
The inventory finance portfolio represents mainly floorplan receivables from retailers of recreational products. These receivables are generally
collateralized by the related inventory and are secured by repurchase agreements with distributors or manufacturers. In the event of default, BC may
repossess the products from a retailer within a specified time period and may require the distributors or manufacturers to repurchase them.

Effective June 1, 2002, certain modifications were made to the securitization agreements related to the floorplan receivable portfolios. As
a result, the Corporation regained control for accounting purposes, of these portfolios and, accordingly, an amount of $2.0 billion of securitized
receivables and the related short-term borrowings and long-term debt were recognized on-balance sheet as of that date. No gains or losses
resulted from these transactions.

Receivable financing with BRP consists of trade receivables originated from BRP. BC funds receivables subject to certain eligibility criteria
for BRP’s U.S. and European subsidiaries. Funding occurs in U.S. dollars and currency risk is retained by BRP (see note 9). 

The commercial aircraft portfolio includes loans and lease receivables related to interim and long-term financing of commercial aircraft.
The loans and lease receivables are generally collateralized by the related assets.
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b) Wind-down portfolios
The manufactured housing portfolio consists of contractual promises made by the buyers of manufactured housing units in the U.S. to pay
amounts owed under retail instalment sales contracts. BC obtains a security interest in the housing units purchased.

The business aircraft portfolio consists of loans and lease receivables, mainly with third-party purchasers of new and pre-owned business
aircraft. During fiscal year 2004, the Corporation sold a significant portion of this portfolio for $339 million US ($475 million) at the carrying value
of the assets sold. Payment of $42 million US ($56 million) is conditional upon the performance of the portfolio sold. This amount is presented
in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

The consumer finance portfolio relates primarily to the financing of third-party recreational products in the form of revolving credit and
instalment loans, secured by the related recreational products, to consumers in the U.S. 

The industrial equipment portfolio consists mainly of loans and finance leases receivables to companies in the ski industry. Following the
decision to no longer originate loans in this portfolio, the portfolio has been reclassified from continuing to wind-down portfolios in fiscal
year 2004. 

Receivable factoring consisted of third-party trade receivables originated from Bombardier’s manufacturing segments. 

Lease receivables
Lease receivables are mostly concentrated in the commercial aircraft long-term leasing and the business aircraft portfolios, as well as the
“other” wind-down portfolios and consist of the following, before-allowance-for-credit losses as at January 31:

2004 2003
C O N T I N U E D W I N D - D O W N C O N T I N U E D W I N D - D O W N

Total minimum lease payments $167 $227 $181 $ 497
Unearned income (51) (43) (30) (110)
Unguaranteed residual value – 7 – 11

$116 $191 $151 $ 398

Minimum receipts
Minimum receipts in connection with finance receivables for the next five fiscal years and thereafter were as follows:

C O N T I N U E D W I N D - D O W N

L E A S E L E A S E
L O A N S R E C E I V A B L E S R E C E I V A B L E S L O A N S R E C E I V A B L E S T O T A L

2005 $619 $2,558 $114 $ 97 $ 59 $3,447
2006 – – 44 83 36 163
2007 – – 6 69 23 98
2008 3 – 3 56 16 78
2009 2 – – 40 14 56
Thereafter 45 – – 345 79 469
Minimum receipts 669 2,558 167 690 227 4,311
Unearned income – – (51) – (43) (94)
Unguaranteed residual value – – – – 7 7

$669 $2,558 $116 $690 $191 $4,224

NO T E 4.  FI N A N C E R E C E I V A B L E S (C O N T’D)
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Credit facilities
BC has provided certain of its third-party customers with credit facilities totalling $652 million and $2,572 million US as at January 31, 2004
($671 million and $2,519 million US as at January 31, 2003). The unused portion of these facilities amounted to $246 million and $950 mil-
lion US as at January 31, 2004 ($168 million and $907 million US as at January 31, 2003). These credit facilities are generally committed for
periods not exceeding one year.

Allowance for credit losses
Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows as at January 31:

2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year $ 151 $ 273
Provision for credit losses 81 120
Amounts charged off – net of recoveries (141) (234)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes (15) (8)
Balance at end of year $ 76 $ 151

Impaired finance receivables amounted to $8 million and $93 million as at January 31, 2004 for continued and wind-down portfolios
respectively ($40 million and $218 million respectively as at January 31, 2003). Repossessed assets amounted to $49 million and $31 million
as at January 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

Geographic distribution
The geographic distribution of finance receivables before allowance for credit losses was as follows as at January 31:

2004

W E S T E R N

C A N A D A U N I T E D  S T A T E S E U R O P E O T H E R T O T A L

Loans $ 49 $1,270 $ 17 $ 23 $1,359

Receivables 400 2,152 2 4 2,558

Lease receivables 54 155 2 96 307

$503 $3,577 $ 21 $ 123 $4,224

2003
W E S T E R N

C A N A D A U N I T E D  S T A T E S E U R O P E O T H E R T O T A L

Loans $128 $2,231 $207 $ 57 $2,623
Receivables 774 2,897 310 11 3,992
Lease receivables 62 247 106 134 549

$964 $5,375 $623 $ 202 $7,164

No single customer represented more than 10% of BC’s finance receivables as at January 31, 2004 and 2003.

Securitizations and other transfers of receivables
BC retains interests in the finance receivables sold to special-purpose entities (SPEs), amounting to $87 million as at January 31, 2004 
($114 million as at January 31, 2003). The retained interests are presented with the related finance receivable portfolios. BC was also servicing
finance receivables sold to third parties related to its wind-down portfolios, amounting to $84 million as at January 31, 2004 ($179 million as
at January 31, 2003). BC records fee income in connection with the retained servicing rights. 

NO T E 4.  FI N A N C E R E C E I V A B L E S (C O N T’D)
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5 AS S E T S U N D E R O P E R AT I N G L E A S E S

Assets under operating leases were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

N E T  B O O K N E T  B O O K
C O S T V A L U E C O S T V A L U E

Bombardier
Pre-owned aircraft $ 120 $114 $ 7 $ 7

BC
Continued portfolios
Commercial aircraft 424 275 453 378
Wind-down portfolios
Business aircraft 338 231 907 815
Freight cars 70 51 80 61
Industrial equipment (1) 69 46 73 56
Other 43 23 71 41

520 351 1,131 973
Total BC 944 626 1,584 1,351

$1,064 $740 $1,591 $1,358
(1) The industrial equipment portfolio was reclassified from continuing to wind-down portfolios during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004.

The weighted average maturity of the operating leases was 66 and 39 months for Bombardier and BC, respectively, as at January 31, 2004
(47 and 56 months for Bombardier and BC, respectively, as at January 31, 2003).

Depreciation of assets under operating leases was $6 million and $125 million for Bombardier and BC, respectively, for the year ended
January 31, 2004 (nil and $169 million for Bombardier and BC, respectively, for the year ended January 31, 2003) and is included in depreciation
and amortization in the consolidated statements of income.

BC also manages a portfolio of freight cars under operating leases whereby BC is the lessee/sub-lessor. The net present value of 
the minimum lease payments payable by BC pursuant to these arrangements was $864 million as at January 31, 2004 ($1,018 million as at
January 31, 2003). BC’s undiscounted minimum lease payments related to this portfolio are included in note 24.

6 IN V E N TO R I E S

Bombardier’s inventories were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

Raw materials $ 106 $ 114
Aerospace programs 2,150 2,184
Long-term contracts 2,438 1,711
Finished products 1,062 1,255

$5,756 $5,264

As at January 31, 2004, finished products included four new aircraft, not associated with a firm order, amounting to $71 million and 23 
pre-owned aircraft amounting to $213 million (16 new aircraft amounting to $244 million and 11 pre-owned aircraft amounting to $80 million as
at January 31, 2003).
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Aerospace programs
Aerospace program inventories included the following excess over-average production costs (EOAPC) as at January 31: 

2004 2003
Regional aircraft

Bombardier CRJ Series $ 317 $ 334
Bombardier Q-Series 94 94

Business aircraft
Bombardier Learjet Series 365 379
Bombardier Challenger 300 72 –
Bombardier Global Series 538 483

$1,386 $1,290

The EOAPC recoverable from existing firm orders amounted to $440 million as at January 31, 2004 ($515 million as at January 31, 2003).
Management expects to recover the balance of EOAPC from future customer orders.

Anticipated proceeds from future sales of aircraft for each program exceeded the related costs in inventories as at January 31, 2004 and
2003, plus the estimated additional production costs to be incurred for each program. However, substantial amounts of EOAPC costs may
eventually be charged to expense in a given year if fewer than the aircraft program quantity are sold, the proceeds from future sales of
aircraft are lower than those anticipated, or the costs to be incurred to complete the programs exceed current estimates.

Advances and progress billings
Under certain contracts, title to inventories is vested in the customer as the work is performed, in accordance with contractual arrangements
and industry practice. In addition, in the normal conduct of its operations, the Corporation provides performance bonds, bank guarantees
and other forms of guarantees to customers, mainly in the transportation segment, as security for advances received from customers pending
performance under certain contracts. In accordance with industry practice, the Corporation remains liable to the purchasers for the usual
contractor’s obligations relating to contract completion in accordance with predetermined specifications, timely delivery and product performance.

Costs incurred and recorded margins related to long-term contracts and costs incurred related to ongoing aerospace programs amounted
to $5,510 million and $2,922 million respectively, as at January 31, 2004 ($5,212 million and $3,275 million respectively, as at January 31, 2003).
Advances received and progress billings on long-term contracts and ongoing aerospace programs amounted to $5,836 million and 
$1,571 million, respectively, as at January 31, 2004 ($6,542 million and $1,866 million respectively, as at January 31, 2003), $2,764 million
and $799 million of which represent a liability disclosed as advances and progress billings in excess of related costs as at January 31, 2004
($3,041 million and $775 million respectively, as at January 31, 2003).

NO T E 6.  IN V E N T O R I E S (C O N T’D)
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7 PRO P E RT Y,  P L A N T A N D E QU I P M E N T

Property, plant and equipment were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

N E T  B O O K N E T  B O O K  
C O S T V A L U E C O S T V A L U E

Bombardier
Land $ 138 $ 138 $ 221 $ 221
Buildings 2,176 1,284 2,233 1,505
Equipment 1,719 754 1,931 997
Aerospace program tooling

Regional aircraft 1,495 699 1,397 784
Business aircraft 2,273 1,498 2,216 1,532

Other 201 182 250 200
8,002 4,555 8,248 5,239

BC 163 119 200 147
$8,165 $4,674 $8,448 $5,386

Included in the above are assets under construction and development amounting to $210 million and $634 million, respectively as at 
January 31, 2004 and 2003. Interest capitalized to assets under construction and development amounted to $18 million and $35 million,
respectively, for the years ended January 31, 2004 and 2003.

8 GO O DW I L L

Goodwill is related to the DaimlerChrysler Rail Systems GmbH (Adtranz) acquisition. The change in the carrying amount of goodwill relates
mainly to foreign exchange fluctuations.

9 TR A N S AC T I O N S W I T H R E L AT E D PA RT I E S

In the ordinary course of business, BC purchases receivables from BRP, a company with common significant shareholders with Bombardier
Inc., from which it earns financing revenues. In addition, BC also earns financing revenues related to sales incentive programs in connection
with retailer financing provided by BC. These transactions are measured at exchange amounts which approximate fair value. 

Total transactions with BRP were as follows during the period between December 19, 2003 and January 31, 2004:

Receivable financing $102
Financing revenues $ 3

BRP and BC have entered into a retail floorplan inventory financing agreement for retailers of BRP products and a receivables financing agreement.
The inventory financing agreement is for a maximum amount of $750 million US ($995 million) for a renewable period of five years. Under

the agreement, BC acts as the exclusive provider of floorplan financing to retailers of BRP-manufactured products (excluding outboard engine
products). During the term of the agreement, BC has agreed not to provide retailer floorplan financing related to products of direct competitors
of BRP (excluding outboard engine products). 

The receivable financing agreement is for a maximum of $115 million US ($153 million) and expires in June 2005. BC funds receivables
subject to certain eligibility criteria for BRP’s U.S. and European subsidiaries. Funding occurs in U.S. dollars and currency risk is retained by BRP.
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10 OT H E R A S S E T S

Other assets were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier
Intangible assets (1), net of accumulated amortization of $59 million as at January 31, 2004 

($33 million as at January 31, 2003) $ 274 $ 287
Loans and investments (2) 372 130
Prepaid expenses 197 204
Investment in preferred shares (see note 2) 40 –
Other 115 137

998 758
BC
Loan (3) 412 –
Derivative financial instruments 297 114
Prepaid expenses 75 78
Deposits 58 –
Other 119 195

961 387
$1,959 $1,145

(1) Include licences, patents and trademarks.
(2) Loans and investments include $262 million as at January 31, 2004 ($58 million as at January 31, 2003) related to financing structures in the aerospace segment, as well as $89 million 

as at January 31, 2004 ($72 million as at January 31, 2003) related to marketable securities and $21 million as at January 31, 2004 (nil as at January 31, 2003) of other long-term receivables.
(3) The loan was made in connection with a financing transaction entered into for term-debt management.

11 SH O RT-T E R M B O R ROW I N G S

Short-term borrowings were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier $ – $ 381
BC 308 2,183

$ 308 $2,564

Under banking syndicate agreements, Bombardier Inc. and some of its subsidiaries must maintain certain financial ratios, a condition which
was met as at January 31, 2004 and 2003.

Bombardier
Bombardier’s credit facilities and their rates and maturities, were as follows as at January 31: 

2004

L E T T E R S  O F  A V E R A G E M A T U R I T Y  

A M O U N T S C R E D I T Y E A R - E N D  R A T E  F O R  ( F I S C A L  

C O M M I T T E D D R A W N D R A W N A V A I L A B L E R A T E T H E  Y E A R Y E A R )

European $6,129 $ – $4,484 $1,645 – 2.5% 2005-2008

North American 1,730 – 1,271 459 – 3.9% 2005-2006

$7,859 $ – $5,755 $2,104

2003
L E T T E R S  O F  A V E R A G E M A T U R I T Y

A M O U N T S C R E D I T Y E A R - E N D  R A T E  F O R  ( F I S C A L  
C O M M I T T E D D R A W N (1) D R A W N A V A I L A B L E R A T E T H E  Y E A R Y E A R )

European $6,159 $381 $3,574 $2,204 3.1% 3.1% 2004-2008
North American 1,750 – 616 1,134 – 2.9% 2004-2006

$7,909 $381 $4,190 $3,338
(1) The foreign currency component of the amounts drawn was €195 million.
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On September 9, 2003, the Corporation renewed the 364-day portion of its North American credit facility for an amount of $730 million
(previously $750 million).

On July 9, 2003, the Corporation renewed the 364-day portion of its European credit facility for an amount of €560 million (previously
€600 million).  

Remaining bilateral facilities resulting from the Adtranz acquisition amounted to $380 million as at January 31, 2004 ($505 million as at
January 31, 2003).  

In addition to the outstanding letters of credit shown in the above tables, Bombardier had $406 million of outstanding letters of credit as
at January 31, 2004 ($900 million as at January 31, 2003).  

In October 2002, Bombardier repaid, at maturity, $802 million (¥20 billion, €200 million and $250 million) of floating-rate notes issued in
August 2001. 

On July 10, 2002, the Corporation entered into a new €3,750-million credit facility to refinance its existing €1,700-million European credit
facility and various bilateral facilities resulting from the Adtranz acquisition. This credit facility had a committed 364-day portion of €600 million
and a committed five-year portion of €3,150 million.  

BC
BC’s credit facilities and borrowings and their rates and maturities were as follows as at January 31:

2004

A V E R A G E M A T U R I T Y

A M O U N T S Y E A R - E N D  R A T E  F O R  ( F I S C A L  

C O M M I T T E D D R A W N (1) A V A I L A B L E R A T E T H E  Y E A R Y E A R )

Revolving lines $ 796 $ – $ 796 – 1.8% 2006

Securitized floorplan 527 308 219 2.0% 2.2% 2005

$1,323 $ 308 $1,015

(1) The foreign currency component of the amounts drawn was $135 million US.

2003
A V E R A G E M A T U R I T Y

A M O U N T S Y E A R - E N D R A T E  F O R  ( F I S C A L  
C O M M I T T E D D R A W N (1) A V A I L A B L E R A T E T H E  Y E A R Y E A R )

Revolving lines $1,999 $ 727 $1,272 2.0% 2.1% 2004-2006
Bank loans 153 139 14 2.9% 3.0% 2004
Other 46 – 46 – 4.8% 2004
Securitized floorplan 1,317 1,317 – 1.5% 1.9% 2004

$3,515 $2,183 $1,332
(1) The foreign currency component of the amounts drawn was $473 million US for the revolving lines; $50 million US and various Western European currencies for an equivalent Canadian dollar

amount of $63 million for the bank loans; and $777 million US for the securitized floorplan.

During the year ended January 31, 2004, BC did not renew two 364-day revolving facilities of $470 million and $400 million US, which matured
in September 2003, in accordance with BC’s expected future requirements.

NO T E 11.  SH O R T-T E R M B O R R O W I N G S (C O N T’D)
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12 AC C O U N T S PAYA B L E A N D AC C RU E D L I A B I L I T I E S

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities were as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier
Accounts payable $2,849 $3,233
Sales incentives and related provisions 1,575 1,127
Warranty provision 1,236 1,269
Accrued liabilities 1,178 1,243
Payroll related liabilities 477 481
Severance and other involuntary termination obligations 237 148
Interest payable 153 177
Other 963 816

8,668 8,494
BC
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 111 130
Interest payable 57 88
Income taxes payable 25 4
Other 139 190

332 412
$9,000 $8,906

Product warranties
Product warranties in the aerospace segment typically range from one to five years, except for structural warranties which extend up to 
20 years, and from one to five years in the transportation segment. 

The following table summarizes product warranty activity during the year ended January 31, 2004:
A E R O S P A C E T R A N S P O R T A T I O N T O T A L

Balance as at January 31, 2003 $ 312 $ 957 $1,269
Current expense 171 556 727
Changes in estimates 106 (24) 82
Cash paid (235) (574) (809)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes (9) (24) (33)
Balance as at January 31, 2004 $ 345 $ 891 $1,236
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13 LO N G-T E R M D E B T

Long-term debts were as follows as at January 31:
2004

A M O U N T  I N

C U R R E N C Y F I X E D/ I N T E R E S T P A Y M E N T

O F  O R I G I N C U R R E N C Y V A R I A B L E R A T E (2) M A T U R I T Y O F  I N T E R E S T (3) A M O U N T

Bombardier
Private placements – debentures 150 US Fixed 6.58% Jan. 2006 SA $ 199

Debentures 175 GBP Fixed 6.25% Feb. 2006 A 423

150 CDN Fixed 6.40% Dec. 2006 SA 150

500 Euro Fixed 5.75% Feb. 2008 A 826

150 CDN Fixed 7.35% Dec. 2026 SA 150

Notes 39 CDN Fixed 7.00% Jan. 2012 A 39

550 US Fixed 6.75% May 2012 SA 730

Other 94 US Fix./Var. 2.13% 2006-2029 Various 124

140 (1) Various Fix./Var. 3.82% 2004-2027 Various 140

2,781

BC
Medium-term notes 300 US Fixed 10.24% May 2004 A 398

300 US Fixed 7.50% Aug. 2004 SA 398

250 CDN Fixed 6.60% Nov. 2004 SA 250

200 US Fixed 7.50% Oct. 2005 SA 265

450 US Fixed 6.13% June 2006 SA 597

200 CDN Fixed 6.35% July 2006 SA 200

220 US Fixed 7.09% Mar. 2007 SA 292

Notes 500 Euro Fixed 6.13% May 2007 A 826

300 GBP Fixed 6.75% May 2009 A 725

Securitized floorplan (4) 80 CDN Variable 3.41% June 2004 M 80

400 US Variable 1.46% Aug. 2005 M 531

500 US Variable 1.45% Dec. 2005 M 663

Other 68 (1) Various Fixed 8.30% 2005-2017 M 68

5,293

$8,074

(1) These amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. 
(2) Interest rates are before giving effect to the related hedging derivative financial instruments – see note 22, and for variable-rate debt, represent the average rate for the year.
(3) Monthly (M), semi-annually (SA) and annually (A).
(4) The amount in currency of origin represents the total committed facility. 



page 109Bombardier Inc. Annual Report 2003-04

2003
A M O U N T  I N
C U R R E N C Y F I X E D / I N T E R E S T P A Y M E N T
O F  O R I G I N C U R R E N C Y V A R I A B L E R A T E (2) M A T U R I T Y O F  I N T E R E S T (3) A M O U N T

Bombardier
Private placements – debentures 9 US Fixed 6.32% Sept. 2003 SA $ 13

150 US Fixed 6.58% Jan. 2006 SA 229
Debentures 150 CDN Fixed 8.30% July 2003 SA 150

175 GBP Fixed 6.25% Feb. 2006 A 440
150 CDN Fixed 6.40% Dec. 2006 SA 150
500 Euro Fixed 5.75% Feb. 2008 A 821
150 CDN Fixed 7.35% Dec. 2026 SA 150

Notes 44 CDN Fixed 7.00% Jan. 2012 A 44
550 US Fixed 6.75% May 2012 SA 841

Other 77 US Fix./Var. 2.41% 2004-2029 Various 119
142(1) Various Fix./Var. 3.46% 2004-2027 Various 142

3,099
BC
Medium-term notes 300 US Fixed 5.63% June 2003 A 459

100 CDN Fixed 6.55% July 2003 SA 100
235 US Variable 4.04% Nov. 2003 Q 359
300 US Fixed 7.50% Aug. 2004 SA 459
250 CDN Fixed 6.60% Nov. 2004 SA 250
200 US Fixed 7.50% Oct. 2005 SA 306
450 US Fixed 6.13% June 2006 SA 688
200 CDN Fixed 6.35% July 2006 SA 200
220 US Fixed 7.09% Mar. 2007 SA 336

Notes 500 Euro Fixed 6.13% May 2007 A 821
300 GBP Fixed 6.75% May 2009 A 755

Debentures 250 CDN Fixed 6.00% Feb. 2003 SA 250
Securitized floorplan (4) 400 US Variable 1.93% Sept. 2003 M 612

160 CAN Variable 2.95% June 2004 M 160
Other 72(1) Various Fixed 9.78% 2004-2017 M 72

5,827
$8,926

(1) These amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. 
(2) Interest rates are before giving effect to the related hedging derivative financial instruments – see note 22, and for variable-rate debt, represent the average rate for the year.
(3) Monthly (M), quarterly (Q), semi-annually (SA) and annually (A).
(4) The amount under currency of origin represents the total committed facility.

The repayment requirements of the long-term debt during the next five fiscal years are as follows:
B O M B A R D I E R B C T O T A L

2005 $ 41 $1,136 $1,177
2006 246 1,462 1,708
2007 586 800 1,386
2008 28 1,126 1,154
2009 833 4 837

All outstanding debt as at January 31, 2004, with the exception of the securitized floorplan, currently rank pari-passu and are unsecured.
The securitized floorplan are collateralized by a pledge of the related finance receivables.

As at January 31, 2004 and 2003, the Corporation had complied with the covenants contained in its various financing agreements.

NO T E 13.  LO N G-T E R M D E B T (C O N T’D)
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14 SH A R E C A P I TA L

Preferred shares
An unlimited number of non-voting preferred shares, without nominal or par value, issuable in series are authorized. The following series
have been issued:

12,000,000 Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares
Redemption: Redeemable, at the Corporation’s option at $25.50 per share.
Conversion: Convertible on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the holder, on August 1, 2007 and on August 1 of every fifth year thereafter

into Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Fourteen days before the conversion date, if the Corporation
determines, after having taken into account all shares tendered for conversion by holders, that there would be less than
1,000,000 outstanding Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares, such remaining number shall automatically be
converted into an equal number of Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Additionally, if the Corporation
determines that on any conversion date, there would be less than 1,000,000 outstanding Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares, then no Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares may be converted.

Dividend: Since August 1, 2002, the variable cumulative preferential cash dividends are payable monthly on the 15th day of each month,
if declared, with the annual variable dividend rate being equal to 80% of the Canadian prime rate. The dividend rate will vary
in relation to changes in the prime rate and will be adjusted upwards or downwards on a monthly basis to a monthly maximum
of 4% if the trading price of the Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares is less than $24.90 per share or more
than $25.10 per share. Until July 31, 2002, the quarterly dividend rate was equal to $0.34375 per share.

12,000,000 Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares
Redemption: Redeemable, at the Corporation’s option, at $25.00 per share on August 1, 2007 and on August 1 of every fifth year thereafter.
Conversion: Convertible on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the holder, on August 1, 2007 and on August 1 of every fifth year thereafter

into Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Fourteen days before the conversion date, if the Corporation
determines, after having taken into account all shares tendered for conversion by holders, that there would be less than
1,000,000 outstanding Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares, such remaining number shall automatically be
converted into an equal number of Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. Additionally, if the Corporation
determines that on any conversion date there would be less than 1,000,000 outstanding Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares, then no Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares may be converted.

Dividend: Until July 31, 2007, the Series 3 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares carry fixed cumulative preferential cash dividends
at a rate of 5.476% or $1.369 per share per annum, payable quarterly on the last day of January, April, July and October of each
year at a rate of $0.34225, if declared. For each succeeding five-year period, the applicable fixed annual rate of the cumulative
preferential cash dividends calculated by the Corporation shall not be less than 80% of the Government of Canada bond
yield, as defined in the Articles of Incorporation. These dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last day of January, April,
July and October, if declared.
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9,400,000 Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares
Redemption: Redeemable, at the Corporation’s option, any time on or after March 31, 2007, at $26.00 per share if redeemed prior 

to March 31, 2008; $25.75 if redeemed on or after March 31, 2008 but prior to March 31, 2009; $25.50 if redeemed on or
after March 31, 2009 but prior to March 31, 2010; $25.25 if redeemed on or after March 31, 2010 but prior to March 31,
2011; and $25.00 if redeemed on or after March 31, 2011.

Conversion: On or after March 31, 2007, the Corporation may, subject to the approval of the Toronto Stock Exchange and such other
stock exchanges on which the Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares are then listed, at any time convert all or any
of the outstanding Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares into fully paid and non-assessable Class B Shares
(Subordinate Voting) of the Corporation. The number of Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) into which each Series 4
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares may be so converted will be determined by dividing the then applicable redemption
price together with all accrued and unpaid dividends to, but excluding the date of conversion, by the greater of $2.00 and 95%
of the weighted average trading price of such Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the
period of 20 consecutive trading days, which ends on the fourth day prior to the date specified for conversion or, if that
fourth day is not a trading day, on the trading day immediately preceding such fourth day. The Corporation may, at its option,
at any time, create one or more further series of Preferred Shares of the Corporation, into which the holders of Series 4
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares could have the right, but not the obligation, to convert their shares on a share-
for-share basis.

Dividend: The holders of Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares are entitled to fixed cumulative preferential cash dividends,
if declared, at a rate of 6.25% or $1.5625 per share per annum, payable quarterly on the last day of January, April, July and
October of each year at a rate of $0.390625 per share.

On March 8, 2002, the Corporation issued 9,400,000 Series 4 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares. The net proceeds from this issue
amounted to $228 million.

On August 1, 2002, 9,402,093 Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares were converted into 9,402,093 Series 3 Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Shares, leaving 2,597,907 Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares issued and outstanding out of the
authorized 12,000,000 Series 2 Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares, which had all been issued and outstanding until that date.

Common shares
The following classes of common shares, without nominal or par value, were authorized:

1,892,000,000 (1,792,000,000 in 2003) Class A Shares (Multiple Voting)
Voting rights: 10 votes each.
Conversion: Convertible, at any time, at the option of the holder, into one Class B Share (Subordinate Voting).

1,892,000,000 (1,792,000,000 in 2003) Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting)
Voting rights: One vote each.
Conversion: Convertible, at the option of the holder, into one Class A Share (Multiple Voting): (i) if an offer made to Class A (Multiple

Voting) shareholders is accepted by the present controlling shareholder (the Bombardier family); or (ii) if such controlling
shareholder ceases to hold more than 50% of all outstanding Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) of the Corporation.

Dividend: Annual non-cumulative preferential dividend of $0.0015625 per share, in priority to the Class A Shares (Multiple Voting),
payable quarterly on the last day of January, April, July and October of each year at a rate of $0.000390625 per share, 
if declared.

On April 17, 2003, the Corporation issued 370,000,000 Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) at a price of $3.25 per share. The net proceeds from
this issue amounted to $1,170 million, net of issue costs of $33 million.

NO T E 14.  SH A R E C A P I T A L (C O N T’D)
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15 SH A R E-BA S E D P L A N S

Share option plans
Under share option plans, options are granted to key employees and up to October 1, 2003 to directors to purchase Class B Shares
(Subordinate Voting). Of the 135,782,688 Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) initially reserved for issuance, 61,967,660 were available for
issuance under these share option plans as at January 31, 2004.

Prior share option plans
For options issued to key employees prior to May 27, 2003, and options issued to directors, the exercise price is equal to the average of the
closing prices on the stock exchange during the five trading days preceding the date on which the option was granted. These options vest at
25% per year during a period beginning two years following the grant date, except for 245,000 outstanding options granted to directors,
which vest at 20% per year beginning on the grant date. The options terminate no later than 10 years after the grant date.

The summarized information on options issued and outstanding and exercisable is as follows as at January 31, 2004:

I S S U E D  A N D

O U T S T A N D I N G E X E R C I S A B L E

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E W E I G H T E D A V E R A G E

E X E R C I S E  P R I C E N U M B E R  O F R E M A I N I N G A V E R A G E N U M B E R  O F E X E R C I S E
R A N G E O P T I O N S L I F E  ( Y E A R S ) E X E R C I S E  P R I C E O P T I O N S P R I C E

$0 to $5 9,520,466 2.8 $ 4.95 8,520,466 $ 4.92
$6 to $10 12,299,270 4.5 9.11 9,412,020 8.66
$11 to $15 6,735,250 7.2 13.45 2,992,250 11.30
$16 to $20 5,609,000 6.7 19.11 2,344,250 18.90
$21 to $25 3,263,500 7.0 23.01 971,250 23.23

37,427,486 (1) 24,240,236
(1) Including 3.1 million options held by former employees of the Corporation’s recreational products segment.

The number of options has varied as follows for the years ended January 31:
2004 2003

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E A V E R A G E

N U M B E R  O F E X E R C I S E N U M B E R  O F E X E R C I S E
O P T I O N S P R I C E O P T I O N S P R I C E

Balance at beginning of year 41,347,086 $11.32 43,841,984 $ 9.95
Granted – – 5,855,000 12.98
Exercised (1,898,000) 2.24 (6,916,032) 2.91
Cancelled (2,021,600) 15.83 (1,433,866) 16.64
Balance at end of year 37,427,486 $11.54 41,347,086 $11.32
Options exercisable at end of year 24,240,236 $ 9.24 21,010,071 $ 7.33

Current performance share option plan
Effective May 27, 2003, the Corporation amended prospectively the share option plan for key employees. The exercise price is equal to the
average of the closing prices on the stock exchange during the five trading days preceding the date on which the option was granted. However,
predetermined target market price thresholds must be achieved in order for the options to be exercised. As at January 31, 2004, target
prices ranged between $6 and $10. The options granted under the amended plan vest at 25% per year during a period beginning one year
following the grant date. The options terminate no later than seven years after the grant date. Options granted prior to May 27, 2003 have
not been affected by this amendment.
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The summarized information on options issued and outstanding is as follows as at January 31, 2004:

I S S U E D  A N D  O U T S T A N D I N G

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E A V E R A G E

E X E R C I S E N U M B E R  R E M A I N I N G E X E R C I S E
P R I C E  R A N G E O F  O P T I O N S L I F E  ( Y E A R S ) P R I C E

$3 to $6 6,646,500 6.38 $4.00

The number of options has varied as follows for the year ended January 31, 2004:
W E I G H T E D

A V E R A G E
N U M B E R E X E R C I S E

O F  O P T I O N S P R I C E

Balance at beginning of year – $ –
Granted 7,193,000 4.00
Cancelled (546,500) 3.93
Balance at end of year 6,646,500 $4.00
Options exercisable at end of year – –

Stock-based compensation expense
The weighted average grant date fair value of all stock-based arrangements granted during the year ended January 31, 2004 amounted 
to $1.52 per option. The fair value of each option granted was determined using an option pricing model and the following weighted 
average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 3.57%

Expected life 5 years

Expected volatility in the market price of the shares 50.88%

Expected dividend yield 1.20%

Pro forma disclosure of fair value of share options
Prior to February 1, 2003, the Corporation accounted for options granted under its share option plans as capital transactions. If the options
granted in fiscal year 2003 had been accounted for based on the fair value method, net loss for the year ended January 31, 2004 would
have increased by $8 million and basic and diluted loss per share would have remained as reported. For the year ended January 31, 2003,
net loss would have increased by $7 million and basic and diluted loss per share would have remained as reported. The pro forma figures do
not give effect to stock options granted prior to February 1, 2002.

The weighted average grant date fair value of all stock-based arrangements granted during the year ended January 31, 2003 amounted 
to $4.64 per option. The fair value of each option granted was determined using an option pricing model and the following weighted 
average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 5.26%
Expected life 6 years
Expected volatility in the market price of the shares 30.55%
Expected dividend yield 0.90%

Employee share purchase plan
Under the employee share purchase plan, employees of the Corporation may set aside funds through payroll deductions up to a maximum
of 20% of their base salary to a yearly maximum of $30,000 per employee. The Corporation contributes to the plan an amount equal to 20% of the
employees’ contributions. The contributions are used to purchase the Corporation’s Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting) in the open market.
The Corporation’s contribution to the plan for the year ended January 31, 2004 amounted to $8 million ($11 million for the year ended 
January 31, 2003).

NO T E 15.  SH A R E-B A S E D P L A N S (C O N T’D)
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16 EA R N I N G S (L O S S)  P E R S H A R E

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share were as shown below for the years ended January 31. The number of shares and options in the table
are expressed in thousands.

2004 2003
Loss from continuing operations $ (195) $ (709)
Preferred share dividends, net of tax (30) (29)
Loss from continuing operations attributed to common shareholders (225) (738)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 106 94
Loss attributed to common shareholders $ (119) $ (644)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 1,670,690 1,372,747
Net effect of stock options 299 7,263
Weighted average diluted number of common shares outstanding 1,670,989 1,380,010

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
From continuing operations $(0.13) $(0.54)
From discontinued operations 0.06 0.07

$(0.07) $(0.47)

For the year ended January 31, 2004, a total of 42,799,520 stock options (22,980,375 options for the year ended January 31, 2003) were
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations, since the average market value of the underlying
shares was less than the exercise price or the predetermined target market price thresholds of the Corporation’s Class B Shares (Subordinate
Voting) for the year. For fiscal years ended January 31, 2004 and 2003, the effect of stock options potentially exercisable on loss per common
share from continuing operations was anti-dilutive; therefore, basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations are the same.

17 IN T E R E S T E X P E N S E,  N E T

Interest expense, net was as follows for the years ended January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier
Interest expense on:

Short-term borrowings $ 66 $ 61
Long-term debt 140 129
Sales incentives 49 47

Interest income (19) (21)
236 216

BC
Interest expense on:

Short-term borrowings 18 42
Long-term debt 168 230

186 272
$ 422 $ 488

BC’s interest expense is classified as cost of sales.



page 115Bombardier Inc. Annual Report 2003-04

18 SP E C I A L I T E M S

The Corporation recorded the following special items:
2004 2003

Transportation
Severance and other involuntary termination costs $ 212 $ –
Property, plant and equipment write-downs 211 –
Other 34 –

Aerospace
Gains on sale of MAS and Belfast City Airport (101) –
Severance and other involuntary termination costs 73 67
Revision of program estimates – 615
Write-down of inventories and other related provisions – 588
Claim settlements – 41

Special items before income tax 429 1,311
Income tax recovery (22) (351)

$ 407 $ 960

Transportation
On March 16, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved a proposed restructuring initiative to reduce the cost structure in the
transportation segment. This restructuring initiative was launched as a result of significant plant manufacturing overcapacity.

Bombardier proposes to reduce the global workforce of Bombardier Transportation by approximately 6,600 positions, 1,500 of which are
contractual employees. In addition, seven production sites in five European countries have been identified for closure. 

Additional charges of approximately $320 million related to this restructuring initiative are expected to be recorded as special items over
the next two years.

Aerospace
For the year ended January 31, 2004
The Corporation completed the sale of its MAS unit for net proceeds of $85 million US ($112 million), generating a gain of $98 million. The
Corporation also completed the sale of the Belfast City Airport for net proceeds of £35 million ($78 million), generating a gain of $3 million.

Severance and other involuntary termination costs of $73 million were recorded, relating to reduction of employment levels at facilities in
Montréal, Toronto, Belfast, Tucson and Wichita. The charges for the Tucson and Wichita facilities arise from the creation of integrated Bombardier
Learjet and Challenger Series business aircraft manufacturing centres at the Wichita and Dorval facilities.

For the year ended January 31, 2003
Severance and other involuntary termination costs related mainly to the Corporation’s September 27, 2002 announcement to reduce employment
levels at all Aerospace sites.

The Corporation revised the assumptions used to estimate the average unit production cost for each program, including the reduction of
accounting program quantities. As a result, special charges of $615 million were recorded mainly for the Bombardier Q-Series, Bombardier
Global Express and Bombardier Learjet 45 programs. The changes in estimates, including revisions of accounting program quantities, reflected
the continued uncertainty in the turboprop market and the weakness of the business aircraft segment.

Special charges of $556 million were recorded, $171 million of which was mainly related to the write-down in the value of pre-owned
aircraft inventories, and from lower-than-anticipated sub-lease revenues on pre-owned turboprop aircraft was recorded in the second quarter.
In addition, as a result of market price declines in the pre-owned business and turboprop aircraft markets, an additional special charge of
$385 million was recorded in the fourth quarter. A special charge of $32 million related to the write-down of turboprops production inventories
was also recorded.

The Corporation also recorded special charges of $41 million in connection with the final settlements of a lawsuit and a contractual dispute
with a customer.
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The following table summarizes provisions for severance and other involuntary termination costs, write-downs and other costs for the years
ended January 31:

S E V E R A N C E P R O P E R T Y ,
A N D  O T H E R P L A N T  A N D

I N V O L U N T A R Y E Q U I P M E N T
T E R M I N A T I O N  C O S T S W R I T E - D O W N S O T H E R T O T A L

Balance as at January 31, 2003 $ 148 $ – $ 21 $ 169
Current expense 285 211 34 530
Changes in estimates (5) – – (5)
Non-cash items – (211) (2) (213)
Purchase equation adjustment (54) – – (54)
Cash paid (139) – (6) (145)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 2 – 2 4
Balance as at January 31, 2004 $ 237 $ – $ 49 $ 286

19 IN C O M E TA X E S

The reconciliation of income taxes allocated to continuing operations computed at the Canadian statutory rates to income tax expense
(recovery) was as follows for the years ended January 31:

2004 2003
$ % $ %

Income taxes expense (recovery) at statutory rates 3 33.6 (334) 35.9
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Manufacturing and processing credit (6) 42
Income tax rates differential of foreign investees (35) (31)
Non-recognition of tax benefits related to foreign 

investees’ losses and temporary differences 292 130
Write-down of deferred income tax assets 110 75
Recognition of previously unrecorded tax benefits (45) (26)
Tax-exempt items (140) (145)
Effect of substantively enacted income tax rate changes 6 (11)
Large corporation tax 12 10
Other 8 69

Income tax expense (recovery) 205 (221)

Details of income tax expense (recovery) allocated to continuing operations were as follows for the years ended January 31:

2004 2003
Current income taxes

Canada $ 67 $ 95
Foreign 60 37
Recognition of previously unrecorded tax benefits – foreign (18) –

109 132
Deferred income taxes

Temporary differences and operating losses carried forward 7 (391)
Effect of substantively enacted income tax rate changes 6 (11)
Write-down of deferred income tax assets 110 75
Recognition of previously unrecorded tax benefits (27) (26)

96 (353)
Income tax expense (recovery) $ 205 $(221)

NO T E 18.  SP E C I A L I T E M S (C O N T’D)
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Corporation’s deferred income tax asset
(liability) as at January 31 were as follows:

2004 2003
Operating losses carried forward $ 2,316 $ 1,904
Warranty and other provisions 568 383
Accrued benefit liability 244 311
Finance receivables 103 159
Intangible assets 147 138
Inventories (397) (44)
Assets under operating leases (50) (73)
Property, plant and equipment (236) (159)
Other 11 (117)

2,706 2,502
Valuation allowance (2,145) (1,773)
Net amount $ 561 $ 729

The net amount of deferred income tax is presented on the Corporation’s balance sheet as follows as at January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier
Deferred income tax asset $ 455 $ 632
Deferred income tax liability (133) (182)

322 450
BC
Deferred income tax asset 244 283
Deferred income tax liability (5) (4)

239 279
$ 561 $ 729

Operating losses carried forward and other temporary differences, which are available to reduce future taxable income of certain subsidiaries,
for which a valuation allowance has been recognized, amounted to $6.0 billion as at January 31, 2004 ($5.0 billion as at January 31, 2003),
approximately $1.3 billion of which have expiry dates between two and 20 years, while the remaining losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
Approximately $2.6 billion of the operating losses carried forward and other temporary differences relate to business acquisitions. Any
subsequent recognition of these future tax benefits will be recorded as a reduction of the goodwill related to this acquisition.

In addition, the Corporation has approximately $1.2 billion of available capital losses, most of which can be carried forward indefinitely. Capital
losses can only be used against future capital gains, and therefore no deferred tax benefits have been recognized.

Undistributed earnings of the Corporation’s foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no provision for
income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon distribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Corporation may
be subject to withholding taxes.

20 DE F E R R E D T R A N S L AT I O N A D J U S T M E N T

Deferred translation adjustment, which arises from the translation to Canadian dollars of assets and liabilities of the Corporation’s foreign
self-sustaining foreign operations, and of the long-term debt designated as hedges of the net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations
resulted in a net change of $393 million for the year ended January 31, 2004. The net change resulted primarily from the strengthening of
the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar and the sterling pound.

NO T E 19.  IN C O M E T A X E S (C O N T’D)
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21 NE T C H A N G E S I N N O N-C A S H BA L A N C E S R E L AT E D TO O P E R AT I O N S

The net changes in non-cash balances related to operations were as follows for the year ended January 31:
2004 2003

Bombardier
Receivables $ (185) $ (573)
Assets under operating leases (107) (7)
Inventories (815) (829)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (176) 1,435
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs (206) 524
Accrued benefit liability – net (176) 41
Other (42) (38)

(1,707) 553
BC
Receivables (54) 146
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (53) (63)
Other 18 11

(89) 94
$(1,796) $ 647

22 FI NA N C I A L I N S T RU M E N T S

Derivative financial instruments
The Corporation is subject to currency and interest rate fluctuations. To manage the volatility relating to these exposures, the Corporation
nets the exposures on a consolidated basis to take advantage of natural offsets. The Corporation is party to a number of derivative financial
instruments, mainly forward foreign exchange contracts, interest-rate swap agreements and cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements
to hedge a significant portion of the residual risk. These derivative financial instruments are used to manage currency and interest-rate risks
on existing assets and liabilities, as well as on forecasted foreign currency cash flows.

a) Forward foreign exchange contracts
Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements whereby one counter-party contracts with another, to exchange a specified amount of one
currency in exchange for a specified amount of a second currency, at future dates.

The Corporation uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage currency exposure arising from forecasted foreign currency cash flows.
For the North American operations, forward foreign exchange contracts allow the Corporation mainly to sell U.S. dollars and buy Canadian
dollars at predetermined rates. For the European operations, forward foreign exchange contracts mainly allow the sale or purchase of U.S. dollars,
sterling pounds, euros and other Western European currencies at predetermined rates.
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The following table summarizes, by major currency, the Corporation’s forward foreign exchange contracts as at January 31:

2004

N O T I O N A L C D N  D O L L A R S E L L M A T U R I T Y

B U Y  C U R R E N C Y A M O U N T (1) E Q U I V A L E N T C U R R E N C Y R A T E (2) ( F I S C A L  Y E A R )

CDN 3,033 3,033 US 1.3538 2005-2008

Euro 282 466 GBP 1.4938 2005-2007

Euro 288 476 US 0.8477 2005-2007

Euro 379 627 Other – 2005-2010

GBP 454 1,097 US 0.6106 2005-2006

US 327 434 CDN 0.7273 2005-2008

US 262 348 Euro 1.1296 2005-2007

CHF 532 560 Euro 1.5184 2005-2010

SEK 2,800 502 Euro 9.2252 2005-2010

Other 494 494 Euro – 2005-2009

Other 711 711 GBP – 2005-2007

Other 190 190 Other – 2005-2007

(1) Notional amounts for the buy currency are expressed in the currency of origin, except for other categories which are expressed in Canadian dollars.
(2) The rate represents the weighted average committed exchange rate.

2003
N O T I O N A L C D N  D O L L A R S E L L M A T U R I T Y

B U Y  C U R R E N C Y A M O U N T (1) E Q U I V A L E N T C U R R E N C Y R A T E (2) ( F I S C A L  Y E A R )

CDN 2,626 2,626 US 1.5561 2004-2006
Euro 355 584 GBP 1.5493 2004-2007
Euro 939 1,541 US 0.9907 2004-2007
Euro 331 544 Other – 2004-2007
GBP 762 1,917 US 0.6648 2004-2007
US 691 1,056 CDN 0.6565 2004-2006
US 480 734 Euro 0.9913 2004-2008
US 165 252 GBP 1.4544 2004-2005
CHF 430 481 Euro 1.4419 2004-2010
SEK 2,764 492 Euro 9.2261 2004-2007
Other 349 349 Euro – 2004-2009
Other 226 226 GBP – 2004-2006
Other 131 131 US – 2005
Other 307 307 Other – 2005
(1) Notional amounts for the buy currency are expressed in the currency of origin, except for other categories which are expressed in Canadian dollars.
(2) The rate represents the weighted average committed exchange rate.

b) Interest-rate swap agreements
Interest-rate swap agreements are contracts in which two counter-parties agree to exchange cash flows, over a period of time, based on a
rate applied to a specified notional principal amount. Typically, one counter-party agrees to pay a fixed interest rate in exchange for a variable
interest rate, determined on the same notional principal.

Bombardier entered into interest-rate swap agreements to convert a long-term debt and certain operating lease commitments from variable
to fixed rates. The interest-rate swap agreements were as follows as at January 31, 2004 and 2003:

C U R R E N C Y
R E C E I V E  V A R I A B L E  R A T E P A Y  F I X E D  R A T E N O T I O N A L C O M P O N E N T M A T U R I T Y

LIBOR 5.6% 80 £ 33 2012
LIBOR 6.6% 127 US $ 96 2014
LIBOR 6.1% 11 US $ 8 2008
CDOR (1) + 1.35% 7.3% 7 – 2011
CDOR (1) + 1.48% 13.5% 7 – 2011
(1) Canadian deposit offering rate.

NO T E 22.  FI N A N C I A L I N S T R U M E N T S (C O N T’D)
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The Corporation also entered into interest-rate swap agreements to convert certain of BC’s long-term debts from fixed to variable interest rates.
The notional amount is $650 million US, for which the Corporation will pay one-month LIBOR and receive interest at fixed rates, ranging
from 1.7% to 2.1% and the interest-rate swap agreements mature in fiscal year 2007.

BC entered into interest-rate swap agreements to convert certain long-term debts and certain finance receivables from fixed to variable
interest rates. The interest-rate swap agreements were as follows as at January 31:

2004

N O T I O N A L  A M O U N T

P U R P O S E ( U S  $  C O M P O N E N T ) R A N G E  O F  F I X E D  R A T E S V A R I A B L E  R A T E S M A T U R I T Y

Asset hedge $ 302  (194) 3.9-8.7% LIBOR or 2005-2018

Banker’s acceptance

Debt hedge $ 741  (220) 5.0-6.6% LIBOR or 2005-2008

Banker’s acceptance

2003
N O T I O N A L  A M O U N T

P U R P O S E ( U S  $  C O M P O N E N T ) R A N G E  O F  F I X E D  R A T E S V A R I A B L E  R A T E S M A T U R I T Y

Asset hedge $ 481  (265) 3.1-8.7% LIBOR or 2004-2016
Banker’s acceptance

Debt hedge $1,555  (755) 2.8-6.3% LIBOR or 2004-2008
Banker’s acceptance

BC also entered into basis swap agreements to convert certain of its securitized floorplan debts’ base interest rate from Libor to US prime.
These contracts are used to align the base interest rate of certain debts to the same basis as their offsetting finance receivables. The total
notional amount of the basis swaps was $827 million US as at January 31, 2004 ($800 million US as at January 31, 2003). The swaps mature
in fiscal year 2005.

c) Cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements – BC
Cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements are contracts in which counter-parties exchange principal and interest flows in different
currencies over a period of time. These contracts are used to manage both the currency and the interest-rate exposure.

BC enters into cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements that modify the characteristics of certain long-term debts from the euro and
sterling pounds to the U.S. dollar. These contracts also change the interest rate from fixed to variable to match the variable interest of its finance
receivables. The notional amount of the cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements outstanding as at January 31, 2004 was an equivalent
of $1,551 million ($1,872 million as at January 31, 2003). These contracts mature between calendar years 2007 and 2010.

d) Interest-rate cap agreements
Interest-rate cap agreements are used as a hedge against the exposure of the Corporation from interest rate increase protection granted in
connection with certain sales commitments. The notional amount totals $253 million US ($336 million). The interest-rate cap varies between
1.7% and 5.7%, and the agreements mature in 2012.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value information presented herein is based on information available to management at the dates presented. The estimated fair
value of certain financial instruments has been determined using available market information or other valuation methodologies that require
considerable judgment in interpreting market data and developing estimates. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that the Corporation could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation
methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

NO T E 22.  FI N A N C I A L I N S T R U M E N T S (C O N T’D)
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The fair values of financial instruments have been established as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, short-term borrowings and accounts payable and accrued liabilities: the carrying amounts
reported on the consolidated balance sheets approximate the fair values of these items due to their short-term nature.
Finance receivables: the fair values of variable-rate finance receivables that reprice frequently and have no significant change in credit risk,
approximate the carrying values. The fair values of fixed-rate finance receivables are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using
interest rates offered for finance receivables with similar terms as those of borrowers of similar credit quality.
Loans and investments: the fair values of loans and investments are estimated using public quotations, when available, or discounted cash
flow analyses, using interest rates applicable for assets with similar terms. The carrying amounts reported on the consolidated balance
sheets approximate their fair values.
Long-term debt: the fair values of long-term debt are estimated using public quotations or discounted cash flow analyses, based on current
corresponding borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.
Derivative financial instruments: the fair values generally reflect the estimated amounts that the Corporation would receive upon the
settlement of favourable contracts or be required to pay to terminate unfavourable contracts at the reporting dates. Investment dealers’ quotes
from the Corporation’s bankers are available for substantially all of the Corporation’s forward foreign exchange contracts, interest-rate and cross-
currency swap agreements and interest-rate cap agreements.

The fair value of financial instruments for which the carrying amount reported is different from the fair value was as follows as at 
January 31:

2004 2003
C A R R Y I N G F A I R C A R R Y I N G F A I R

A M O U N T V A L U E A M O U N T V A L U E

Bombardier
Long-term debt $2,781 $2,863 $3,099 $2,759
Derivative financial instruments:

Favourable
Forwards – 235 – 349
Interest-rate cap 28 29 – –

Unfavourable
Forwards – (144) – (172)
Swaps (1) – (25) – (31)

BC
Finance receivables 4,148 4,162 7,013 7,054
Long-term debt 5,293 5,452 5,827 5,560
Derivative financial instruments:

Favourable
Swaps (1) 297 408 114 282

Unfavourable
Swaps (1) – (14) – (47)

(1) Includes interest-rate and cross-currency interest-rate swap agreements.

Credit risk
In addition to the credit risk described elsewhere in these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Corporation is subject to risk related to
the off-balance sheet nature of derivative financial instruments, whereby counter-party failure would result in economic losses on favourable
contracts. However, the counter-parties to these derivative financial instruments are investment grade financial institutions that the Corporation
anticipates will satisfy their obligations under the contracts.

The Corporation considers that its credit risk associated with its receivables did not represent a significant concentration of credit risk at
January 31, 2004, due to the large number of customers and their dispersion across many geographic areas.

NO T E 22.  FI N A N C I A L I N S T R U M E N T S (C O N T’D)
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23 EM P L OY E E F U T U R E B E N E F I T S

Pension plans
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted to determine the benefit cost and projected benefit obligation were as follows (weighted-average
assumptions as at the December -31 measurement date preceding the fiscal year end):

Actuarial assumptions 2004 2003
( P E R C E N T A G E ) C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Discount rate – benefit cost 6.50 5.47 5.83 6.50 5.87 6.10
Discount rate – projected benefit obligation 6.00 5.37 5.59 6.50 5.47 5.83
Expected rate of return on plan assets 7.17 7.55 7.39 7.75 8.21 8.00
Rate of compensation increase – benefit cost 4.25 3.58 3.78 4.25 3.89 4.02
Rate of compensation increase – projected 

benefit obligation 4.00 3.85 3.90 4.25 3.58 3.78

The following table provides the components of the benefit cost for the years ended January 31:

Benefit cost (1) 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Current service cost $ 87 $ 135 $ 222 $ 83 $ 122 $ 205
Interest cost 138 199 337 126 200 326
Actual return on plan assets (95) (185) (280) 151 353 504
Actuarial loss (gain) 179 309 488 (9) – (9)
Plan amendments 17 (33) (16) 38 2 40
Curtailment loss (gain) 7 3 10 7 (2) 5
Settlement loss (gain) – (2) (2) – 1 1
Special termination benefits 8 1 9 11 – 11
Other – 3 3 – – –
Benefit cost before adjustments to recognize 

the long-term nature of the plans 341 430 771 407 676 1,083
Difference between actual and expected return 

on plan assets (23) 19 (4) (276) (545) (821)
Difference between actual actuarial loss (gain) 

and the amount recognized (162) (282) (444) 13 9 22
Amortization of past service costs (11) 37 26 (32) 2 (30)
Benefit cost recognized $ 145 $ 204 $ 349 $ 112 $ 142 $ 254
(1) For the year ended January 31, 2004, benefit cost recognized includes $15 million for the Canadian plans and $10 million for the foreign plans ($14 million and $9 million, respectively, for the year ended

January 31, 2003) relating to the recreational products segment. These amounts are included in income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. For the year ended 
January 31, 2004, benefit cost excludes curtailment and settlement gains of $1 million for the Canadian plans and $47 million for the foreign plans resulting from the sale of the recreational products 
segment and MAS since these gains are included in the calculation of the gain on disposal of businesses.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the pension plans’ projected benefit obligation and fair value of assets as 
at the December -31 measurement date, preceding the fiscal year end and their allocation by major countries:

Projected benefit obligation 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Obligation at beginning of year $2,008 $3,798 $5,806 $1,831 $3,157 $4,988
Current service cost 87 135 222 83 122 205
Interest cost 138 199 337 126 200 326
Plan participant contributions 29 35 64 24 32 56
Plan amendments 17 (33) (16) 38 2 40
Actuarial loss (gain) 179 309 488 (9) – (9)
Benefits paid (96) (115) (211) (80) (102) (182)
Transfers – 5 5 – 8 8
Divestitures (172) (73) (245) – – –
Curtailment (27) (21) (48) (16) (2) (18)
Settlement – – – – (7) (7)
Special termination benefits 8 1 9 11 – 11
Effect of exchange rate changes – (145) (145) – 388 388
Obligation at end of year $2,171 $4,095 $6,266 $2,008 $3,798 $5,806

United Kingdom $2,683 $2,319
Canada 2,171 2,008
United States 467 457
Germany 450 441
Switzerland 284 308
Other 211 273

$6,266 $5,806

Plan assets 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Fair value at beginning of year $1,310 $1,842 $3,152 $1,418 $1,960 $3,378
Actual return on plan assets 95 185 280 (151) (353) (504)
Employer contributions 221 130 351 99 111 210
Plan participant contributions 29 35 64 24 32 56
Benefits paid (96) (115) (211) (80) (102) (182)
Transfers – 5 5 – 8 8
Divestitures (86) – (86) – – –
Settlement – – – – (8) (8)
Effect of exchange rate changes – (91) (91) – 194 194
Fair value at end of year $1,473 $1,991 $3,464 $1,310 $1,842 $3,152

United Kingdom $1,523 $1,401
Canada 1,473 1,310
United States 245 210
Switzerland 191 196
Other 32 35

$3,464 $3,152

NO T E 23.  EM P L O Y E E F U T U R E B E N E F I T S (C O N T’D)
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The reconciliation of the funded status of the pension plans to the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets was as follows as
at January 31:

Funded status 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Fair value of plan assets $ 1,473 $ 1,991 $ 3,464 $ 1,310 $ 1,842 $ 3,152
Projected benefit obligation (2,171) (4,095) (6,266) (2,008) (3,798) (5,806)
Funded status – deficit (698) (2,104) (2,802) (698) (1,956) (2,654)
Unamortized net actuarial loss 756 1,354 2,110 678 1,185 1,863
Unamortized past service costs 68 (13) 55 68 33 101
Advance contributions paid in January 208 4 212 10 6 16
Accrued benefit asset (liability) (1) $ 334 $ (759) $ (425) $ 58 $ (732) $ (674)
(1) For the year ended January 31, 2003, the accrued benefit asset (liability) includes a liability of $8 million for the Canadian plans and $42 million for the foreign plans relating to the recreational

products segment. These amounts are presented in liabilities related to assets held for sale.

Included in the above are plans with projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as follows:

Projected benefit obligation
in excess of plan assets 2004 2003

C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Projected benefit obligation $(2,171) $(3,755) $(5,926) $(2,008) $(3,606) $(5,614)
Fair value of plan assets 1,473 1,607 3,080 1,310 1,623 2,933

$ (698) $(2,148) $(2,846) $ (698) $(1,983) $(2,681)

The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes of the Corporation’s funded pension plans was prepared with an effective date of
December 31, 2002, and the next valuation will be completed during the second quarter of the fiscal year ended January 31, 2005 with an
effective date of December 31, 2003, except for U.K. plans, for which the most recent actuarial valuation dates range between December 2001
and September 2003 and the next required valuation dates range between June 2004 and June 2006.

Plan assets are held in trust and their weighted average allocations were as follows as at the measurement date:

T A R G E T  A L L O C A T I O N

( P E R C E N T A G E ) 2005 2004 2003
Asset category
Cash 2 6 2
Publicly-traded equity securities 61 64 68
Publicly-traded fixed income securities 31 24 19
Privately-held equity securities and other 5 5 10
Real estate 1 1 1

The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering long-term historical returns, future estimates of long-term investment returns
and asset allocations.

As at December 31, 2003, the publicly-traded equity securities did not include any of the Corporation’s shares. As at December 31, 2002,
the publicly-traded equity securities included 160,000 Class A Shares (Multiple Voting) and 1,105,000 Class B Shares (Subordinate Voting)
with a fair value of $1 million and $6 million respectively.

NO T E 23.  EM P L O Y E E F U T U R E B E N E F I T S (C O N T’D)
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Cash contributions to the pension plans for fiscal year 2005 would amount to $370 million. Actual cash contributions to the pension plans
for fiscal year 2005 are estimated to be $400 million. This estimate includes a voluntary contribution of $242 million to the aerospace 
plans in the U.K., and excludes a $212 million advance contribution made during fiscal year 2004.

Benefits other than pensions
The significant actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit cost and projected benefit obligation were as follows (weighted-average
assumptions as at the December -31 measurement date preceding the fiscal year end):

Actuarial assumptions 2004 2003
( P E R C E N T A G E ) C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Discount rate – benefit cost 6.50 6.54 6.51 6.50 7.01 6.63
Discount rate – projected benefit obligation 6.00 5.90 5.98 6.50 6.54 6.51
Rate of compensation increase – benefit cost 4.25 4.50 4.30 4.25 4.88 4.41
Rate of compensation increase – projected 

benefit obligation 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.25 4.50 4.30

As at January 31, 2004, the health-care cost trend rate, which is a weighted-average annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
health- and dental-care benefits, is assumed to be 9.5% for all participants. This rate is assumed to decrease to 5.5% by fiscal year 2009
and then remain at that level. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health-care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1%  I N C R E A S E 1%  D E C R E A S E

Effect on benefit cost recognized $ 4 $ (3)
Effect on projected benefit obligation $31 $(27)

The following table provides the components of the benefit cost for the years ended January 31:

Benefit cost (1) 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Current service cost $ 12 $ 2 $ 14 $ 11 $ 2 $ 13
Interest cost 16 4 20 15 5 20
Actuarial loss 37 5 42 26 3 29
Plan amendments 34 – 34 2 – 2
Curtailment gain (9) – (9) (5) – (5)
Benefit cost before adjustments to recognize 

the long-term nature of the plans 90 11 101 49 10 59
Difference between actual actuarial gains 

for the year and the amount recognized (34) (5) (39) (25) (3) (28)
Amortization of past service costs 4 – 4 (2) – (2)
Benefit cost recognized $ 60 $ 6 $ 66 $ 22 $ 7 $ 29
(1) For the year ended January 31, 2004, benefit cost for the Canadian plans includes $4 million ($1 million for the year ended January 31, 2003) relative to the recreational products segment. 

These amounts are included in income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. For the year ended January 31, 2004, benefit cost excludes curtailment 
and settlement gains of $2 million for the Canadian plans resulting from the sale of the recreational products segment and MAS since these gains are included in the calculation of the gain 
on disposal of businesses.

NO T E 23.  EM P L O Y E E F U T U R E B E N E F I T S (C O N T’D)
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the projected benefit obligation and its allocation by major countries as at
December 31, the measurement date preceding the fiscal year end:

Projected benefit obligation 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Obligation at beginning of year $ 241 $ 72 $ 313 $ 203 $ 69 $ 272
Current service cost 12 2 14 11 2 13
Interest cost 16 4 20 15 5 20
Plan amendments 34 – 34 2 – 2
Actuarial loss 37 5 42 26 3 29
Benefits paid (13) (6) (19) (12) (6) (18)
Divestitures (13) – (13) – – –
Curtailment (12) (1) (13) (4) – (4)
Effect of exchange rate changes – (8) (8) – (1) (1)
Obligation at end of year $ 302 $ 68 $ 370 $ 241 $ 72 $ 313

Canada $ 302 $ 241
United States 55 60
United Kingdom 13 12

$ 370 $ 313

The reconciliation of the funded status of the benefit plans other than pensions to the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets
was as follows:

Funded status 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Deficit $(302) $ (68) $ (370) $(241) $ (72) $ (313)
Unamortized net actuarial loss 46 11 57 26 8 34
Unamortized past service costs (1) – (1) 3 – 3
Benefits paid in January 1 – 1 1 – 1
Accrued benefit liability (1) $(256) $ (57) $ (313) $(211) $ (64) $ (275)
(1) For the year ended January 31, 2003, the accrued benefit liability includes $9 million for the Canadian plans and $4 million for the foreign plans relating to the recreational products segment. 

These amounts are presented in liabilities related to assets held for sale.

The following table provides the accrued benefit asset (liability) recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as at January 31:

Amounts recognized 2004 2003
C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L C A N A D A F O R E I G N T O T A L

Accrued benefit asset
Pension plans $ 373 $ 125 $ 498 $ 143 $ 122 $ 265

Accrued benefit liability
Pension plans (39) (884) (923) (77) (812) (889)
Other (256) (57) (313) (202) (60) (262)

$(295) $(941) $(1,236) $(279) $(872) $(1,151)

NO T E 23.  EM P L O Y E E F U T U R E B E N E F I T S (C O N T’D)
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24 CO M M I T M E N T S A N D C O N T I N G E N C I E S

In addition to the commitments and contingencies described elsewhere in these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Corporation is subject
to other off-balance sheet risks. The table below presents the maximum potential exposure for each major group of exposure as at January 31. 
The maximum potential exposure does not reflect payments expected by the Corporation.

2004 2003
M A X I M U M M A X I M U M

P O T E N T I A L P R O V I S I O N P O T E N T I A L P R O V I S I O N
E X P O S U R E A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S E X P O S U R E A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

Aircraft sales
Credit (a) $ 1,439 $1,049
Residual value (a) 3,188 2,871
Mutually-exclusive exposure (1) (1,148) (818)
Total credit and residual value exposure 3,479 $1,094 3,102 $ 919
Trade-in options (b) 2,630 60 3,586 121
Put options (c) 776 30 1,137 32

Other (2)

Credit (e) 59 – 75 –
Residual value (e) 157 – 180 –
Repurchase obligations (f) $ 245 $ – $ 262 $ –

(1) Some of the residual value guarantees can only be exercised once the credit guarantees have expired without exercise and, therefore, must not be added together to calculate the combined
maximum exposure for the Corporation. 

(2) In addition, the Corporation has also provided performance and other guarantees (see section g).

The Corporation’s maximum exposure in connection with credit and residual value guarantees related to sale of aircraft represents the face
value of the guarantees before giving effect to the net benefit expected from the estimated value of the aircraft and other collateral available
to mitigate the Corporation’s exposure under these guarantees. The provisions for anticipated losses have been established to cover the
risks from these guarantees after considering the effect of the estimated resale value of the aircraft, which is based on independent third-
party evaluations, and the anticipated proceeds from other collateral covering such exposures. The anticipated proceeds from the collaterals
are expected to cover the Corporation’s total credit and residual value exposure after taking into account the provisions and liabilities.

Aircraft sales
a) Credit and residual value guarantees
Bombardier provides credit guarantees in the form of guarantees of lease payments, as well as services related to the remarketing of aircraft.
These guarantees are mainly issued for the benefit of providers of financing to customers, maturing in different periods up to 2024.
Substantially all financial support involving potential credit risk lies with commercial airline customers. The credit risk relating to three commercial
airline customers accounted for 43% of the total maximum credit risk as at January 31, 2004.

In addition, Bombardier provides guarantees for the residual value of aircraft at the expiry date of certain financing and lease agreements. The
following table summarizes the outstanding residual value guarantees as at January 31, 2004 and the period in which they can be exercised:

From 1 to 5 years $ 158
From 6 to 10 years 653
From 11 to 15 years 923
Thereafter 1,454

$3,188

The provisions and liabilities recorded in connection with the credit and residual value guarantee exposure totalled $1,094 million as at
January 31, 2004 ($919 million as at January 31, 2003).
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b) Trade-in options
In connection with the sale of new aircraft, the Corporation provides, from time to time, trade-in options to customers. These options allow
customers to trade in their pre-owned aircraft at a predetermined amount and during a predetermined period, conditional upon purchase of
a new aircraft. As at January 31, 2004, the Corporation’s commitment to purchase pre-owned aircraft was as follows:

Less than 1 year $1,656
From 1 to 3 years 378
From 4 to 5 years 303
Thereafter 293

$2,630

The Corporation reviews its trade-in aircraft purchase commitments relative to the aircraft’s anticipated fair value and records anticipated losses
as a charge to income. Fair value is determined using both internal and external aircraft valuations, including information developed from the
sale of similar aircraft in the secondary market. As at January 31, 2004, the Corporation recorded $32 million ($30 million as at January 31, 2003)
of provisions relating to anticipated losses on trade-in options, based on the likelihood that these options will be exercised. In addition, the
Corporation recorded a provision of $28 million as at January 31, 2004 ($91 million as at January 31, 2003) related to trade-in commitments
in connection with firm orders of new aircraft.

c) Fractional ownership put options
Under the North American Bombardier Flexjet fractional ownership program, customers purchase fractional shares of a Bombardier business
aircraft. The Corporation provides customers with an option to sell back their portion of the aircraft at estimated fair value if the option is
exercised within a period of five years from the date of purchase. As at January 31, 2004, the Corporation’s commitment to repurchase
fractional shares of aircraft based on estimated current fair values totalled $669 million ($985 million as at January 31, 2003).

In addition, certain customers can trade in their fractional shares of aircraft at predetermined amounts for a fractional share of a larger model at
predetermined amounts. The total commitment to repurchase fractional shares of aircraft, in exchange for a fractional share of a larger
model, was $107 million as at January 31, 2004 ($152 million as at January 31, 2003). The Corporation recorded a $30-million provision as at
January 31, 2004 ($32 million as at January 31, 2003) for anticipated losses based on the likelihood that these options will be exercised.

d) Financing commitments
The Corporation has committed to provide financing in relation to orders on hand which, net of third-party financing already arranged, amounted
to $4.6 billion as at January 31, 2004 ($5.2 billion as at January 31, 2003). These commitments are provided under certain terms and conditions,
and are related to aircraft on firm order, scheduled for delivery through fiscal year 2010. These commitments have scheduled expiration dates.

Other guarantees
e) Credit and residual value guarantees
In connection with the sale of certain transportation rail equipment, Bombardier has provided a credit guarantee of lease payment. This guarantee
matures in 2020 and relates to a single customer. In addition, at the expiry date of certain financing and other agreements, the Corporation provides
residual value guarantees, mostly in the transportation segment, mainly exercisable in 2014.

f) Repurchase obligations
The Corporation has provided certain financing providers and customers, mainly in the transportation segment, the right, under certain
conditions, to sell back equipment to the Corporation at predetermined prices. Of the total amount, $224 million as at January 31, 2004
($233 million as at January 31, 2003) relates to two agreements whereby the Corporation may be required, beginning in 2008, upon customer
default on payments to the financing providers, to repurchase the equipment. In addition, on three separate dates, beginning in 2008, the
Corporation may also be required to repurchase the equipment. In connection with this commitment, funds have been deposited in a cash
collateral account by the customer, which, together with accumulated interest, is expected to entirely cover the Corporation’s exposure.

g) Other
In certain projects carried out through consortia or other partnership vehicles in the transportation segment, all partners are jointly and severally
liable to the customer. In the normal course of business under such joint and several obligations or under performance guarantees that may
be issued in relation thereto, each partner is generally liable to the customer for a default by the other partner. These projects normally
provide counter indemnities among the partners. These obligations and guarantees typically extend until final product acceptance by the
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customer. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to projects for which the exposure of the Corporation is capped, amounts to approximately
$1.5 billion as at January 31, 2004. For projects where the exposure of the Corporation is not capped, such exposure has been determined
in relation to the Corporation’s partners’ share of the total contract value. Under this methodology, the Corporation’s exposure would amount
to approximately $1.0 billion as at January 31, 2004. Such joint and several obligations and guarantees have been rarely called upon in the past, and
no significant liability has been recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements in connection with these obligations and guarantees. 

In the normal course of its business, the Corporation has entered into agreements that include indemnities in favour of third parties,
mostly tax indemnities. These agreements generally do not contain specified limits on the Corporation’s liability and therefore, it is not possible
to estimate the Corporation’s maximum potential exposure under these indemnities.

Sale and leaseback 
BC and Bombardier concluded third-party sale and leaseback transactions mostly relating to freight cars, which in most instances were
simultaneously leased to operators. Details of minimum lease payments as at January 31, 2004 were as follows:

R E N T A L  R E S I D U A L  V A L U E
P A Y M E N T S G U A R A N T E E S T O T A L

2005 $ 95 $ – $ 95
2006 95 – 95
2007 95 32 127
2008 90 – 90
2009 84 – 84
Thereafter 1,079 – 1,079

$1,538 $ 32 $1,570

Minimum lease payments include $1,518 million for freight cars, $4 million for pre-owned aircraft, $2 million for transportation rail equipment
and $46 million for other equipment.

Expected minimum sub-lease rentals from operators and the net benefit of the estimated resale value of the equipment approximate the
amount of minimum lease payments. 

Operating leases
The Corporation leases buildings and equipment and assumes aircraft operating lease obligations on the sale of new aircraft. The related
minimum lease payments and the residual value guarantees for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

B U I L D I N G S  A N D  R E S I D U A L  V A L U E  
E Q U I P M E N T A I R C R A F T G U A R A N T E E S T O T A L

2005 $ 159 $ 74 $ – $ 233
2006 129 63 5 197
2007 111 50 – 161
2008 96 36 – 132
2009 77 29 – 106
Thereafter 533 48 100 681

$1,105 $ 300 $105 $1,510

Other commitments
As at January 31, 2004, the Corporation had commitments under agreements to outsource a significant portion of its information technology
function in the aerospace and transportation segments requiring minimum annual payments as follows:

2005 $ 257
2006 231
2007 214
2008 187
2009 161
Thereafter 52

$1,102
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Claims
a) Adtranz 
Effective May 1, 2001, the Corporation acquired from DaimlerChrysler AG of Stuttgart, Germany (DaimlerChrysler) all of the common shares
of its subsidiary Adtranz. Pursuant to the terms of the SPA, a purchase price of $725 million US ($1.1 billion) was agreed upon. The SPA also
contemplates an adjustment to the purchase price for a maximum of €150 million based on the carrying value of the adjusted net assets
acquired, established under U.S. GAAP, as at April 30, 2001 (Net Asset Amount), provided that the minimum Net Asset Amount was delivered
on the closing date.

Starting in May 2001, Adtranz, under the ownership of the Corporation, prepared its April 30, 2001 closing balance sheet under U.S. GAAP,
in accordance with the provisions of the SPA for the purpose of establishing the Net Asset Amount. The resulting Net Asset Amount did not meet
the minimum value contemplated in the SPA due to significant adjustments pertaining to the application of U.S. GAAP and to unrecorded
costs required to complete contracts with third parties.

The Corporation announced on February 14, 2002 that discussions with DaimlerChrysler had failed to result in an agreement as to the
value of the Net Asset Amount delivered at closing. In July 2002, the Corporation filed a request for arbitration with the International Chamber
of Commerce in Paris.

Under the SPA, DaimlerChrysler made contractual representations and guarantees to the Corporation, including a written confirmation
that the minimum Net Asset Amount was met on the closing date of April 30, 2001. The Corporation’s claim for damages is largely based on
material breaches of contractual representations and guarantees, including a significant deficiency in the value of the Net Asset Amount.
The Corporation’s claim under the request for arbitration is for an amount of €960 million ($1,542 million) plus interest and costs, and its
resolution will result in a reduction of goodwill, $206 million (€150 million) of which was recorded during the year ended January 31, 2002.

b) Amtrak
On November 8, 2001, the Corporation filed a claim against Amtrak in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia. The claim
sought damages in excess of $200 million US ($265 million) as compensation for additional costs incurred in relation to the Acela high-speed 
trainset and locomotive contracts, including costs incurred as a result of Amtrak’s failure to upgrade its infrastructure to accommodate 
the new equipment.

On November 20, 2002, Amtrak filed a counterclaim against the Corporation and a claim against Alstom Transport Inc., alleging damages
in excess of $200 million US ($265 million).

As a result of mediation and negotiations, the Corporation and Alstom Transport Inc. reached a settlement agreement with Amtrak on
March 16, 2004. The settlement agreement provides for total payments of $42.5 million US ($56 million) by Amtrak to the Corporation and
Alstom Transport Inc., $32.8 million US ($44 million) of which will be paid to the Corporation. The other main components of the agreement are:
i) With respect to trainsets, locomotives and facilities:

- For each type of equipment, a detailed list of items required to be completed by the consortium to obtain a Certificate of Acceptance;
- Extension of the general warranty of the trainsets until October 1, 2006; and
- Warranty on all modifications to be done on trainsets and/or locomotives until October 1, 2006.

ii) With respect to management services:
- The joint venture formed by the Corporation and Alstom Transport Inc. will continue to perform the maintenance of the fleet until 

October 1, 2006, at which time the maintenance of the fleet will be taken over by Amtrak; and
- Additional training provided to Amtrak to ensure that it will be able to take over on October 1, 2006.
A charge of $139 million related to this settlement was recorded in cost of sales for the year ended January 31, 2004.

c) Other litigations
The Corporation is a defendant in certain legal cases currently pending before various courts in relation to product liability and contract disputes
with customers and other third parties.

The Corporation intends to vigorously defend its position in these matters. Management believes the Corporation has set up adequate
provisions to cover potential losses and amounts not recoverable under insurance coverage, if any, in relation to these legal actions.
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25 RE C L A S S I F I C AT I O N

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year. 

26 SE G M E N T D I S C L O S U R E

The Corporation operates in the three reportable segments described below. Each reportable segment offers different products and services
and requires different technology and marketing strategies.

Bombardier Aerospace is a manufacturer of business, regional and amphibious aircraft and a provider of related services. It offers
comprehensive families of regional jet and turboprop commercial aircraft and a wide range of business jets. It also provides the Bombardier
Flexjet fractional ownership program, technical services, aircraft maintenance and pilot training.

Bombardier Transportation, the global leader in the rail equipment manufacturing and servicing industry, offers a full range of passenger
railcars, as well as complete rail transportation systems. It also manufactures locomotives, freight cars, airport people movers, propulsion
and controls and provides rail control solutions. Bombardier Transportation is also a provider of maintenance services. 

BC offers secured inventory financing and interim financing of commercial aircraft, primarily in North American markets, and manages the
wind-down of various portfolios.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. Management
evaluates performance of each segment based on income or loss before income taxes. Intersegment services are accounted for at current
market prices as if the services were provided to third parties.

Net corporate interest costs are allocated to the manufacturing segments based on each segment’s net assets, and are computed as follows:
one half of the Canadian prime rate is charged on gross utilized assets reduced by interest on customer advances calculated at the Canadian
prime rate. The balance of unallocated actual interest costs is allocated to each manufacturing segment based on its net assets. The Corporation
does not allocate corporate interest charges to the BC segment. Net assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, investment in BC and advances
and subordinated loans to Bombardier and deferred income taxes, and are net of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, advances 
and progress billings in excess of related costs and accrued benefit liability. Most corporate office charges are allocated based on 
each segment’s revenues.

The table containing the detailed segmented data is shown after note 27.

27 SU B S E QU E N T E V E N T

Effective February 1, 2004, the Corporation changed its functional currencies from the Canadian dollar and the sterling pound to the U.S.
dollar for the Canadian and U.K. operations in the aerospace segment, and from the Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso to the U.S. dollar
for the Canadian and Mexican operations in the transportation segment. The European operations of the transportation segment continue to
mainly use Western European currencies as their functional currencies. No gains or losses will result from the change of functional currencies.
This change was made as a result of the increasing proportion of the Corporation’s revenues, costs, inter-company arrangements, capital
expenditures and long-term debt denominated in U.S. dollars. 

The Corporation has historically used the Canadian dollar as its reporting currency for its Consolidated Financial Statements. Following
the change of certain functional currencies to the U.S. dollar, the Corporation will adopt, effective for the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, the
U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. Comparative financial information previously expressed in Canadian dollars will be restated in U.S.
dollars for all periods presented, using the exchange rate applicable at each balance sheet date and the average exchange rate for the
consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of cash flows. Equity transactions will be translated at historical rates with
opening equity on February 1, 1999 translated at the rate of exchange on that date. The effect of the translation adjustments will be included
in the deferred translation adjustment in shareholders’ equity.
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Industry segments BOMBARDIER INC. CONSOLIDATED

( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) 2004 2003
External revenues $21,321 $21,189
Intersegment revenues – –
Segmented revenues 21,321 21,189
Cost of sales 18,297 18,097
Selling, general and administrative 1,368 1,498
Depreciation and amortization 793 806
Research and development 188 191
Special items 429 1,311

21,075 21,903
246 (714)

Interest expense (income), net 236 216
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes $ 10 $ (930)

Net segmented assets $ 4,880 $ 4,701
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,668 8,494 
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs 3,563 3,816
Accrued benefit liability 1,236 1,147
Deferred income tax asset 455 632
Cash and cash equivalents 1,605 713
Assets held for sale – 1,260
Total assets – Bombardier 20,407 20,763
Investment in BC (1,142) (1,287)
Advances and subordinated loans from BC (776) (69)
Total assets – BC 7,080 9,717
Total assets – Bombardier Inc. consolidated $25,569 $29,124

Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets $ 416 $ 721

P R O P E R T Y ,  P L A N T
A N D  E Q U I P M E N T ,

I N T A N G I B L E  A S S E T S
Geographic information R E V E N U E S A N D  G O O D W I L L

2004 2003 2004 2003

United States $10,030 $ 9,652 $ 602 $ 802
Germany 2,357 2,504 1,774 2,176
United Kingdom 1,989 2,293 863 1,014
Switzerland 759 643 348 351
Canada 744 1,406 2,943 3,054
Italy 719 392 220 235
Sweden 597 714 669 722
France 533 415 47 42
Netherlands 418 210 – –
Portugal 239 245 152 162
Spain 235 496 17 12
Japan 219 254 – –
China 210 216 28 47
Austria 145 182 15 18
Other – Europe 1,030 896 282 243
Other – Asia 354 245 3 4
Other – Americas 247 182 20 27
Other 496 244 3 9

$21,321 $21,189 $ 7,986 $ 8,918

Segment disclosure



page 133Bombardier Inc. Annual Report 2003-04

A E R O S P A C E T R A N S P O R T A T I O N B C

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$11,307 $11,294 $ 9,567 $ 9,402 $ 447 $ 493

– – 19 20 234 402
11,307 11,294 9,586 9,422 681 895

9,762 9,974 8,443 8,127 345 418
485 560 753 745 130 193
442 424 218 202 133 180

86 50 102 141 – –
(28) 1,311 457 – – –

10,747 12,319 9,973 9,215 608 791
560 (1,025) (387) 207 73 104
270 319 (34) (103) – –

$ 290 $ (1,344) $ (353) $ 310 $ 73 $ 104

$ 3,123 $ 3,281 $ 615 $ 133 $ 1,142 $1,287

$ 272 $ 512 $ 140 $ 196 $ 4 $ 13
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F O R  T H E  Y E A R S  E N D E D  J A N U A R Y  3 1
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ,  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S  
A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S  O F  R E C O R D ) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Segmented revenues

Aerospace $ 11,307 $ 11,294 $ 12,289 $ 10,690 $ 8,218
Transportation 9,586 9,422 7,020 3,043 3,446
BC 681 895 967 936 537
Intersegment revenues (253) (422) (413) (284) (165)

External revenues $ 21,321 $ 21,189 $ 19,863 $ 14,385 $ 12,036
Income (loss) from continuing operations  

before special items and income taxes
Aerospace $ 262 $ (33) $ 721 $ 1,028 $ 695
Transportation 104 310 230 121 174
BC 73 104 41 (15) 28

439 381 992 1,134 897
Special items

Aerospace (28) 1,311 356 (50) (67)
Transportation 457 – 74 – 117
BC – – 662 80 –

429 1,311 1,092 30 50
Income (loss) from continuing operations 

before income taxes
Aerospace 290 (1,344) 365 1,078 762
Transportation (353) 310 156 121 57
BC 73 104 (621) (95) 28

10 (930) (100) 1,104 847
Income tax expense (recovery) 205 (221) (34) 322 276
Income (loss) from continuing operations (195) (709) (66) 782 571
Income from discontinued operations – net of tax 106 94 102 58 12
Net income (loss) $ (89) $ (615) $ 36 $ 840 $ 583

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic

From continuing operations $ (0.13) $ (0.54) $ (0.06) $ 0.56 0.40
From discontinued operations 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.04 0.01

$ (0.07) $ (0.47) $ 0.01 $ 0.60 $ 0.41

Diluted
From continuing operations $ (0.13) $ (0.54) $ (0.06) $ 0.55 $ 0.39
From discontinued operations 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.04 0.01

$ (0.07) $ (0.47) $ 0.01 $ 0.59 $ 0.40

General information for continuing operations 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Export revenues from Canada $ 9,498 $ 7,457 $ 8,282 $ 7,491 $ 5,418
Additions to property, plant and equipment $ 416 $ 721 $ 1,125 $ 1,224 $ 765
Depreciation and amortization $ 793 $ 806 $ 749 $ 757 $ 375
Dividend per common share

Class A $0.090000 $0.180000 $0.180000 $0.135000 $0.110000
Class B $0.091563 $0.181563 $0.181563 $0.136563 $0.111563

Dividend per preferred share
Series 2 $1.171276 $1.193750 $1.375000 $1.375000 $1.375000
Series 3 $1.026750 $0.684500 $ – $ – $ –
Series 4 $1.171875 $1.398760 $ – $ – $ –

Number of common shares (millions) 1,750 1,378 1,371 1,366 1,378
Book value per common share $ 1.55 $ 1.60 $ 2.21 $ 2.28 $ 2.21
Shareholders of record 12,371 11,579 11,310 12,666 11,168

Market price ranges ( I N  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S )

Class A
High $ 6.32 $ 15.67 $ 24.60 $ 26.80 $ 16.12
Low 2.95 3.19 9.25 14.05 9.55
Close 5.96 5.34 14.72 24.70 14.97

Class B
High $ 6.28 $ 15.67 $ 24.65 $ 26.70 $ 16.10
Low 2.56 3.13 9.19 13.90 9.47
Close 5.99 5.12 14.70 24.54 14.65
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A S  A T  J A N U A R Y  3 1   
( M I L L I O N S  O F  C A N A D I A N  D O L L A R S ) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
BOMBARDIER INC. CONSOLIDATED
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,619 $ 1,014 $ 440 $ 1,366 $ 1,681
Receivables 2,438 2,259 1,845 816 626
Finance receivables 4,148 7,013 6,399 7,141 6,251
Assets under operating leases 740 1,358 1,840 1,793 905
Inventories 5,756 5,264 5,624 3,797 3,029
Property, plant and equipment 4,674 5,386 5,190 4,271 3,771
Goodwill 3,038 3,245 2,713 – –
Deferred income taxes 699 915 906 182 –
Accrued benefit asset 498 265 243 147 20
Assets held for sale – 1,260 1,102 568 480
Other assets 1,959 1,145 941 402 282
Total assets $ 25,569 $29,124 $27,243 $ 20,483 $17,045
Short-term borrowings $ 308 $ 2,564 $ 3,037 $ 2,531 $ 2,003
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,000 8,906 7,412 3,966 3,264
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs 3,563 3,816 3,291 2,827 2,849
Deferred income taxes 138 186 636 672 477
Long-term debt 8,074 8,926 7,852 6,122 4,773
Accrued benefit liability 1,236 1,151 994 439 –
Liabilities related to assets held for sale – 834 685 513 330
Preferred shares 535 535 300 300 300
Common shareholders’ equity 2,715 2,206 3,036 3,113 3,049
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 25,569 $29,124 $27,243 $ 20,483 $17,045

BOMBARDIER
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,605 $ 713 $ 440 $ 1,351 $ 1,566
Receivables 2,246 2,093 1,534 591 555
Assets under operating leases 114 7 9 25 18
Inventories 5,756 5,264 5,624 3,797 3,029
Property, plant and equipment 4,555 5,239 5,027 4,138 3,649
Goodwill 3,038 3,245 2,713 – –
Deferred income taxes 455 632 580 110 – 
Investment in and advances to BC 1,142 1,287 1,363 1,582 1,531
Accrued benefit asset 498 265 243 147 20
Assets held for sale – 1,260 1,102 568 480
Other assets 998 758 706 192 155
Total assets $ 20,407 $20,763 $19,341 $ 12,501 $11,003
Short-term borrowings $ – $ 381 $ 1,342 $ – $ –
Advances from BC 179 69 – – –
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,668 8,494 6,990 3,769 3,055
Advances and progress billings in excess of related costs 3,563 3,816 3,291 2,827 2,849
Deferred income taxes 133 182 631 672 471
Long-term debt 2,781 3,099 2,075 870 949
Accrued benefit liability 1,236 1,147 991 437 –
Liabilities related to assets held for sale – 834 685 513 330
Subordinated loans from BC 597 – – – –
Preferred shares 535 535 300 300 300
Common shareholders’ equity 2,715 2,206 3,036 3,113 3,049
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 20,407 $20,763 $19,341 $ 12,501 $11,003

BC
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14 $ 301 $ – $ 15 $ 115
Receivables 192 166 311 225 71
Finance receivables 4,148 7,013 6,399 7,141 6,251
Assets under operating leases 626 1,351 1,831 1,768 887
Property, plant and equipment 119 147 163 133 122
Deferred income taxes 244 283 326 72 –
Advances and subordinated loans to Bombardier 776 69 – – –
Other assets 961 387 235 210 127
Total assets $ 7,080 $ 9,717 $ 9,265 $ 9,564 $ 7,573
Short-term borrowings $ 308 $ 2,183 $ 1,695 $ 2,531 $ 2,003
Advances from Bombardier – – 20 206 460
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 332 412 422 197 209
Deferred income taxes 5 4 5 – 6
Long-term debt 5,293 5,827 5,777 5,252 3,824
Accrued benefit liability – 4 3 2 –
Investment in BC 1,142 1,287 1,343 1,376 1,071
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity $ 7,080 $ 9,717 $ 9,265 $ 9,564 $ 7,573 

Consolidated balance sheets
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Bombardier Inc.

BOMBARDIER INC.
Corporate Office
800 René-Lévesque Blvd. West
Montréal, Québec
Canada  H3B 1Y8
Telephone: +1 514 861-9481
Fax: +1 514 861-7053

www.bombardier.com

Bombardier Aerospace

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Headquarters
400 Côte-Vertu Road West
Dorval, Québec
Canada  H4S 1Y9
Telephone: +1 514 855-5000
Fax: +1 514 855-7401

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Toronto site
123 Garratt Boulevard
Downsview, Ontario
Canada  M3K 1Y5
Telephone: +1 416 633-7310
Fax: +1 416 375-4546

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Learjet Inc.
One Learjet Way
Wichita, Kansas  67209
United States
Telephone: +1 316 946-2000
Fax: +1 316 946-2220

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Short Brothers plc
Airport Road, Belfast  BT3 9DZ
Northern Ireland
Telephone: +44 2890 458 444
Fax: +44 2890 733 396

BOMBARDIER INC.
Defence Services
10000 Helen-Bristol Street
Montréal Airport, Mirabel
Mirabel, Québec
Canada  J7N 1H3
Telephone: +1 450 476-4633
Fax: +1 450 476-6382

BOMBARDIER INC.
Amphibious Aircraft
3400 Douglas-B. Floréani
Saint-Laurent, Québec
Canada  H4S 1V2
Telephone: +1 514 855-5000
Fax: +1 514 855-7604

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Flexjet
3400 Waterview Parkway 
Suite 400
Richardson, Texas  75080
United States
Telephone: +1 800 353-9538
Fax: +1 972 720-2435

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Flexjet Europe
Vista Office Centre
50 Salisbury Road, 9th Floor
Hounslow, Middlesex  TW4 6JH
United Kingdom
Telephone: +44 20 8538 0200
Fax: +44 20 8538 0201

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Flexjet Asia-Pacific
400 Côte-Vertu Road West
Dorval, Québec
Canada  H4S 1Y9
Telephone: +1 888 880-3539
Fax: +1 514 855-7802

BOMBARDIER AEROSPACE
Skyjet
3040 Williams Drive
Suite 404
Fairfax, Virginia  22031
United States
Telephone: +1 703 584-3330
Fax: +1 703 584-3361

Bombardier Transportation

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Headquarters
Saatwinkler Damm 43
13627 Berlin
Germany
Telephone: +49 30 3832 0
Fax: +49 30 3832 2000

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
North America
1101 Parent Street
Saint-Bruno, Québec
Canada  J3V 6E6
Telephone: +1 450 441-2020
Fax: +1 450 441-1515

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Light Rail Vehicles
Donaufelder Strasse 73-79
1211 Vienna
Austria
Telephone: +43 1 25 110
Fax: +43 1 25 110 8

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Mainline & Metros
Am Rathenaupark
16761 Hennigsdorf
Germany
Telephone: +49 33 02 89 0
Fax: + 49 33 02 89 20 88

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Locomotives & Freight
Brown-Boveri Strasse 5
8050 Zurich
Switzerland
Telephone: +41 1318 3333
Fax: +41 1318 2727

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Total Transit Systems
P.O. Box 220, Station A
Kingston, Ontario
Canada  K7M 6R2
Telephone: +1 613 384-3100
Fax: +1 613 384-5244

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Propulsion & Controls
Brown-Boveri Strasse 5
8050 Zurich
Switzerland
Telephone: +41 1318 3333
Fax: +41 1318 1543

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Services
West Street, Crewe
Cheshire  CW1 3JB
United Kingdom
Telephone: +44 1270 500 333
Fax: +44 1270 255 439

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Rail Control Solutions
10 Church Street, Reading
Berkshire  RG1 2SQ
United Kingdom
Telephone: +44 118 953 8000
Fax: +44 118 953 8483

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
Bogies
Siegstrasse 27
57250 Netphen
Germany
Telephone: +49 271 702 0
Fax: +49 271 702 222

BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION
London Underground Projects
Litchurch Lane
Derby DE24 8AD
United Kingdom
Telephone: +44 1332 344 666
Fax: +44 1332 251 635

Bombardier Capital

BOMBARDIER CAPITAL INC.
12735 Gran Bay Parkway West
Suite 1000
Jacksonville, Florida  32258
United States
Telephone: +1 904 288-1000
Fax: +1 904 288-1920

BOMBARDIER CAPITAL INC.
261 Mountain View Drive
Colchester, Vermont  05446-0991
United States
Telephone: +1 802 654-8100
Fax: +1 802 654-8435

BOMBARDIER CAPITAL INC.
6400 Auteuil Street, 2nd Floor
Brossard, Québec
Canada  J4Z 3P5
Telephone: +1 450 443-4400
Fax: +1 450 443-8943

BFI INC.
261 Mountain View Drive
Colchester, Vermont  05446-0991
United States
Telephone: +1 802 654-8100
Fax: +1 802 654-8432

BOMBARDIER CAPITAL RAIL INC.
12735 Gran Bay Parkway West
Suite 1000
Jacksonville, Florida  32258
United States
Telephone: +1 904 288-1000
Fax: +1 904 288-2155

BOMBARDIER CAPITAL LTD.
6400 Auteuil Street, 2nd Floor
Brossard, Québec
Canada  J4Z 3P5
Telephone: +1 450 443-4400
Fax: +1 450 443-8943

BOMBARDIER FINANCE INC.
300-840 6th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta
Canada  T2P 3E5
Telephone: +1 403 238-5045
Fax: +1 403 251-5038

BOMBARDIER CAPITAL
Insurance Agency Inc.
12735 Gran Bay Parkway West
Suite 1000
Jacksonville, Florida  32258
United States
Telephone: +1 904 288-1000
Fax: +1 904 288-1920

RJ FINANCE CORP. ONE
261 Mountain View Drive
Colchester, Vermont  05446-0991
United States
Telephone: +1 802 654-8100
Fax: +1 802 654-8433

BOMBARDIER INC.
Real Estate Services
2505 des Nations Street
Suite 200
Saint-Laurent, Québec
Canada  H4R 3C8
Telephone: +1 514 335-9511
Fax: +1 514 335-7007

Main business locations
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BOA R D O F D I R E C TO R S

Laurent
BEAUDOIN, c.c, FCA

Executive Chairman of the Board
Bombardier Inc.

Paul M.
TELLIER
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Bombardier Inc.

Jalynn H. 
BENNETT, c.m.
President
Jalynn H. Bennett & Associates Ltd.

J.R. André 
BOMBARDIER 
Vice Chairman of the Board
Bombardier Inc.

Janine  
BOMBARDIER  
President and Governor 
J. Armand Bombardier Foundation

L. Denis
DESAUTELS  
Corporate Director

André
DESMARAIS 
President and Co-Chief Executive Officer 
Power Corporation of Canada

Jean-Louis
FONTAINE 
Vice Chairman of the Board
Bombardier Inc.

Daniel
JOHNSON 
Counsel 
McCarthy Tétrault, LLP

Michael H.
MCCAIN 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Maple Leaf Foods Inc.

Jean C.  
MONTY 
Corporate Director

James E.
PERRELLA 
Retired Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer 
Ingersoll-Rand Company

Federico  
SADA G.
President and Chief Executive Officer
Vitro, S.A. de C.V.

OF F I C E R S/GRO U P S

Pierre
BEAUDOIN 
President and Chief Operating Officer
Bombardier Aerospace

André  
NAVARRI  
President
Bombardier Transportation

Brian  
PETERS  
President and Chief Operating Officer
Bombardier Capital

OF F I C E R S/CO R P O R AT E O F F I C E

Laurent
BEAUDOIN 
Executive Chairman of the Board

Paul M.  
TELLIER  
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pierre  
ALARY  
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer

J.R. André  
BOMBARDIER  
Vice Chairman of the Board

Richard C.
BRADEEN  
Senior Vice President, Corporate Audit
Services and Risk Assessment

Roger 
CARLE  
Corporate Secretary

Michael 
DENHAM  
Senior Vice President, Strategy

Daniel
DESJARDINS 
Senior Vice President, General Counsel 
and Assistant Secretary

Jean-Louis
FONTAINE  
Vice Chairman of the Board

William J.
FOX  
Senior Vice President,
Public Affairs

Moya
GREENE  
Senior Vice President,
Operational Effectiveness

François
LEMARCHAND 
Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Carroll
L’ITALIEN  
Senior Vice President

Marie-Claire
SIMONEAU  
Executive Assistant to the Chairman
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SH A R E H O L D E R A N D I N V E S TO R R E L AT I O N S

Class A and Class B shares Toronto (Canada)

Preferred shares, Series 2, 
Series 3 and Series 4 Toronto (Canada)

Class B shares Brussels (Belgium) 
and Frankfurt (Germany)

Stock listing tickers

BBD (Toronto)

BOM (Brussels)

BBBd.F (Frankfurt)

A U T H O R I Z E D  A N D  I S S U E D  A S  A T  J A N U A R Y  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4

Authorized Issued
Class A shares 1,892,000,000 342,018,248

Class B shares 1,892,000,000 1,407,566,670(1)

Preferred shares, Series 2 12,000,000 2,597,907

Preferred shares, Series 3 12,000,000 9,402,093

Preferred shares, Series 4 9,400,000 9,400,000

Shareholders
To order additional copies of this report and other 
corporate or financial documents, please access 
www.bombardier.com, then Investor Relations, 
then Contacts.
BOMBARDIER INC. 

PUBLIC AFFAIRS 

800 René-Lévesque Blvd. West
Montréal, Québec, Canada  H3B 1Y8
Telephone: +1 514 861-9481, extension 390
Fax: +1 514 861-2420

Investors
BOMBARDIER INC. 

INVESTOR RELATIONS 

800 René-Lévesque Blvd. West
Montréal, Québec, Canada  H3B 1Y8
Telephone: +1 514 861-9481, extension 487
Fax: +1 514 861-7769
E-mail : investors@bombardier.com

Transfer agent and registrar
Shareholders with inquiries concerning 
their shares should contact:
COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA

100 University Avenue, 9th Floor
Toronto, Ontario, Canada  M5J 2Y1

1500 University Street, Suite 700
Montréal, Québec, Canada  H3A 3S8

Telephone: +1 514 982-7270 or
+1 800 564-6253 (toll-free, North America only)
Fax: +1 416 263-9394 or
+1 888 453-0330 (toll-free, North America only) 
service@computershare.com

Media
For information on Bombardier, contact the Public Affairs 
Department at +1 514 861-9481, extension 245. 
Bombardier’s press releases are available on the Internet 
at the following address: www.bombardier.com.

Incorporation
The Corporation was incorporated on June 19, 1902 
by letters patent and prorogated June 23, 1978 
under the Canadian Business Corporations Act.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
1 Place Ville-Marie
Montréal, Québec, Canada  H3B 3M9

Annual meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held on Tuesday, 
June 1, 2004 at 10:00 a.m. at the following address:
Place Bonaventure
Exhibition Halls
800 de la Gauchetière Street West
Montréal, Québec, Canada  H5A 1K6

(1) Includes 370,000,000 Class B shares issued on April 17, 2003.

STO C K E X C H A N G E L I S T I N G SSH A R E C A P I TA L

Shareholder information 

Duplication: Although Bombardier strives to ensure that registered shareholders receive only one copy of corporate documents, 
duplication is unavoidable if securities are registered under different names and addresses. If this is the case, please call the following number: 
+1 514 982-7270 or +1 800 564-6253 (toll-free, North America only) or send an e-mail to service@computershare.com.
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Product photos, page 28 to 33

Rear view of the Bombardier Global Express business jet
Bombardier Global 5000 business jet

Bombardier CRJ700 regional jet
Bombardier TRAXX locomotive, Germany

AirTrain JFK, New York, USA
Front view of the AGC high-capacity train, France

All amounts mentioned in this report are 
in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Un exemplaire en français vous sera 
expédié sur demande adressée à 

Bombardier Inc., Affaires publiques 
800, boul. René-Lévesque Ouest

Montréal (Québec) Canada  H3B 1Y8
Consultez le site Internet au www.bombardier.com

This annual report is printed 
on chlorine-free recycled paper containing 

at least 20% post-consumer fibre.

Printed in Canada
2-921393-59-x – Legal deposit, Bibliothèque nationale du

Québec

All rights reserved.
© 2004 Bombardier Inc. or its subsidiaries.






